Competencies for One Health field epidemiology (COHFE) framework





Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations





World Organisation for Animal Health Founded as OIE

Competencies for One Health field epidemiology (COHFE) framework







World Organisation for Animal Health Founded as OIE Competencies for One Health field epidemiology (COHFE) framework

ISBN (WHO) 978-92-4-008005-8 (electronic version) ISBN (WHO) 978-92-4-008006-5 (print version) ISBN (FAO) 978-92-5-138362-9 DOI (WOAH) https://doi.org/10.20506/cohfe.3432

© World Health Organization, Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, and World Organisation for Animal Health, 2023

Some rights reserved. This work is available under the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-ShareAlike 3.0 IGO licence (CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO; https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-sa/3.0/igo/).

Under the terms of this licence, you may copy, redistribute and adapt the work for non-commercial purposes, provided the work is appropriately cited, as indicated below. In any use of this work, there should be no suggestion that the World Health Organization (WHO), the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO), or World Organisation for Animal Health (WOAH) endorse any specific organization, products or services. The use of WHO, FAO, or WOAH logos is not permitted. If you adapt the work, then you must license your work under the same or equivalent Creative Commons licence. If you create a translation of this work, you should add the following disclaimer along with the suggested citation: "This translation was not created by the World Health Organization (WHO), the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO), or World Organisation for Animal Health (WOAH). WHO, FAO and WOAH are not responsible for the content or accuracy of this translation. The original English edition shall be the binding and authentic edition".

Any mediation relating to disputes arising under the licence shall be conducted in accordance with the mediation rules of the World Intellectual Property Organization http://www.wipo.int/amc/en/mediation/rules.

Suggested citation. Competencies for One Health field epidemiology (COHFE) framework. Geneva: World Health Organization, Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations and World Organisation for Animal Health; 2023. Licence: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO.

Cataloguing-in-Publication (CIP) data. CIP data are available at http://apps.who.int/iris.

Sales, rights and licensing. To purchase WHO publications, see https://www.who.int/publications/book-orders. To submit requests for commercial use and queries on rights and licensing, see http://www.who.int/copyright.

Third-party materials. If you wish to reuse material from this work that is attributed to a third party, such as tables, figures or images, it is your responsibility to determine whether permission is needed for that reuse and to obtain permission from the copyright holder. The risk of claims resulting from infringement of any third-party-owned component in the work rests solely with the user.

General disclaimers. The designations employed and the presentation of the material in this publication do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of WHO, FAO, or WOAH concerning the legal or development status of any country, territory, city or area or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries. Dotted lines on maps represent approximate border lines for which there may not yet be full agreement.

The mention of specific companies or of certain manufacturers' products, whether or not these have been patented, does not imply that they are endorsed or recommended by WHO, FAO, or WOAH in preference to others of a similar nature that are not mentioned. Errors and omissions excepted, the names of proprietary products are distinguished by initial capital letters.

All reasonable precautions have been taken by WHO, FAO, and WOAH to verify the information contained in this publication. However, the published material is being distributed without warranty of any kind, either expressed or implied. The responsibility for the interpretation and use of the material lies with the reader. In no event shall WHO, FAO, and WOAH be liable for damages arising from its use.

Design and layout by Estudio Paloma Blandín

Contents

Foreword	V
Acknowledgements	vii
Acronyms	viii
Introduction	1
Background	2
How the competency framework was developed	2
Scope of work	2
How to use this document	4
Definitions	4
Section I: Technical domains	7
Domain 1: Foundational knowledge and skills	8
Domain 2: Surveillance systems	18
Domain 3: Field investigations	25
Domain 4: Disease management	30
Domain 5: Laboratory capacity	36
Domain 6: Infection prevention and control, biosafety and biosecurity	42
Domain 7: Preparedness and response	47
Domain 8: Epidemiologic studies	57
Domain 9: Data management, biostatistics, and informatics	63
Domain 10: Ecosystem health	69
Section II: Functional domains	79
Domain 11: Leadership and management	80
Domain 12: Communication and community engagement	87
Domain 13: Training	92
Domain 14: Ethics	98
Bibliography	103
Annexes	107
Annex 1: COHFE framework technical advisory group and reviewers	110
Annex 2: Competencies template	113
Annex 3: One Health glossary	114
Annex 4: Competency prioritization tool	130

Foreword

Infectious diseases are emerging at a rapid rate and pose a severe threat to health security, the global economy, and food safety. Novel infectious diseases have been increasingly reported in the past 50 years, including severe acute respiratory syndrome (SARS), Middle East respiratory syndrome (MERS), Ebola virus disease, avian influenza H5N1, pandemic influenza A (H1N1), Zika virus and COVID-19. As demonstrated by the COVID-19 pandemic, emerging infectious diseases can cause massive health and socio-economic impacts.

More than 60% of emerging infectious diseases are of animal origin.¹ Diseases emerge from a confluence of several drivers, including rapid population growth and urbanization, land-use change, encroachment on wild habitats, and changing global and local weather patterns. As the world population has grown from about 1.6 billion in the 1900s to 7.8 billion today, the demand for food and housing has increased concurrently. To meet this demand, we have resorted to intensive farming and clearing forests at the rate of 10 million hectares per annum. As a result, humans and domestic animals are coming into closer contact with wild animals, increasing the chances for spillover of pathogens from wildlife to domestic animals and humans. The risk is further exacerbated by climate change, antimicrobial resistance, and cross-border trade of livestock and wildlife.

The challenges to address emerging infectious diseases are multifactorial. The traditional siloed approach of working in isolation in the public health, animal health and environment sectors is not adequate to tackle them. Instead, we need a workforce that can function across all of these sectors using the One Health approach, defined recently as "an integrated, unifying approach that aims to sustainably balance and optimise the health of people, animals and ecosystems. It recognises the health of humans, domestic and wild animals, plants, and the wider environment (including ecosystems) are closely linked and interdependent."²

The current field epidemiology workforce is not yet sufficiently prepared to work across the human-animalenvironment interface. Field epidemiology training programmes (FETPs) are crucial for preparing the health workforce to prevent, detect and contain infectious diseases. Still, most programmes currently train either public health or animal health epidemiologists, with very few programmes working across both sectors and even fewer that include the environment sector or wildlife. It is only with this kind of collaboration and the ability of professionals in various sectors to work together that the emergence of new infections can be limited, preventing negative health outcomes and socio-economic disruptions.

The *Competencies for One Health field epidemiology (COHFE) framework* addresses the increasing and urgent need to strengthen collaboration among the public health, animal health and environment sectors to tackle health threats at the human-animal-environment interface. Developed jointly by the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO), the World Health Organization (WHO) and the World Organisation for Animal Health (WOAH), the *COHFE framework* defines the core One Health, optional One Health, and sector-specific knowledge, skills, and competencies for field epidemiologists. The framework can be used by existing public health and veterinary field epidemiology training programmes to design and update their curriculum, or by countries or regions to set up new One Health field epidemiology training programmes. A specifically designed prioritization tool allows programmes to rank optional One Health and sector-specific knowledge, skills, and competencies and create a framework to suit their context and needs. The adoption of this framework will ensure that training participants are able to work across multiple sectors to tackle emerging infectious diseases and other evolving challenges and apply the necessary systems thinking of the One Health approach.

¹ Jones KE, Patel NG, Levy MA, Storeygard A, Balk D, Gittleman JL, Daszak P. Global trends in emerging infectious diseases. Nature. 2008 Feb 21;451(7181):990-3. doi: 10.1038/nature06536. PMID: 18288193; PMCID: PMC5960580.

² One Health High-Level Expert Panel (OHHLEP), Adisasmito WB, Almuhairi S, Behravesh CB, Bilivogui P, Bukachi SA, et al. (2022) One Health: A new definition for a sustainable and healthy future. PLoS Pathog 18(6): e1010537. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.ppat.1010537

The COHFE framework is accompanied by four supplemental manuals:

- Guidance for One Health field epidemiology curriculum development
- Guidance for One Health field epidemiology mentorship
- Guidance for One Health field epidemiology learning evaluation and certification
- Guidance for One Health field epidemiology continuing education programmes

These manuals are meant to assist countries with implementation of the *COHFE framework*. We believe the framework and guidance documents present an innovative approach to strengthening field epidemiology capacity and health security. Together with other resources and tools, the *COHFE framework* and supplemental guidance will help governments and international organizations to effectively prevent and manage emerging infectious diseases and other evolving health challenges at the human-animal-environment interface.

Thanawat Tiensin Director Animal Production and Health Division (NSA) Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO)

Chikwe Ihekweazu Assistant Director General of Health Emergency Intelligence and Surveillance Systems World Health Organization (WHO)

Jean-Philippe Dop Deputy-Director General for Institutional Affairs and Regional Activities World Organisation for Animal Health (WOAH)

Acknowledgements

The contents of this document were developed by the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO), the World Organisation for Animal Health (WOAH) and the World Health Organization (WHO), including their regional and country offices, in close consultation with the United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP). FAO, WHO and WOAH gratefully acknowledge the enormous time and effort provided by global subject matter experts (Annex 1) who provided input and guidance as part of the Technical Advisory Group that guided this work through their individual and institutional capacities.

The project was sponsored by the United States Department of Defense, Defense Threat Reduction Agency (DTRA). The content of the information does not necessarily reflect the position or the policy of the Federal Government of the United States, and no official endorsement should be inferred. We would also like to acknowledge the United States DoD DTRA Cooperative Threat Reduction Program's support of project HDTRA1-19-1-0046 "Strengthening Capabilities for Epidemiology and Biosurveillance."

List of contributors (alphabetically by last name):

- Barbara Alessandrini, WOAH
- Christine Budke, WOAH
- Jessica Cargill, WOAH
- David Castellan, WOAH
- Silvia D'Albenzio, WOAH
- Navneet Dhand, FAO
- Ravi Dissanayake, FAO
- Stacie E. Dunkle, FAO/WHO
- Stéphane Hugonnet, WHO
- Stephen Leshan Koyie, WHO
- Marion Muehlen, WHO
- Boris Pavlin, WHO
- Julio Pinto, FAO
- Karl Schenkel, WHO
- Heather L. Simmons, WOAH
- Ahmed Zaghloul, WHO

Acronyms

AMR	Antimicrobial Resistance
CBRN	Chemical, Biological, Radiological and Nuclear threats
CDC	Centers for Disease Control and Prevention
CITES	Convention on International Trade in Endangered Species of Wild Fauna and Flora
FAO	Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations
FETP	Field Epidemiology Training Program
FETPV	Field Epidemiology Training Program for Veterinarians
GEMP	Good Emergency Management Practice
IHR	International Health Regulations
IPC	Infection Prevention and Control
JEE	Joint External Evaluation
NCD	Noncommunicable Disease
РНС	Primary Health Care
PPE	Personal Protective Equipment
SOP	Standard Operating Procedure
TZG	Tripartite Zoonosis Guide
UNEP	United Nations Environment Programme
wно	World Health Organization
WOAH	World Organisation for Animal Health

Introduction

Background	2
How the competency framework was developed	2
Scope of work	2
How to use this document	4
Definitions	4



Background

The need for properly trained epidemiologists to strengthen country capabilities in disease surveillance, epidemiological investigations, and outbreak response is a requirement recognized by the global public health community. Veterinary epidemiology is also recognized as a priority by the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO) and the World Organisation for Animal Health (WOAH). The presence of an applied epidemiology training programme has been included in the World Health Organization (WHO) Joint External Evaluation (JEE) tool since 2016, further motivating countries to develop and strengthen these capabilities. Although organizations such as the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), WHO, FAO, WOAH, and the Training Programmes in Epidemiology and Public Health Interventions Network (TEPHINET) have established relevant curricula and accreditations, no internationally accepted One Health competencies exist for epidemiologists nor are there standardized curricula, evaluation and certification, or continuing education requirements for graduates. This results in graduates with varying competence and the dilution of the reputation of the Field Epidemiology Training Program (FETP) or Field Epidemiology Training Program for Veterinarians (FETPV) certificate. To fill this gap, FAO, WHO and WOAH (collectively called the Tripartite) have defined and developed this document on field epidemiology knowledge, skills and competencies in a One Health context for reference and use by countries and regions when planning and reviewing a One Health field epidemiology training programme. Participants in One Health training programmes may have experience in human, animal, or environmental health and enrol at the frontline, intermediate and advanced levels (Figure 1).

How the competency framework was developed

The initial draft of the Competencies for One Health field epidemiology (COHFE) framework was developed by a multisectoral team of subject matter experts from FAO, WHO and WOAH. This core technical team performed a desk review of existing literature and programme documents and performed a survey of existing FETP and FETPV programmes. The compiled information was used to develop a draft list of domains and subdomains. The experts then defined knowledge, skills and competencies at the subdomain level using an agreed template (Annex 2). The knowledge, skills and competencies were categorized as One Health or sector specific (public health, animal health or environment) and by training level (frontline, intermediate or advanced).

The competency framework was presented to a technical advisory group of global field epidemiology and One Health experts for feedback and validation (Annex 1). Members participated in a series of teleconference discussions and provided comments and revisions using a standard feedback form. The advisory group recommended strengthening the environment component of the framework. This resulted in a subgroup of environmental experts from the advisory group convening separately to advise the core technical team. The addition of Domain 10 on ecosystem health resulted from their specific feedback. Members of the advisory group were asked to vote on whether each knowledge, skill and competency should be considered core for all field epidemiology training programmes using the One Health approach. Based on the results, the core technical team divided the One Health knowledge, skills and competencies into core and optional categories.

Scope of work

The COHFE framework includes fourteen domains that cover technical and functional knowledge, skills, and competencies needed by One Health field epidemiologists working at all administrative levels, including district, regional, and national/international levels. This document is structured to cover the knowledge, skills and competencies needed for three levels of epidemiology training programmes, frontline, intermediate and advanced, which loosely correspond to the administrative levels mentioned previously. The subdomains and related competencies in this document are organized to create a link among the three administrative levels.

Figure 1.

Recommended background experience of candidates for One Health field epidemiology training programmes, across training levels and sectors

		Sectors	
	Frontline	Intermediate	Advanced
Human	 Community or district government public health professionals Public health epidemiologists Physicians, dentists, nurses Other human health professionals or researchers 	 District or provincial government public health professionals Public health epidemiologists Physicians, dentists, nurses Other human health professionals or researchers with frontline level experience 	 Provincial or national government public health professionals Public health epidemiologists Physicians, dentists, nurses Other human health professionals or researchers with intermediate level experience
Animal	 Community or district government animal health professionals Veterinarians Para-veterinarians Animal husbandry experts Other animal health professionals or researchers 	 District or provincial government animal health professionals Veterinary epidemiologists Veterinarians Para-veterinarians or animal husbandry experts Other animal health professionals or researchers with frontline level experience 	 Provincial or national government animal health professionals Veterinary epidemiologists Veterinarians Advanced para-veterinarians or animal husbandry experts Other animal health professionals or researchers with intermediate level experience
Environment	 Community or district government environmental health professionals Wildlife veterinarians Environmental scientists, biologists, or ecologists Environment, natural resource or forestry workers Environmental engineers Other ecosystem health professionals or researchers 	 District or provincial government environmental health professionals Wildlife veterinarians Environmental scientists, biologists, or ecologists Environment, natural resource or forestry managers Environmental engineers Other ecosystem health professionals or researchers with frontline level experience 	 Provincial or national government environmental health professionals Wildlife veterinarians Environmental scientists, biologists, or ecologists Environment, natural resource or forestry managers Environmental engineers Other ecosystem health professionals or researchers with intermediate level experience

How to use this document

This document is intended to be used by authorities in member countries and regions and by education or continuing education providers when planning or reviewing an existing curriculum for a field epidemiology training programme. It provides guidance for core and optional knowledge, skills and competencies for One Health field epidemiologists, divided into domains and subdomains. The knowledge, skills and competencies, labelled as K, S and C, respectively, follow a progression from frontline through intermediate to advanced, so users should assume that those core competencies required at lower levels are also required at the higher levels. Some overlap exists among the domains, and cross-references are made where appropriate. Optional knowledge, skills and competencies specific for the public health, animal health, or environment sectors are also included but are not comprehensive. These sector specific competencies are considered optional competencies to accompany the One Health competencies and may be used by programme managers to create sector specific training tracks within a One Health training programme. Optional competencies may also be considered for postgraduates as part of a continuing education programme. Training programmes should check the competency guidance document and customize them according to the targeted workforce needs.

The *COHFE framework* is accompanied by four supplemental manuals:

- Guidance for One Health field epidemiology
 curriculum development
- Guidance for One Health field epidemiology mentorship
- Guidance for One Health field epidemiology learning evaluation and certification
- Guidance for One Health field epidemiology continuing education programmes

Definitions

The following terms are used throughout the document with definitions specifically developed for use in the *Competencies for One Health field epidemiology (COHFE) framework* and supplemental

guidance manuals (Figure 2). The terms may be used differently in other contexts or publications. Additional terms are defined in the One Health glossary in Annex 3.

Domain: A broad topic or subject area that is divided into subdomains.

Subdomain: A narrower topic or subject area than a domain; subdomains consist of knowledge, skills, and competencies

Knowledge (K): Assimilation of information through learning. Knowledge is the body of facts, principles, theories, and practices related to a field of work or study. It is described as theoretical and factual.

Skill (S): Ability to apply knowledge and to complete tasks and solve problems. Skills are described as cognitive (involving the use of logical, intuitive, and creative thinking) or practical (involving manual dexterity and the use of methods, materials, tools, and instruments)

Attitude: A person's feelings, values and beliefs, which influence their behaviour and the performance of tasks

Competency (C): Proven ability to apply knowledge, skills and personal, social and methodological abilities (attitudes and behaviours), in work or study situations and in professional and personal development in terms of responsibility and autonomy. It is not limited to cognitive elements (involving the use of theory, concepts, or knowledge), as it also requires interpersonal skills (e.g., social or organizational skills) and ethical values where relevant. A core competency is the minimum level of competency expected to be achieved by the participants in a training programme.

Core: A required knowledge, skill or competency for a specific level of training (Frontline, Intermediate or Advanced) for One Health field epidemiologists

Optional: A knowledge, skill, and competency that a country programme can choose to include in their Frontline, Intermediate or Advanced programmes based on a country needs assessment but which is not considered a required core competency for One Health field epidemiologists.

Training levels

Frontline³: A 3–4 month mentored in-service applied training programme for field staff from human, animal or environmental health sectors to strengthen epidemiologic capacity at the community to the district level. It aims at improving competencies to conduct data collection, disease monitoring, and investigation and response to health events across the One Health spectrum.

Intermediate: A 9-12 months mentored in-service or fulltime applied training programme for staff from human, animal or environmental health sectors who provide epidemiologic services, usually at the district to provincial levels. It includes additional training in

3 The term Frontline with regards to health workers is controversial because its meaning is unclear, may be unintentionally divisive or militaristic, and translates poorly in some languages. However, we use this term to align with structures and practices of existing training programmes.

surveillance, data analysis and interpretation, and management of investigations and responses to health events, across the One Health spectrum.

Advanced: A two-year mentored fulltime intensive training programme for experienced staff from human, animal or environmental health sectors to prepare them for applied epidemiology leadership roles at provincial and national levels. It includes advanced training in designing and managing surveillance programmes, complex epidemiologic methods and management of investigations and responses to health events, across the One Health spectrum.

Figure 2.

Training levels and timelines for acquiring knowledge, skills, attitudes and competencies in One Health field epidemiology training programmes



Section I Technical domains

Domain 1:	Foundational knowledge and skills	8
Domain 2:	Surveillance systems	18
Domain 3:	Field investigations	25
Domain 4:	Disease management	30
Domain 5:	Laboratory capacity	36
Domain 6:	Infection prevention and control, biosafety and biosecurity	42
Domain 7:	Preparedness and response	47
Domain 8:	Epidemiologic studies	57
Domain 9:	Data management, biostatistics, and informatics	63
Domain 10:	Ecosystem health	69



Domain 1

Foundational knowledge and skills

Introduction

Experts working in field epidemiology come from very diverse backgrounds and have different professional trajectories. In order to establish a common foundational knowledge relevant to human, animal, and environmental health, a set of topics have been identified that should provide a theoretical basis upon which subsequent domains are developed, in order to build the skills and competencies necessary to work in the field. Depending on the region or country, some of the listed topics might fall under a different section of the health system or be dealt with by a different professional group. In a global context however, theoretical knowledge of all these topics/subdomains constitutes a valuable foundation that enables the applied epidemiologist to fully engage in addressing global health priorities.

At the frontline level, field epidemiologists demonstrate good knowledge about diseases both communicable and non-communicable diseases with the basic knowledge of the causative organisms. They also calculate key indicators at the community level and report it to next admin levels.

At the intermediate level, field epidemiologists have the same knowledge as the frontline and also understand the prioritization of diseases for actions and the link to relevant stakeholders for better coordination of work.

At the advanced level, field epidemiologists guide the national and subnational system based on policies and standards and apply international standards when these exist.

Cross-references

Knowledge, skills and competencies within this domain can be cross-referenced with the following domains:

- 2. Surveillance systems;
- 3. Field investigations;
- 7. Preparedness and response;
- 8. Epidemiological studies;
- 10. Ecosystem health;
- 11. Leadership and management; and
- 12. Communication and community engagement.

Subdomains

- 1. History of epidemiology
- 2. Epidemiology of infectious diseases
- 3. Epidemiology of noncommunicable diseases
- 4. Prioritization of disease and disease burden
- 5. Policies and standards
- 6. Maternal and child health: key indicators
- 7. Demographic data and population dynamics
- 8. Primary health services: key indicators
- 9. Systems thinking

Subdomain 1.1 History of epidemiology

Frontline Intermediate 1. Define epidemiology and field 1. Describe the added value	Advanced
1. Define epidemiology and field 1. Describe the added value	
epidemiology (K) (S)	of a One = Intermediate niology
1. Summarize the Koch post (K) 2. Describe the genesis of the Health concept (K)	ulates 1. Describe the Doll and Hill viewpoints on causality (K) e One
Hrman	 Describe the work of William Farr and John Snow on Cholera (K) Describe the history of smallpox eradication (K)
Animat	 Describe the history of rinderpest eradication (K)
vironment	

Domains

D8

D7

D9

D10

D11

D12

D13

Domains

Epidemiology of infectious diseases

D1				
51		Frontline	Intermediate	Advanced
D2		1. Define epidemiological terms including incubation period, infectious period, latency, immunity, vector, fomite,	 = Frontline + Describe the factors driving the emergence and re-emergence of infectious diseases to focus on 	= Intermediate
D3	ne Health (Core)	 Explain important mechanisms for transmission of infectious diseases (K) Define zoonosis and 	 zoonoses (K) 3. Describe the disease intervention model in terms of the epidemiologic triad and how to break the chain of 	
D4	ō	anthroponotic diseases and list important (anthropo-)zoonotic diseases with epidemic potential (K)	 transmission (K) Describe risk factors associated with the spread and persistence of zoonotic diseases, including social-cultural factors (K) 	
D5		 Characterize the difference between viruses, fungi, bacteria, paragitas and prions (V) 	1. Describe basic epidemiologic models (susceptible, exposed,	 Assess the societal impact of (anthropo-)zoonotic diseases (C)
D6	ealth (Optional)	 Characterize relevant pathogen, host, environment/ecological features of important infectious diseases (K) 	 Explain host immunity to pathogens and discuss the strengths and weaknesses of different vaccines (K) 	
D7	One H	 Describe the epidemiological characteristics of priority infectious diseases of humans and animals (K) 		
D8	Human			
D9	Animal	 Advise stakeholders on good practices that contribute to zoonotic disease prevention and control, and subsequent impact on animal production (C) 	= Frontline	= Intermediate
D10	Environment			
D11				

D12

D13

Subdomain 1.3 Epidemiology of noncommunicable diseases

				D1
	Frontline	Intermediate	Advanced	
th (Core)	 Describe the link between environmental factors and some noncommunicable diseases (NCDs) (K) 	 List NCDs that impact human and animal health and their associated environmental risk factors (K) 	 Elaborate on the relationship between environmental conditions and development of NCDs (K) 	D2
One Heal			2. Demonstrate the importance of NCD surveillance in humans and animals and how it relates to surveillance of environmental factors (S)	D3
One Health (Optional)				D4
			1. Identify epidemiological aspects of NCDs including injury; report on the epidemiology	D5
uman			of chronic diseases that can occur over lifetime; explain the epidemiology of cancer (K)	D6
T			systems for noncommunicable	
			 Describe the importance of NCD surveillance in humans and animals (K) 	D7
al	1. Advise stakeholders on animal	= Frontline	= Intermediate +	0.0
Anim	and marketing (C)		 Describe the role of genetics as it relates to animal production and nutrition (K) 	
lvironment			1. Describe the role of the environment and climate change on noncommunicable diseases (K)	D9
Ъ				

Domains

D10

D11

D12

D13

Domains Subdomain 1.4

Prioritization of disease and disease burden

D1				
DI		Frontline	Intermediate	Advanced
D2	Health (Core)		 Describe the concept of burden of disease in animals and humans (K) Define simple ways to prioritize 	= Intermediate
D3	One F		diseases according to their burden (S)	
			1. Describe the current burden of infectious diseases (K)	= Intermediate
D4)ptional)		2. Characterize the historic and current burden of infectious diseases, and potential future trends (S)	
D5	One Health (C		 Describe zoonotic diseases for which the control on the animal side is cost-effective (C) Learn and apply the Basic 	
D6			Priority Rating System methodology to prioritize disease for One Health intervention (C)	
D7	Human			 Explain burden of disease metrics (e.g., DALYs and QALYs, cost- benefit and cost-effectiveness, hospitalization days, etc.) and how they are calculated (K)
D8	Animal			
D9	Environment			

D10

D11

D12

D13

Subdomain 1.5 Policies and standards

	Frontline	Intermediate	Advanced	D1
One Health (Core)		 Explain national legislation for public health and surveillance activities in the country (K) Describe relevant international regulations (IHR, Performance of Veterinary Services) (K) 	 Intermediate + Outline the standards and standard operating procedures (SOPs) for public health in the country (K) Articulate One Health coordination at the national level (C) 	D2 D3
One Health (Optional)	1. Guide One Health coordination at the local level (K)	= Frontline	= Intermediate	D4
Human	 Apply national reporting requirements for human diseases (C) Describe key points of the International Health Regulations (IHR) 2005 (K) 	= Frontline	 = Intermediate + Apply Annex II of the IHR 2005 in day to day risk assessments (C) Explain IHR 2005 core capacity requirements for countries (K) Explain points of entry requirements under the IHR 2005 (C) 	D5 D6
Animal	 Apply national reporting requirements for animal diseases (C) 	= Frontline	 Intermediate + Make recommendations for national reporting requirements for animal diseases (C) Know the WOAH listed diseases and reporting requirements for member countries, including when immediate notification and follow up reports are required (K) 	D7 D8
it		 Know the standard thresholds of exposure risk for the WHO 10 chemicals of public health concern Describe key points of and linkages between the sanitary and phytosanitary measures agreement and the WOAH Terrestrial Animal Health Code 	= Intermediate	D10
Environme		 (K) 3. Describe key points of the Convention on International Trade in Endangered Species of Wild Fauna and Flora (CITES) and Nagoya protocol (K) 4. Describe key points of the Paris Climate Agreement, the MINAMATA Global Mercury Treaty, and the Millennium 		D12 D13

D14

Domains

Domains Subdomain 1.6

Maternal and child health: key indicators

D1		Frontline	Intermediate	Advanced
D2	One Health (Core)			
D3	One Health (Optional)		 Describe risk factors, including zoonotic and food safety, that are specific to pregnant or nursing women and children (K) 	= Intermediate
D4	E	 Monitor maternal and child health indicators at primary health care units: pregnancy follow up visits 	 Frontline + Analyse reported data from primary health care units for previous indicators (C) 	= Intermediate
D5	H	 child growth charts child routine immunization (S) 2. Collect information on barriers to health access (S) 	p	
D6	Animal			
D7	Environment			 Work together with PHC units on recommendations to reduce environmental exposures that constitute a risk for the fetus (including food safety) (C)
D8				
D9				
D10				
D11				
D12				
D13				
D14				

Subdomain 1.7 Demographic data and population dynamics

	Frontline	Intermediate	Advanced
One Health (Core)			
lth (Optional)	 List sources of information for local animal and human population data (K) 	 Use demographic tools to guide planning decisions (C) 	 Intermediate + 1. Explain techniques to measure changes in the total population (K)
One Hea			2. Assess changes in the composition of the population (animal/human only) (C)
_	 Compare population pyramids (S) Calculate population density for an area (i.e., district or region) (S) Compute crude birth rates (S) 	 = Frontline + 1. Describe components of population change (e.g., fertility, mortality and migration) (K) 	= Intermediate
Humar	 Evaluate access to family planning (S) 		
	1. Contribute to collection of animal	= Frontline	= Intermediate +
Animal	population data/census (C)		 Describe how the rates of population turnover for various animal species relates to immunity status (K)
Environment		1. Describe land use/land cover characteristics and how these patterns relate to human/animal interface and interactions (S)	= Intermediate

Domains

D10

D11

D12

D13

Oomains	Subdo	main	1.8	
	- •			

Primary health services: key indicators

D1				
DI		Frontline	Intermediate	Advanced
D2	One Health (Core)			 Describe performance indicators for delivery of One Health services (K)
D3	One Health (Optional)			
D4	Human	1. Discuss social-economic determinants of health (K)	= Frontline + 1. Explain the Universal Health Coverage strategy (K)	= Intermediate
D5		 Describe methods for delivery of community animal health services (fixed vs mobile), including the 	= Frontline + 1. Implement and support frontline	= Intermediate + 1. Describe and calculate performance indicators for the
D6	Animal	role of veterinarians and para-vets (K)		delivery of frontline animal health services (S)2. Describe national animal health
				management systems and the related performance indicators (K)
D7	iment			 Design and monitor changes in land use/land cover including fragmentation patterns (C)
D8	Enviror			 Design and monitor biodiversity measures (transactional sampling) (C)
D9				

D10

D11

D12

D13

Subdomain 1.9 Systems thinking

				D1
	Frontline	Intermediate	Advanced	DI
l (Core)	 Explain the interaction between ecosystems change and human/ animal health outcomes (C) 	 Frontline + Advocate to integrate multisectoral systems thinking into everyday work (C) 	 Intermediate + Incorporate systems thinking into policy design and development (S) 	D2
One Health			2. Apply systems-based thinking to surveillance, the design of epidemiological studies, and the practice of disease prevention and control (S)	D3
ptional)	 Provide stakeholders with basic knowledge of complex systems related to basilth at the human 	= Frontline +	= Intermediate + 1. Contribute to the development	D4
One Health (O	animal-environmental interface (interconnectedness) and how they impact global health (C)		and implementation of One Health policies, plans and projects that integrate interconnections between ecosystem and animal/ human/plant health (C)	D5
Human				D6
Animal				D7
onment				
Enviro				D8

D9

D10

D11

D12

D13

D14

Domains

Surveillance systems

)	0	m	а	i	s	

D1

Introduction

Domain 2

The continuous collection of data about the status of our environment and occurrences of specific events therein, including plants, animals and humans, is fundamental for the assessment of health in its broadest term. Epidemiological surveillance is therefore one of the main pillars of One Health. Well-running surveillance systems allow outbreaks to be defined and detected, and alert algorithms to be calculated. Public health and animal health interventions are implemented and evaluated based on surveillance data. It is therefore of utmost importance that a field epidemiologist is empowered to act within the surveillance systems of their area of work. Epidemiologists require good understanding of characteristics of surveillance systems in order to collect, analyse and report surveillance data from community level to national level. They require the competencies to implement, monitor and evaluate surveillance systems. Defined roles and responsibilities for each level with harmonization and collaboration between all levels and also between human and veterinary services is recommended and needs proper training and focus.

At the frontline level, a surveillance officer appreciates the importance of certain attributes of the system, like timeliness, completeness and data quality, describes how the flow of information is organized, applies algorithms for outbreak detection or alert thresholds, performs simple analysis of the data provided by the system at that level and reports results.

At the intermediate level, the responsible field epidemiologist describes the types of surveillance systems, how surveillance systems are run, and the stakeholders involved, and assesses the source of the data being analysed. Additionally, they perform more elaborate analyses, create visual displays of the results, and report the findings to higher levels within the system. Some of these responsibilities are also expected from a frontline epidemiologist at animal health. At the advanced level, a field epidemiologist designs and implements a surveillance system, describes and assesses their attributes, and evaluates a surveillance system against its original objectives. At this level, a field epidemiologist creates actionable science (data for action) and can analyse surveillance data, draw conclusions and make recommendations based on this data, as well as write surveillance reports and publish the results and conclusion of their findings.

Cross-references

Knowledge, skills and competencies within this domain can be cross-referenced with the following domains:

- 1. Foundational knowledge and skills;
- 3. Field investigations;
- 4. Disease management;
- 5. Laboratory capacity;
- 7. Preparedness and response;
- 8. Epidemiological studies;
- 9. Data management, biostatistics, and informatics;
- 10. Ecosystem health;
- 11. Leadership and management;
- 12. Communication and community engagement;
- 13. Training; and
- 14. Ethics.

Subdomains

- 1. Characteristics of a functional surveillance system
- 2. Epidemic intelligence
- 3. Detection and reporting of cases, clusters, and public health threats
- 4. Surveillance data collection, analysis and interpretation
- 5. Surveillance reporting
- 6. Monitor and assess the quality of surveillance data
- 7. Surveillance systems design and evaluation

Subdomain 2.1 Characteristics of a functional surveillance system

Domains

	Frontline	Intermediate	Advanced	D1
One Health (Core)	 Describe the role and objectives of surveillance systems in public health, animal health and environmental health (K) 	 Frontline + Coordinate and integrate surveillance activities among multiple sectors (S) 	 Intermediate + Synthesize the objectives of surveillance systems in public health, animal health and wildlife health (C) 	D2 D3
	 Define what a surveillance system is including its structural and functional components and 	= Frontline 1. Describe the characteristics of an early warning system (K)	 Intermediate + Promote the interoperability of reporting systems across sectors 	D4
	 interactions. (K) 2. Describe the One Health aspects of surveillance systems (coordination and integration of surveillance activities between 		(C)	D5
() I	 multiple sectors) (K) 3. Describe types of surveillance (e.g., indicator-based, event- based) and types of surveillance 			D6
Health (Optiona	 systems (e.g., sentinel, hospital, lab, risk-based etc.) (K) Describe the characteristics (e.g., comprehensive vs sentinel 			D7
One	surveillance, syndromic vs lab confirmed, case-based vs aggregate surveillance) (K) 5. Define attributes (e.g., timeliness,			D8
	 sensitivity) of a functional surveillance system (K) 6. Describe the roles and responsibilities of a surveillance 			D9
	system (K) 7. Describe the surveillance cycle, including administration levels and reporting flows (K)			D10
Human	 Describe case-based reporting (K) Describe NCD surveillance systems (K) 	= Frontline	= Intermediate	D11
Animal		 Describe risk-based surveillance methods (K) 	= Intermediate	010
ŧ		1. Describe how weather-related data is collected (K)	= Intermediate +	DIX
Environme			and satellite monitoring of hydrological parameters and how data can be related to human and animal health (K)	D13

Domains

Detection and reporting of cases, clusters, and health threats

D1				
DI		Frontline	Intermediate	Advanced
D2		 Identify health threats (signals) from community and media sources (C) Apply case definitions for priority 	= Frontline	 Intermediate + Create or critique a surveillance case definition for a priority condition (C)
D3	th (Core)	diseases (S) 3. Differentiate between types of surveillance (e.g., indicator-based, event-based, etc.) and types		
D4	One Healt	of surveillance systems (e.g., sentinel, hospital, lab, risk-based, community-based, etc.) (K) 4. Perform signal detection from both indicator-based surveillance		
D5		 and event-based surveillance (C) 5. Verify signals using signal-alert- event logic (S) 		
D6	alth (Optional)	 Follow reporting channels to report cases and signals to appropriate administration level (S) 	= Frontline	= Intermediate
D7	One He	2. Use diverse sources of information for event-based surveillance (C)		
	Human			
D8	Animal	 Apply risk-based surveillance methods along high-risk value chain nodes (S) 	= Frontline	 Intermediate + Design risk-based surveillance methods along high-risk value
D9	ent			chain nodes (C)
D10	Environm			
27 IL V				

D11

D12

D13

Surveillance data collection, analysis and interpretation

FrontlineIntermediateAdvanced10001. Notify authorities of priority diseases that exceed thresholds (S)= Frontline + 1. Present data analysis using tables, graphs and maps (C)= Intermediate + 1. Establish or review an outbreak threshold for diseases under surveillance (C)10001. Describe the principles of data collection for surveillance data (S)= Frontline + 1. Interpret surveillance data both within an individual sector and across multiple sectors (C)= Intermediate + 1. Preform advanced statistical and Geospatial analysis using surveillance data (S) 2. Describe and identify trends, patterns and thresholds of priority= Intermediate + 1. Perform advanced statistical and Geospatial analysis using surveillance data (S) 2. Perform basic Time Series Analysis (S)1000Image: Series and thresholds of priority diseases (S)= Intermediate + 1. Netrpret surveillance data both within an individual sector and across multiple sectors (C)= Intermediate + 1. Perform advanced statistical and Geospatial analysis using surveillance data (S) 2. Perform basic Time Series Analysis (S)1000Image: Series and thresholds of priority diseases (S)= Intermediate + 1. Netrore series Analysis (S)1001Image: Series and thresholds of priority diseases (S)= Intermediate + 1. Netrore series Analysis (S)1002Image: Series and thresholds of priority diseases (S)= Intermediate + 1. Perform advanced statistical and Geospatial analysis across multiple sectors (C)1003Image: Series and thresholds of priority diseases (S)= Image: Series and the Image: Series analysis (S)				
Point Image: 1. Notify authorities of priority diseases that exceed thresholds (S)= Frontline + 1. Present data analysis using tables, graphs and maps (C)= Intermediate + 1. Establish or review an outbreak threshold for diseases under surveillance (C)Point Image: 2. Analyse surveillance data using descriptive epidemiological and simple statistical methods (S)= Frontline + 1. Present data analysis using tables, graphs and maps (C)= Intermediate + 1. Establish or review an outbreak threshold for diseases under surveillance (C)Point Image: 2. Analyse surveillance data using apply them in multiple sectors (S) 2. Describe and identify trends, patterns and thresholds of priority diseases (S)= Frontline + 1. Interpret surveillance data both across multiple sectors (C)= Intermediate + 1. Perform advanced statistical and Geospatial analysis using surveillance data (S) 2. Perform basic Time Series Analysis (S)Point Image: 2. Preform (diseases (S))= Intermediate (C)= Intermediate (C)Point Image: 2. Preform basic Time Series Analysis (S)= Intermediate (C)= Perform basic Time Series Analysis (S)Point Image: 2. Preform basic Time Series (S)= Intermediate (C)= Perform basic Time Series Analysis (S)Point Image: 2. Preform basic Time Series (S)= Intermediate (C)= Perform basic Time Series Analysis (S)Point Image: 2. Preform basic Time Series (S)= Perform basic Time Series (S)= Perform basic Time Series (S)Point Image: 2. Preform basic Time Series (S)= Perform basic Time Series (S)= Perform basic Time Series (S) <td< th=""><th></th><th>Frontline</th><th>Intermediate</th><th>Advanced</th></td<>		Frontline	Intermediate	Advanced
Image: Describe the principles of data collection for surveillance and apply them in multiple sectors (S) = Frontline + Image: Describe and identify trends, patterns and thresholds of priority diseases (S) = Intermediate + Perform advanced statistical and Geospatial analysis using surveillance data both within an individual sector and across multiple sectors (C) = Intermediate + Perform advanced statistical and Geospatial analysis using surveillance data (S) Image: Describe and identify trends, patterns and thresholds of priority diseases (S) = Intermediate + Perform basic Time Series Analysis (S) Image: Describe and identify trends, patterns and thresholds of priority diseases (S) = Intermediate + Image: Describe and identify trends, patterns and thresholds of priority Image: Describe and identify trends, patterns and thresholds of priority diseases (S) = Intermediate + Image: Describe and identify trends, patterns and thresholds of priority Image: Describe and identify trends, patterns and thresholds of priority diseases (S) = Intermediate + Image: Describe and identify trends, patterns and thresholds of priority Image: Describe and identify trends, patterns and thresholds of priority = Intermediate + Image: Describe and identify trends, patterns and thresholds of priority Image: Describe and identify trends, patterns and thresholds of priority = Intermediate analysis Image: Describe analysis Image: Describe and trends = Intermediate analysis = Interm	One Health (Core)	 Notify authorities of priority diseases that exceed thresholds (S) Analyse surveillance data using descriptive epidemiological and simple statistical methods (S) 	 = Frontline + 1. Present data analysis using tables, graphs and maps (C) 	 Intermediate + 1. Establish or review an outbreak threshold for diseases under surveillance (C)
or collection for surveillance and apply them in multiple sectors (S) 1. Interpret surveillance data both within an individual sector and across multiple sectors (C) 1. Perform advanced statistical and Geospatial analysis using surveillance data (S) 2. Describe and identify trends, patterns and thresholds of priority diseases (S) 1. Interpret surveillance data both within an individual sector and across multiple sectors (C) 1. Perform advanced statistical and Geospatial analysis using surveillance data (S) ueunn 1. Interpret surveillance data both within an individual sector and across multiple sectors (C) 1. Perform basic Time Series Analysis (S) ueunn 1. Interpret surveillance data both within an individual sector and across multiple sectors (C) 1. Perform basic Time Series Analysis (S) ueunn 1. Interpret surveillance data both within an individual sector and across multiple sectors (C) 1. Perform basic Time Series Analysis (S) ueunn 1. Interpret surveillance data both within an individual sector and across multiple sectors (C) 1. Perform basic Time Series Analysis (S) ueunn 1. Interpret surveillance data (S) 1. Perform basic Time Series Analysis (S) ueunn 1. Interpret surveillance data (S) 1. Perform basic Time Series Analysis (S) ueunn 1. Interpret surveillance data (S) 1. Interpret surveillance data (S) ueunn 1. Interpret surveillance data (S) 1. Interpret surveillance data (S) <th>ial)</th> <td>1. Describe the principles of data</td> <td>= Frontline +</td> <td>= Intermediate +</td>	ial)	1. Describe the principles of data	= Frontline +	= Intermediate +
Environment Animat A	One Health (Optior	 collection for surveillance and apply them in multiple sectors (S) 2. Describe and identify trends, patterns and thresholds of priority diseases (S) 	 Interpret surveillance data both within an individual sector and across multiple sectors (C) 	 Perform advanced statistical and Geospatial analysis using surveillance data (S) Perform basic Time Series Analysis (S)
Environment Animal	0			
Environment Animat	uman			
Environment	T			
Eurorization Eurorization Eurorization	nimal			
E Avironment				
	invironment			
	ш			

D10

D9

D11

D12

D13

D14

Domains

Domains

Surveillance reporting

D1				
		Frontline	Intermediate	Advanced
D2	e Health (Core)	 Prepare basic situation reports for potential health threats (S) 	 = Frontline + 1. Interpret findings from the data analysis of priority conditions (C) 2. Provide recommendations for 	= Intermediate
D3	ő		actions (C)	
	onal)	1. Produce surveillance summary bulletins and reports (C)	= Frontline + 1. Prepare advanced situation	= Intermediate + 1. Prepare multisectoral summary
D4	Health (Optio	 Report to next administration level (S) Apply recommendations from the foodback of the higher 	threats (C)	report for decision-makers and community (C)
D5	Onel	administration levels (C)		
D6	Human			 Describe requirements for reporting of public health events under IHR (2005) (K)
	Jal	1. Ensure timely reporting back	= Frontline +	= Intermediate +
D7	Anin	to farmers to incentivize future participation in surveillance (S)	 Follow WOAH requirements for reporting (K) 	1. Follow WOAH requirements for reporting (K)
	ment			
D8	Environ			
D9				

D10

D11

D12

D13

Monitor and assess the quality of surveillance data

	Frontline	Intermediate	Advanced	
alth (Core)	 Ensure the timeliness, completeness and quality of reported data (S) 	 Frontline + Monitor the timeliness, completeness and quality of data reported from different sources 	= Intermediate	
One Hea		 (C) Provide feedback to improve timeliness, completeness and quality of surveillance data (C) 		
th (Optional)				
One Heal				
Human		 Oversee regular quality checks and audits from healthcare facility level for surveillance data (S) 	= Intermediate	
Animal	 Monitor surveillance data quality originating along animal value chains (C) 	= Frontline	= Intermediate	
nment				
Enviro				

D9

D10

D11

D12

D13

D14

Domains

Domains Subdomain 2.6

Surveillance systems design and evaluation

D 1				
DI		Frontline	Intermediate	Advanced
D2			 Recommend appropriate actions for improvements (C) Use available tools and guidelines (actional and interactional) for 	 Conduct a full evaluation of a surveillance system against its objectives (C) Surveillance and
D3	(e		evaluation (C)	2. Evaluate conclusions and interpretations from an evaluation of surveillance systems (i.e., validate key findings from the evaluation) (C)
D4	One Health (Co			3. Produce final evaluation report with justification and recommendations for improvement (C)
				 Select priority conditions and relevant surveillance systems (C)
D5				5. Design reporting forms and flow (C)
				6. Set alert thresholds (C)
D6				7. Prepare reporting through electronic tools (C)
	al)	1. Support the design of surveillance	1. Evaluate surveillance systems	= Intermediate +
D7	ne Health (Option	systems using knowledge of the local context, key stakeholders, human resource availability and field logistics (S)	using proper attributes (C)	 Assess need for special analysis and studies (e.g., survival analyses; cost effectiveness, cost benefit, cost utility analyses) (C) Choose sites for surveillance (C)
D8	ō			3. Apply epidemic intelligence (C)
	man			
	귀			
D9	Animal			
D10	ument			
	Enviro			
D11				
D12				

D13

Domain 3 Field investigations

Introduction

Public, animal or ecosystem health threats can result from infectious (zoonotic, emerging or re-emerging) or non-infectious (natural disasters, chemicals, radiation, etc.) causes. These health threats or events may be reported as early warning signals, unusual case reports, or disease outbreaks that can cross national and international borders. Field investigations often begin without specific hypotheses about the cause of the disease, source or origin. Responding to these threats requires a range of competencies, including planning, leading, supervising, data collection, data analysis, modelling, forecasting, applying intervention methods, and post-investigation monitoring and evaluation.

At the frontline level, field epidemiologists understand the basic principles of field investigations to support and organize field activities, adhere to standard operating procedures, collect high quality data and samples for testing, support intervention strategies, analyse and interpret data, and communicate findings.

At the intermediate level, the field epidemiologist also plans, communicates, leads, and coordinates field investigations with other sectors; develops case definitions, coordinates data collection, conducts statistical analysis and interpretation of data; trains and supervises frontline staff; recommends and monitors interventions; and organizes regular briefings with supervisors and important stakeholders.

At the advanced level, field epidemiologists design, plan, and monitor field investigations, including joint investigations with other One Health sectors, lead multidisciplinary teams and coordinate with all sectors involved in the investigation. In addition, they write and evaluate SOPs, train field investigation teams and assess the epidemiological situation in light of existing national and international legislations. At this level, an epidemiologist manages complex data sets, uses advanced statistical and modelling methods, interprets results, evaluates intervention methods, and communicates results to the media and the scientific community.

Cross-references Knowledge, skills and competencies within this	D1
domain can be cross-referenced with the following domains:	D2
 Foundational knowledge and skills; Surveillance systems; Disease management; Laboratory capacity; 	D3
 6. Infection prevention and control, biosafety and biosecurity; 7. Preparedness and response; 8. Epidemiological studies; 	D4
 9. Data management, biostatistics, and informatics; 10. Ecosystem health; 11. Leadership and management; 	D5
12. Communication and community engagement;13. Training; and14. Ethics.	D6
Subdomains 1. Field preparation	D7
 Investigation Data management and analysis Reporting and follow-up interventions 	D8
	D9
	D10
	D11
	D12
	D13
	D14

Domains Subdomain 3.1 Field preparation

D1				
		Frontline	Intermediate	Advanced
D2 D3 D4	One Health (Core)	 Explain objectives of field investigation (K) Apply ethics in field investigations (C) Prepare logistics for field visits, interviews, and sample collection, including PPE and transport (S) Apply SOPs (S) Contribute to the design of data collection tools (S) 	 = Frontline + 1. Plan and lead field investigations (C) 2. Coordinate and communicate among experts involved in joint field investigations (C) 3. Establish an investigation team (C) 4. Create case definitions and adapt if needed (C) 	 Intermediate + Design, plan, supervise, lead/colead joint field investigations (C) Formulate and recommend methods and measures for the investigation (C) Develop and evaluate standard operating procedures for joint investigations (C) Incorporate necessary infection, prevention and control (IPC) measures in the field (C) Raise awareness on transmission risks and IPC measures (C)
D5		 Support in the design of field investigations (C) 	= Frontline +	= Intermediate +
D6	onal)	 Explain the One Health approach (K) Communicate with other stakeholders collecting other 	 collection methods and tools (C) Coordinate and communicate with the human, animal and environmental health experts 	 among all sectors involved in the investigation (C) Develop and/or apply monitoring and evaluation methodology (C)
D7	One Health (Optic	 samples during the same outbreak (C) 4. Identify cultural practices and beliefs on approaches to disease management (K) 	in preparation for an outbreak investigation or field study (establish joint team, joint design of investigations, etc.) when needed (e.g., during a zoonotic	 Manage and support multidisciplinary investigation teams in investigation planning phase (C)
D8		 Contribute to the design of data collection tools for participatory investigations (C) 	disease outbreak, outbreak involving wildlife, a field study of health and pollutants (C)3. Train frontline staff on SOPs and data collection tools (C)	4. Train field investigation team on IPC measures and precautions (C)
D9	Human			
D10	Animal	 Prepare logistics for animal handling and examination including domesticated and wild (S) 	= Frontline	= Intermediate
D11	Environment			
D12				

D13
Subdomain 3.2 Investigation

Domains

		Frontline	Intermediate	Advanced	D1
		 Apply basic biosafety and biosecurity methods (S) Detect cases/ outbreaks working forward and backward (S) Collect appropriate data (human / 	 Frontline + Lead/ supervise a team, co-lead/ co-supervise multidisciplinary teams during outbreak investigation (C) 	 Intermediate + Assess the epidemiological situation on the ground in light of existing national and international legislation (such as IHR) and 	D2
	One Health (Core)	 Contect appropriate data (numari) animal, space and time data) to support the field investigation (S) Conduct onsite interviews (e.g., explorative) (C) Collect and submit laboratory 	2. Adapt case definitions (C)	report immediately to a higher level when needed (C) 2. Review case definitions (C)	D3
		 specimens, following appropriate biosafety practices for sampling, packaging and transportation of sample (S) 6. Implement and monitor disease 			D4
		 Support coordination among all groups involved in investigations 	= Frontline + 1. Organize regular briefings (C)	= Intermediate	D5
	tional)	 and share investigation progress (C) 2. Establish and report the existence of an outbreak (S) 3. Describe active/passive 			D6
	One Health (Op	 case findings during field investigations (K) 4. Conduct active/passive case finding/case investigation (C) 5. Use participatory methods for case 			D7
	-	 6. Collect information on environmental factors (S) 7. Explain the use of value chains in an outbreak investigation (K) 			D8
		1. None at the frontline level	 Recommend safe disposal methods for dead animals and manure when necessary (C) 	= Intermediate + 1. Apply basic verbal autopsy principles (S)	D9
	Human			 Recognize when to apply basic principles of safe burial during exploratory phase of an outbreak investigation (S) Describe basic protection 	D10
				nuclear environmental contamination at investigation team and community level (C)	D11
	al	 Conduct postmortems to verify the diagnosis and to collect samples for testing (S) Conduct case finding along the high-risk points of the value chain 	= Frontline	 = Intermediate + 1. Apply basic interviewing principles (S) 2. Recognize when to apply basic principles of safe burial during 	D12
	Anir	 wildlife interface, etc.) (C) Collect animal health-related data along the value chain (C) Collect samples from livestock, companion animals, fish, and wild 		 exploratory phase of an outbreak investigation (S) 3. Describe basic protection measures for proven radio- nuclear environmental contamination at investigation 	D13
	ient	animals (S)		team and community level (C)	D14
	Environm				

Subdomain 3.3

Domains

Data management and analysis

D1				
DI		Frontline	Intermediate	Advanced
D2	alth (Core)	 Enter and validate data (S) Conduct descriptive analyses of collected data (S) 	 = Frontline + 1. Use statistical/spatial analyses and interpret results (univariate) (C) 2. Generate hypotheses about 	 Intermediate + Analyse and interpret human, animal and environmental data to determine the potential origin and spread of an outbreak (C)
D3	One He		 cause/risk factors (C) 3. Apply analytical epidemiological investigation to identify the source, cause and or risk factor/ determinants (C) 	
D4	inal)	1. Interpret diagnostic test results	= Frontline	= Intermediate +
D5	One Health (Optio	laboratory (S)2. Relate lab results to case categories (S)		 Manage complex datasets and conduct multivariate analysis (C) Use advanced statistical/ geographical analyses/modelling and forecasting and interpret results (C)
D6	Human			 Conduct data analysis with regard to vulnerable groups (S)
D7	la	 Collect value chain data and draw simplified value chain map to identify potential spread routes 	= Frontline + 1. Draw and interpret a value chain map to identify potential spread	 Intermediate + Design value chain investigation and advanced analysis of data to
D8	Anin	and characterize risk (S) 2. Explain the use of value chain mapping in an outbreak investigation (K)	routes and high-risk points of an animal disease outbreak (S)	characterize risk (S)
D9	Environment			

D10

D11

D12

D13

Frontline

report (S)

Subdomain 3.4 **Reporting and follow-up interventions**

1. Prepare a standard investigation

2. Communicate results and

		D 1
Intermediate	Advanced	DI
= Frontline +	= Intermediate +	
1. Recommend and monitor intervention methods (C)	1. Report results of an investigation (S)	D2
	2. Integrate key results from reports of other authorities involved in the investigation (C)	D2
	3. Recommend evidence-based technical advice to national	03
	authorities (C)	

One Health (Core)	share recommendations with stakeholders (C)		 Integrate key results from reports of other authorities involved in the investigation (C) Recommend evidence-based technical advice to national authorities (C) Differentiate reporting formats and styles according to the target audience (C) Adapt communication strategy and message according to the target audience (C)
One Health (Optional)	1. Recommend disease prevention and control measures (C)	 = Frontline + 1. Assess the effectiveness of intervention methods (C) 2. Promote joint reporting across sectors (C) 	 Intermediate + Communicate with the media (C) Evaluate intervention methods (C) Prepare manuscripts to publish results of outbreak investigations in peer-reviewed journals (C) Present relevant findings orally at conferences (C)
Human			
Animal			
Environment			

D4

D5

D6

D8

D9

D10

D11

D12

D13

Domain D1 D2 D3 D4 D5

Domain 4 Disease management

Introduction

Disease management is an important domain for field epidemiologists at all levels, as it relates to understanding and control of endemic diseases. Specific knowledge, skills and competencies for One Health in the sub-domains of health systems and health service delivery, antimicrobial stewardship, immunizations, infectious and zoonotic diseases, and disease management during travel, mobility and movement are required for epidemiologists trained in One Health principles. Programmes may add optional competencies depending on specialization and the results of a workforce needs assessment.

At the frontline level, local communities rely on epidemiologists for prevention and control of high priority endemic diseases. Competencies at this level focus on supporting local human and animal health services, promotion of antimicrobial stewardship, implementation of high quality local immunization programming, application of control programmes for infectious diseases, and managing disease risk in the face of mobility and movement.

At the intermediate level, field epidemiologists have a more developed understanding of antimicrobial resistance (AMR), promote antimicrobial stewardship and the design, implementation and evaluation of immunization activities at the regional level. They also conduct infectious disease surveillance and investigations and oversee control measures.

At the advanced level, field epidemiologists have a broader knowledge of the regulatory framework and gaps related to human and animal health service delivery. They contribute to developing the knowledge base for AMR. In addition, advanced field epidemiologists advise policy-makers on effective vaccination programming, build capacity for surveillance and investigation of infectious and zoonotic diseases, including food, waterborne and vector-borne diseases, and manage the health risks and mitigation strategies related to cross border movement of humans and animals.

Cross-references

Knowledge, skills and competencies within this domain can be cross-referenced with the following domains:

- 2. Surveillance systems;
- 3. Field investigations;
- 5. Laboratory capacity;

6. Infection prevention and control, biosafety and biosecurity;

- 7. Preparedness and response;
- 10. Ecosystem health;
- 11. Leadership and management; and
- 12. Communication and community engagement.

Subdomains

- 1. Health systems and health service delivery
- 2. Antimicrobial stewardship
- 3. Immunizations
- 4. Infectious and zoonotic diseases
- 5. Disease management during travel, mobility and movement

Subdomain 4.1

Health systems and health service delivery

Domains

	Frontline	Intermediate	Advanced	D1
One Health (Core)	 Describe the role and responsibilities of frontline healthcare providers in prevention and early detection of diseases across the human-animal- environment sectors (K) Describe the healthcare delivery system (governance, regulatory and finance) for both humans and animals in the local area (K) 	= Frontline	 Intermediate + Distinguish between the roles and responsibilities of different institutions and organizations involved in human, animal and environment health service delivery at the national level (K) 	D2 D3
One Health (Optional)	 Describe perspectives, responsibilities, obligations and roles of diverse healthcare providers and animal health professionals in the community (government, private, nongovernmental, volunteer, traditional healer) and communicate / coordinate with them in an open manner (C) 	 = Frontline + 1. Explain the components of a health record management system, including electronic medical records where relevant, and the principles of using health records for disease investigations (C) 	 Intermediate + Demonstrate an understanding of system structure, funding mechanisms and how healthcare and animal health/veterinary services are organized (K) Describe the policy and regulatory framework within which human and animal health/veterinary services are provided and funded (K) Identify gaps (geographical, financial, cultural, ethnic or other) in healthcare and animal health/ veterinary service delivery (C) Establish vertical and horizontal coordination of disease prevention, intervention and control across the One Health interface (C) 	D4 D5 D6 D7 D8
Human	 Describe the role of community health workers in health service delivery (K) 	=Frontline	=Intermediate	D9
le	 Describe the respective roles of community animal health workers, veterinary paraprofessionals and veterinarians in animal health service delivery (K) Relate the challenges faced by community animal health workers in animal health workers 	= Frontline	 Intermediate + Describe options available to obtain stakeholder cooperation along the value chain (C) 	D10
Anim	 (K) 3. Describe animal health service availability along livestock value chains, including farms, markets and abattoirs, and note the nodes / critical control points (K) 4. Describe the importance of farmer and community engagement in animal health service delivery (K) 			D12
Environment				D14

Subdomain 4.2 Antimicrobial stewardship

Domains

D1				
		Frontline	Intermediate	Advanced
D2		 Explain the importance of antimicrobial stewardship (K) Promote antimicrobial stewardship at the local level (C) Collect antimicrobial usage and AMR data from human, animal and environment sectors (S) 	 = Frontline + 1. Describe the factors contributing to emergence and spread of antimicrobial resistant bacteria in human, animal and environment sectors (K) 2. Explain the AMR surveillance system 	 Intermediate + Illustrate the emergence and global spread of drug resistant organisms in human, animal and environment sectors (K) Describe the factors related to AMR spread and the impact of AMR on
D3			 and respective roles to regional stakeholders (S) Promote antimicrobial stewardship at the regional level (C) 	 human, animal and environment health (K) Assemble appropriate toolkits and materials for antimicrobial usage data
D4	Health (Core)			 collection and sampling for AMR (S) 4. Design and implement good practices behavior change to farmers/ communities (bottom-up approach) (C)
D5	One			5. Support national and facility-based efforts to reduce antibiotic resistance, including diagnostic and antimicrobial stewardship initiatives and reporting and sharing of information on resistant
D6				 6. microorganisms (C) 7. Formulate recommendations on the local and national AMR surveillance system (C) 8. Develop sampling protocols and SOPs
D7		1. Define AND and distinguish		in accordance with the objectives for an AMR surveillance system (S)
D8	(Optional)	 Define AMR and distinguish between intrinsic and acquired resistance (K) Interpret common laboratory results for identification of antimicrobial susceptibility (S) 	 Frontline + Describe the role of animal production and health in the development of antimicrobial resistance (K) Describe the role of the environment in AMR and the impact of AMR on the accepted and wildlife (K) 	 Intermediate + Develop an AMR surveillance strategy aligned with the national action plan (C) Evaluate the effectiveness of interventions to contain emergence and correct of resistant bacteria (C)
D9	One Health		 Demonstrate and train others to use clinical guidelines and judicious use principles when choosing appropriate empiric antimicrobial therapy (S) Collect both antimicrobial usage and AMR data as per predetermined schedule (S) 	 Coordinate AMR data sharing and analysis (C)
220				1. Link with clinical focal points for
D11	Human			antibiotic stewardship in healthcare facilities to implement training and technical guidance on prevention and investigation of nosocomial infections and promote evidence guided use of antibiotics (S)
D12		 Promote best practices for animal health (e.g., improved husbandry, biosecurity) that reduce farmer dependence on antimicrobials for 	= Frontline	 Intermediate + Conduct socioeconomic studies (e.g., cost-benefit, efficiency, impact assessment) to evaluate the
D13	Animal	disease prevention and growth promotion (C)Promote reasoned and controlled use of antimicrobials (C)		 relationship between improved animal husbandry practices and reduced need for antimicrobials (C) 2. Describe best practices for waste disposal and animal feed production to avoid antimicrobial contamination and resistance (K)
D14	vironment	1. Describe the role of the environment in antimicrobial resistance (K)	= Frontline	 = Intermediate + 1. Conduct environmental studies on antimicrobial resistance (C)
	Env			

Subdomain 4.3 Immunizations

Domains

	Frontline	Intermediate	Advanced	DI
	 Explain the health benefits of vaccines for public health, animal health, food security and livelihoods (K) 	 Frontline + 1. Conduct postvaccination monitoring (S) 2. Illustrate when and how to 	 Intermediate + Describe the different types of vaccines and other immunizing agents (e.g., immunoglobulins) (K) 	D2
	 Describe the principles and importance of proper vaccine storage (cold chain) and delivery to remote areas (K) 	conduct ring vaccination (K)3. Plan and conduct an immunization campaign (S)	 Explain different types of vaccine preventable diseases and their transmission dynamics (K) Explain the difference between 	D3
ore)	 Ensure implementation of appropriate processes for vaccine cold chain management, storage and supply (S) 		disease control, elimination, and eradication (K)4. Identify at risk populations and propose adjusted immunization	D4
One Health (C	 Demonstrate knowledge on appropriate vaccine administration and waste management (S) 		strategies and approaches (C)	D5
	5. Be able to communicate effectively in a context of vaccine			
	6. Explain vaccine adverse events (K)			D6
	 Explain causes of vaccine failure (K) 			
	 Distinguish between routine/ preventive, emergency and supplementary immunization activities (K) 			D7
	1. Summarize the basics of vascing	- Frontling +	- Intermediate +	D8
ional)	immunology (K)	1. Describe the basic principles of	1. Advise governments on the cost-	
th (Opti	2. Describe the difference between sterilizing and nonsterilizing	campaigns (K)	benefit of vaccines in the context of disease control (C)	ρq
ne Healt	immunity (K)		2. Conduct applied research on specific vaccine preventable	
0			disease in the context of an outbreak (C)	244
man				D10
Η̈́Π				
	1. Explain the cost-benefit of vaccines in the context of animal	= Frontline +	=Intermediate +	D11
Animal	production (K) 2. Apply appropriate vaccine administration according to vaccine type and animal species (K)	samples from relevant animal species for post-vaccination monitoring (S)	benefit of animal vaccines in the context of disease control (C)	D12
Environment	1. Describe different methods of vaccination for wildlife (K)	 Describe potential effects of live vaccine residues in the environment (S) 	= Intermediate	D13
				D14

Competencies for One Health field epidemiology (COHFE) framework

Domains Subdomain 4.4 Infectious diseases

D1				
		Frontline	Intermediate	Advanced
D2 D3 D4 D5	One Health (Core)	 Describe basic infectious disease transmission and terminology, including zoonotic diseases (K) Participate in infectious disease surveillance and investigations, including food, waterborne and vector-borne diseases (S) Apply infectious disease prevention and control measures (S) Describe the principles of water, sanitation and hygiene (K) Identify communities at risk for food, waterborne and vector- borne disease outbreaks (C) 	 = Frontline + 1. Conduct infectious disease surveillance and investigations, including food, waterborne and vector-borne diseases (S) 2. Describe the impact of infectious diseases (K) 3. Apply the principles of water, sanitation and hygiene in a real- life setting (S) 	 Intermediate + Develop a system for surveillance and investigation of infectious diseases, including food, waterborne and vector-borne diseases (S) Collaborate with partners to investigate infectious disease outbreaks and implement systems to better detect, control and prevent them (C) Distinguish between the roles of different organizations involved in food and water safety at the national level (K) Design water, sanitation and hygiene interventions and evaluate their effectiveness (C)
D6		1. Describe local food customs	= Frontline +	= Intermediate +
D7	e Health (Optional)	including social and cultural practices (K)	 Describe the role of wildlife slaughter, trade and consumption in transmission of zoonotic diseases (K) Develop and monitor case definition adherence and 	 Evaluate and revise infectious disease prevention strategies, including social and cultural aspects, according to data (C) Link analysis of environmental (climate related) data to outbreak
D8	One		surveillance components for food, waterborne and vector-borne diseases (S)	forecasting and enhanced surveillance of waterborne diseases (S)
D9	Human			
D10		 One Health + Describe required withdrawal times for pharmaceuticals used in meat, egg and milk producing animals (K) 	 = Frontline + 1. Describe monitoring of animal production, productivity and recording of health events (K) 2. Involvement enimal disease events (K) 	= Intermediate
D11	Animal	 Describe the veterinarian's role in oversight of slaughterhouse facilities, meat inspection and inspection of animal products 	2. Implement annual disease control measures, including culling animals, proper carcass disposal, and principles of biosecurity (C)	
D12		 processing establishments (K) 3. Apply basic priority disease prevention and control measures (S) 		
D13	Environment			

Subdomain 4.5

Disease management during travel, mobility, and movement

_			
_		~	

	Frontline	Intermediate	Advanced	D1
One Health (Core)	 Describe the potential risk of spreading animal diseases posed by movement of people, animals, animal products, by-products and fomites (vehicles, equipment, etc.) (K) 	 Frontline + Evaluate the potential risk of spreading animal diseases posed by movement of people, animals, and animal products (S) 	 = Intermediate + 1. Recommend and execute policies for quarantine and movement restrictions at the national level (S) 2. Outline health policies for cross-border travel, including immunizations (K) 	D2 D3 D4
One Health (Optional)	 Describe reasons for mobility of people and animals and potential impacts on spread of disease (K) Propose ways to mitigate disease risk in the face of mobility and movement (C) 	 Frontline Explain both economic costs and health benefits related to border control and movement restrictions (S) 	 Intermediate + Use network analysis to design disease prevention and control plans according to high-risk areas/ hot spots (C) 	D5 D6
Human		 Explain the concept of social distancing and its role in preventing disease transmission (K) 	 Intermediate + Describe unique health considerations for refugees and internally displaced persons (K) 	D7
Animat	 Describe the role of veterinary services in identification and traceability of live animals and animal products for human consumption (K) Describe local transhumance and restrictions on animal movement for disease prevention (K) Implement animal disease management plans (S) Establish animal movement / quarantine measures according to SOPs in cases of suspected notifiable disease (S) 	 = Frontline + 1. Describe both legal and illegal cross-border and restrictions on animal movement (K) 2. Use value chain analysis to describe the movements of animals and animal products and their corresponding transmission pathways (C) 3. Describe regional and national value-chains and how they impact movement and subsequent risk of disease spread in an outbreak (S) 4. Describe regional transhumance (K) 	 Intermediate + Evaluate a system for animal identification, registration, and traceability, describing any necessary improvements (C) Contribute to risk assessments and policy development for global trade of animal and animal products (S) Develop and evaluate animal disease management plans for different purposes (control, elimination, demonstrate freedom from disease, etc.) (C) Describe national and cross- border transhumance (K) 	D10
Environment			1. Contribute to risk assessments and policy development for global trade of wildlife and wildlife products (S)	D12

Laboratory capacity

Domains

Introduction

Domain 5

Laboratory capacity supports the confirmation of disease with epidemiological data generated by field epidemiologists, enabling formulation of a case definition with corresponding confirmatory diagnosis and application of prevention and control measures. It includes four subdomains that encompass: 1) sample/ specimen collection, labelling, storage and transport to the laboratory; 2) multisectoral planning and linking of diagnostic laboratory data with field epidemiology data across sectors; 3) multisectoral collaboration; and 4) analysis, interpretation, and reporting of laboratory data. This domain is foundational to a One Health approach for linking across the human-animalenvironment interface.

At the frontline level, field epidemiologists should be able to describe and implement risk management plans and standard operating procedures (SOP) to maintain biosafety and biosecurity when implementing necropsies, sample and specimen collection, labelling, handling, transportation and delivery of field samples/specimens to the laboratory, and preserve the cold chain to maintain sample integrity.

At the intermediate level, field epidemiologists monitor and support the frontline level who implement risk management plans and standard operating procedures to maintain biosafety and biosecurity while performing the above-noted duties, in addition to coordinating field sample collection with subnational and national laboratories and across sectors. The intermediate level field epidemiologist is also responsible for assessing basic test performance characteristics for both antigen- and antibody-based tests in relation to gold standard tests.

At the advanced level, a field epidemiologist evaluates, trains and leads the development, implementation and evaluation of risk management plans and SOP for the frontline and intermediate levels. The advanced level also conducts higher level test performance assessments and ensures effective multisectoral collaboration that links laboratory and field epidemiology data. This level is also responsible for analyses of laboratory data (i.e., trend analysis and multivariable analysis of secondary data) and supporting laboratory quality assurance.

Cross-references

Knowledge, skills and competencies within this domain can be cross-referenced with the following domains:

- 2. Surveillance systems;
- 3. Field investigations;
- 4. Disease management;

6. Infection, prevention and control, biosafety and biosecurity;

- 7. Preparedness and response;
- 8. Epidemiological studies; and
- 9. Data management, biostatistics, and informatics.

Subdomains

- 1. Necropsies, sample/specimen collection, labelling, storage and transport
- 2. Multisectoral planning and data linking
- 3. Multisectoral coordination
- 4. Analysis, interpretation and reporting of laboratory data

Subdomain 5.1

Necropsies, sample/specimen collection, labelling, storage, and transport

Domains

	Frontline	Intermediate	Advanced	
	 Implement universal biosafety and biosecurity precautions in specimen collection, handling, labelling, storage and transportation (S) Implement IPC SOPs for biosafety 	 Frontline + Monitor and support the application of universal biosafety and biosecurity precautions in specimen collection, handling, labelling, storage, transportation 	 Intermediate + Formulate universal biosafety and biosecurity precautions in specimen collection, handling, labelling, storage, transportation and biological wate disposal 	D2
alth (Core)	and biosecurity including equipment for specimen collection, labelling, handling, storage, transportation and biological waste disposal (e.g.,	 and biological waste disposal (e.g., needles) (S) 2. Coordinate the application of IPC SOPs for biosafety and biosecurity including equipment for specimen 	 (e.g., needles) (C) 2. Formulate the risk management plan and IPC SOPs for specimen collection, handling, labelling, cold chain and protocols 	D3
One He	needles) (S) 3. Document the specimen collection, labelling, handling, storage, cold chain, transportation	collection, labelling, handling, storage, transportation and biological waste disposal (e.g., needles) (C)	for packaging specimens for transport and biological waste disposal (e.g., needles) (C)	D4
	procedures and biological waste disposal (e.g., needles) applied (S)	 Monitor the documentation of specimen collection, labelling, handling, storage, cold chain, transportation procedures and 		D5
	1. Inclanante riek menerannent	biological waste disposal (e.g., needles) applied (S)		De
	 Implement a risk management plan for safe and humane specimen collection, handling, labelling, storage, and transportation including cold 	 Frontline + Monitor and support the risk management plan for safe and humane specimen collection, 	 Intermediate + Evaluate implementation of the risk management plan and SOP for biosafety, biosecurity 	Dī
ptional)	chain and appropriate protocols for packaging specimens for transport and biological waste disposal (e.g., needles) (S)	handling, labelling, storage, and transportation including specimen labelling, cold chain, appropriate protocols for packaging specimens for	and documentation for safe and humane specimen collection, labelling, cold chain, protocols for packaging specimens for transport and biological waste	D
One Health (O		transport and biological waste disposal (e.g., needles) (S)2. Contribute to the development of specimen collection SOPs (C)	 disposal (e.g., needles) (C) Provide training for frontline and intermediate levels related to the risk management plan and SOP for biosafety, biosecurity. 	Dg
			and documentation for specimen collection, labelling, handling, storage, cold chain, protocols for packaging specimens for	D1
Ę			transport and biological waste disposal (e.g., needles) (C)	D1
Humë				

D13

Subdomain 5.1 (cont.)

Domains

Necropsies, sample/specimen collection, labelling, storage, and transport

D1		Frontline	Intermediate	Advanced
D2		 Describe the risk of zoonotic and transboundary animal disease transmission when performing a necropsy and live animal 	 Frontline + Monitor the risk of zoonotic and transboundary animal disease transmission when performing 	 Intermediate + Evaluate the risk of zoonotic and transboundary animal disease transmission when performing
D3		specimen collection using SOPs (S) 2. Describe how the use of appropriate safe and humane	a necropsy and live animal specimen collection using SOPs (S)	a necropsy and live animal specimen collection using SOPs (C)
D4	-	restraint techniques for sample collection reduces the risk to animal health workers and prevents negative impact on the health wolfare, and productivity	 Monitor whether sale and humane restraint techniques are being used for sample collection for priority species (S) Monitor whether appropriate 	2. Evaluate restraint techniques and make recommendations to improve humane animal techniques and animal health worker safety (C)
D5	Animal 3.	of the animal (K) 3. Apply appropriate restraint techniques (physical or chemical) and sampling procedures for priority species (S)	personal protective equipment is being used during necropsy and live animal specimen collection to prevent the transmission of zoonotic and transboundary animal disease (S)	3. Evaluate the use of personal protective equipment and make recommendations for improving animal health worker safety through the prevention of zoonotic disease
D6		4. Demonstrate the appropriate use of personal protective equipment to prevent zoonotic and transboundary animal disease	 Monitor whether knowledge about the risk of zoonotic and transboundary animal disease transmission when 	and transboundary animal transmission (C)4. Evaluate knowledge about the risk of zoonotic and transboundary
D7		transmission for necropsy and sampling (S)	performing a necropsy and live animal specimen collection is demonstrated (S)	animal disease transmission when performing a necropsy and live animal specimen collection and make recommendations for training (C)
D8		1. Describe the risk of zoonotic disease transmission when performing a necropsy and live	=Frontline + 1. Monitor the risk of zoonotic disease transmission when	 Intermediate + Evaluate the risk of zoonotic disease transmission when
D9		 animal specimen collection (S) 2. Describe basic principles of IPC for safe specimen handling for wildlife (C) 	performing a necropsy and live animal specimen collection (S)2. Monitor methods and equipment for wildlife sample/specimen	performing a necropsy and live animal specimen collection (C)2. Evaluate if methods and equipment for wildlife sample/
D10	onment	 Use appropriate methods and equipment for wildlife sample/ specimen collection (S) Describe principles of animal restraint for sampling to prevent 	 collection for appropriateness (S) 3. Monitor animal restraint for sampling to prevent stress, injury, or death (C) 	 specimen collection are appropriately used (C) 3. Evaluate if animal restraint for sampling prevents stress, injury, or death (C)
D11	Envir	stress, injury, or death (K) 5. Describe and apply permit requirements to capture/restrain/ handle/sample wildlife or to	 Monitor permit requirements to capture/restrain/handle/sample wildlife or to perform necropsies (S) Monitor the use of personal 	 4. Evaluate permit requirements and apply for permits to capture/ restrain/handle/sample wildlife or to perform necropsies (C)
D12		 perform necropsies (S) 6. Demonstrate the appropriate use of personal protective equipment to prevent zoonotic or transboundary animal disease 	protective equipment to prevent zoonotic or transboundary animal disease transmission/spread during sampling (S)	5. Evaluate the use of personal protective equipment to prevent zoonotic or transboundary animal disease transmission/spread during sampling (C)
D13		transmission/spread during sampling (S)		

Competencies for One Health field epidemiology (COHFE) framework

Subdomain 5.2 Multisectoral planning and data linking

Domains

	Frontline	Intermediate	Advanced	D1
One Health (Core)	 Consult with laboratorians and field supervisors before, during and following field investigations (C) 	 = Frontline + 1. Coordinate with laboratorians to develop and carry out field investigations (C) 2. Describe the general characteristics and use of diagnostic tests and recognize specifications that may affect specimen collection, labelling, handling, transportation, storage, analysis and test results (S) 	 Intermediate + Lead the planning and implementation of field investigations and coordinate with laboratories (C) Apply epidemiological sampling concepts and techniques (e.g., sample size calculation, representativeness) to design laboratory research studies (C) Share assessment and evaluation reports with relevant stakeholders (S) 	D2 D3 D4
One Health (Optional)	 Describe the advantages and disadvantages of different types of diagnostic tests and when they should be applied (K) Describe the causes of false negative and false positive results and their impact on the interpretation of test results (K) 	 = Frontline + 1. Review the diagnostic tests available at the local level, confirm their legitimacy, and select those with the characteristics that meet the designated need for diagnosis and surveillance (C) 2. Calculate the geometric mean titer to assess population immune status (S) 3. Calculate estimates of sensitivity and specificity for all dichotomous diagnostic tests, including confidence intervals (S) 4. Explain precision and accuracy and how they are applied to field and laboratory diagnosis (S) 	 Intermediate + Evaluate the needs for joint training for epidemiologists and laboratory personnel to conduct joint field investigations (C) Design a multiple testing approach including parallel and serial diagnostics, considering the effects on the sensitivity and specificity, positive predictive value and negative predictive value of a testing protocol (C) Recommend statistical methods to estimate sensitivity and specificity with corresponding confidence intervals, criteria for determining sample size to evaluate a new diagnostic test, and statistical methods for evaluating a test when no gold standard is available (C) Evaluate diagnostic tests, including enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay, using the Receiver Operating Characteristic curve system (S) Conduct quality assurance of joint field and laboratory interactions, including reporting, across the interface (S) 	D5 D6 D7 D8 D9 D10 D11
Human				D12
ent Animal				D13
Environme				D14

Subdomain 5.3 Multisectoral coordination

Domains

D1				
DI		Frontline	Intermediate	Advanced
D2		 Describe the importance of multisectoral linking of laboratory and field data (K) Identify contact persons at central and local level laboratories for supplies, specimen collection, labelling, handling, submission and testing (S) 	 =Frontline + 1. Develop suspect, probable and confirmed case definitions (C) 	 Intermediate + Lead and facilitate collaboration among clinical, laboratory, and public health institutions (C)
D3	ne Health (Core)		 2. Enh tabolatory with neta data to support decision-makers across the interface (C) 3. Coordinate with the contact persons at central and local level 	2. Integrate and analyse laboratory and field data to support decision- makers across the human-animal- environment interface (C)
D4	ō		laboratories for sample testing (C)	3. Assess conflicting results (false positives, false negatives) from laboratory and field data for impact on data quality and decision-making (S)
D5	onal)	1. Explain the complementary contributions of field epidemiology and laboratory	= Frontline + 1. Facilitate interactions between field opidamiclogists and	= Intermediate + 1. Manage and coordinate data
D6	One Health (Opti	 diagnostics to construct case definitions (C) 2. Describe the different organizational structures of field epidemiology and laboratory diagnostic services (K) 	laboratory, across the interface at the subnational institutional level (C)	all stakeholders (C)
D7	Human			
D8	Animal			
D9	Environment			

D10

D11

D12

D13

Subdomain 5.4

Analysis, interpretation and reporting of laboratory data

	Frontline	Intermediate	Advanced	D1
ne Health (Core)	 Collaborate with laboratory experts to describe the context of data being analysed (C) Interpret results and make recommendations to improve data quality, including timeliness and completeness (C) 	 Frontline + 1. Conduct descriptive and univariable and bivariable analysis and display of secondary laboratory data according to person/animal-place-time including spatial analysis tools (S) 2. Contribute to monthly, quarterly and annual laboratory summary reports (S) 	 Intermediate + 1. Conduct univariable and bivariable and multivariable analyses and display secondary laboratory data according to person/animal-place-time to support joint risk assessments (S) 2. Evaluate, integrate and report field and laboratory data to conduct trend analysis (e.g., time 	D2 D3
0		3. Monitor and coordinate feedback to stakeholders (C)	 series analysis) (C) 3. Provide quality assurance of laboratory data and provide guidance on the analysis of laboratory data for public health and animal health importance (C) 	D4 D5
otional)	 Conduct univariable analysis and display of secondary laboratory data including basic spatial and temporal trends according to person/animal-place-time (S) Incorporate laboratory data in 	 = Frontline + 1. Calculate sensitivity, specificity, Positive Predictive Value and Negative Predictive Value (S) 2. Interpret the results accounting for factors, such as context, 	= Intermediate +	D6
One Health (Op	 epidemiological analysis (S) Provide oral and written reports to important stakeholders (S) Summarize the value of laboratory data and its impact on public health and animal health decisions (C) 	 frequency of disease, sensitivity and specificity of the test, prevalence, and host relationship, that can affect the results (C) 3. Assess the quality of laboratory data and provide guidance on the analysis of laboratory data for public health and animal health importance (C) 		D7
Human				D9
Animal				D10
Environment				D11

Domains

D13

D12

D1

Introduction

Domain 6

Infection prevention and control (IPC), biosafety and biosecurity are essential to prevent the transmission of disease pathogens within and among humans, animals and the environment. The health and safety of human and animal health workers includes field epidemiologists and laboratory personnel. IPC is a term adopted by the human health sector and considered equivalent in intent to biosafety and biosecurity, the terms most often used in animal health. However, there may be some differences in how IPC, biosafety and biosecurity are applied in the field or laboratory. For field personnel, effective implementation of IPC, biosafety and biosecurity are essential to incorporate while conducting daily field duties in order to protect human health and prevent transmission of disease pathogens. The field and laboratory worker will maintain awareness of preceding, current and proceeding activities during the course of daily activities to prevent and control unwanted human exposure and disease pathogen transmission. This mindset is referred to as 'situational awareness' and is used by firefighters and emergency responders during an emergency. It can be practised at the level of an individual, a team or a task force during an emergency.

Infection prevention and control, biosafety and biosecurity

At the frontline level, field epidemiologists possess the necessary competencies and skills to apply IPC, biosafety and biosecurity in their daily work to protect human health and prevent transmission of disease pathogens.

At the intermediate level, field epidemiologists are responsible for applying, coordinating and supporting preparedness, and training on implementation and evaluation of IPC, biosafety and biosecurity to protect human health and prevent the transmission of disease pathogens, including those demonstrating antimicrobial resistance.

At the advanced level, a field epidemiologist is responsible for applying and leading on preparedness, training, implementation and evaluation of IPC, biosafety and biosecurity for the frontline and intermediate levels to protect human health and prevent the transmission of disease pathogens, including those demonstrating antimicrobial resistance.

Cross-references

Knowledge, skills and competencies within this domain can be cross-referenced with the following domains:

4. Disease management;

- 5. Laboratory capacity;
- 7. Preparedness and response; and
- 13. Training.

Subdomains

- 1. Infection prevention and control, biosecurity and biosafety preparedness
- 2. Infection prevention and control, biosecurity and biosafety implementation procedures
- 3. Continuous quality improvement evaluation

Subdomain 6.1

Infection prevention and control, biosecurity and biosafety preparedness

-			•	
1.1.		۰.		

	Frontline	Intermediate	Advanced	
	 Describe mechanisms for disease transmission and the Disease Interventions Model (K) 	 Frontline + Monitor the availability and application of SOPs and 	 = Intermediate + 1. Formulate SOPs and guidelines (C) 2. Train and mentor frontline and 	D2
:	2. Describe basic definitions of IPC, biosafety and biosecurity and provide examples for laboratory and field procedures (K)	 guidelines (S) 2. Monitor the availability of PPE (S) 3. Explain how to assess risk in the field or in the laboratory (C) 	 Inam and mentor monthle and intermediate level professionals (C) Conduct risk assessments related to IPC, biosafety and biosecurity 	D
	 Define the principles of biosafety (K) 	 Monitor and train the frontline 	(C)	
	4. Describe the principles of biosecurity (K)	level on the use of PPE (C)	 Evaluate the availability of and compliance to SOPs and guidelines (C) 	D
	 Describe the tools and methods applied for biosecurity and biosafety (K) 		5. Lead multisectoral collaboration with respect to preparedness (C)	
l (Core)	 Describe best practices for donning and doffing personal protective equipment (PPE), 		 Lead advocacy efforts to apply best practices for IPC, biosafety and biosecurity at all levels (C) 	D!
One Health (safe collection, handling and submission of field samples and specimens, movement between disease zones and waste management (K)			De
	 Describe the roles and responsibilities of epidemiology field team members for suspect and positive premises (K) 			D
	 Explain why is critical to separate so-called clean and dirty field teams (K) Describe how to establish and 			D
	 Green-Yellow-Red zones) (C) Apply IPC, biosafety and 			DS
	biosecurity procedures in classroom and field training			
	 Describe human health and safety principles under an all-hazards 	= Frontline + 1. Monitor the availability of the	= Intermediate + 1. Coordinate PPE procurement (C)	D1
onal)	 approach (K) 2. Describe standard operating procedures for safe entry and exit related to vehicles (mobile) and on premises (stationary) (K) 	necessary communication channels, resources and inventories (S)	coordinate : processionent (c)	D1
One Health (Op	 Describe best practices for situational awareness principles for biosafety and biosecurity at personal, field team and task force levels (S) 			D1
	 4. Describe IPC methods and SOPs to promote health and safety related to antimicrobial resistance (S) 			D1

Subdomain 6.1 (cont.)

Domains

Infection prevention and control, biosecurity and biosafety preparedness

D1		Frontling	Intermediate	Advanced
		rionume	intermediate	Auvaliceu
D2	Human			
D3		 Describe basic biosecurity principles provided in FAO's Good Emergency Management Practice (GEMP) Essentials Guide⁴ (K) Describe sensific biosefetiered 	 Frontline + Monitor the application of basic biosecurity principles provided in FAO's GEMP Essentials Guide (S) 	 Intermediate + Evaluate the application of basic biosecurity principles provided in FAO's GEMP Essentials Guide (C)
D4	nimal	 Describe specific biosafety and biosecurity requirements and adaptations required for humane culling and disposal and along the value chains for farms, transportation collection points 	2. Monitor conformance with specific biosafety and biosecurity requirements and adaptations required for humane culling and disposal and along the value	2. Evaluate conformance with specific biosafety and biosecurity requirements and adaptations required for humane culling and disposal and along the value
D5	Æ	markets, abattoirs, retail sales, laboratories, border points of entry (S)	 Chains (S) Monitor conformance with SOPs of biosafety and biosecurity for farmers, marketers, etc. (S) 	 chains (C) 3. Evaluate conformance with SOPs of biosafety and biosecurity for farmers, marketers, etc. (C)
D6		 Describe SOPs of biosalety and biosecurity for farmers, marketers, etc. (K) Describe basic methods of biosecurity assessment audits (C) 	 Monitor biosecurity assessment audits (S) 	 Conduct biosecurity assessment audits (C)
D7	Environment			
D8				
D9				
D10				
D11				
D12				
D13				
D14				

4 https://www.fao.org/documents/card/en/c/68b14f27-5234-51f3-b46e-8ecea0029d9b/

Subdomain 6.2

Infection prevention and control, biosecurity and biosafety implementation procedures

Domains

	Frontline	Intermediate	Advanced	D1
core)	 Maintain a PPE inventory (S) Perform donning and doffing (S) Apply a health and safety SOP (S) 	 = Frontline + 1. Monitor the application of SOP and guidelines (S) 2. Contribute to a risk assessment and apply corrective measures (C) 	 = Intermediate + 1. Conduct an emergency situation risk assessment (C) 2. Formulate disease specific prevention and control plans (C) 	D2
Health (C		 Implement a disease control and prevention plan (S) Identify strengths and weaknesses 	3. Evaluate the efficiency of control measures (C)	D3
One		 Identify strengths and weaknesses in the application of SOP, guidelines and plans in the field (C) Train the frontline level on IPC, biosafety and biosecurity (C) 		D4
	 Maintain situational awareness and communication at personal, field team and task force levels (S) 	= Frontline + 1. Monitor the application of an emergency plan (C)	 Intermediate + Formulate an infection prevention and control plan (C) 	D5
tional)	 Provide basic advocacy and community training (C) Assist with coordinating field member accient for 	 Coordinate field member assignments for biosafety and biosecurity (C) 	 Identify context specific training needs and design relevant training programmes (C) 	D6
One Health (Opt	 4. Create three protective containment zones for suspect and positive premises (C) 	 Design community-based advocacy and awareness activities (C) 	 Deliver training activities (C) Ensure multisectoral collaboration (C) Design the activities to lead advocacy for following best 	D7
	 Implement safe entry and exit and waste management SOP including sample and data collection, handling and shipping, and vehicles (S) 		practices for implementation IPC, biosafety and biosecurity procedures (C)	D8
Human				D9
	 Implement specific biosafety and biosecurity requirements required for humane culling and disposal and along the value chains for 	 Frontline + Monitor implementation of specific biosafety and biosecurity requirements required for 	 Intermediate + Evaluate implementation of specific biosafety and biosecurity requirements required for 	D10
nimal	farms, transportation, collection points, markets, abattoirs, retail sales, laboratories, border points of entry (C) 2. Implement SOPs of biosafety and	humane culling and disposal and along the value chains for farms, transportation, collection points, markets, abattoirs, retail sales, laboratories, border points of	humane culling and disposal and along the value chains for farms, transportation, collection points, markets, abattoirs, retail sales, laboratories, border points of	D11
A	 biosecurity for farmers, marketers, etc. (S) 3. Implement basic methods of biosecurity assessment audits (S) 	entry (C) 2. Monitor implementation of SOPs for biosafety and biosecurity for farmers, marketers, etc. (S)	entry (C) 2. Evaluate implementation of SOPs for biosafety and biosecurity for farmers, marketers, etc. (C)	D12
		3. Monitor implementation of basic methods of biosecurity assessment audits (S)	3. Evaluate implementation of basic methods of biosecurity assessment audits (C)	D13
Environment				D14

Subdomain 6.3

Domains

Continuous quality improvement evaluation

D1				
		Frontline	Intermediate	Advanced
D2 D3	One Health (Core)	 Describe IPC, biosafety and biosecurity procedures (K) Describe complete IPC, biosafety and biosecurity information to evaluators (K) 	 = Frontline + 1. Document IPC, biosafety and biosecurity procedures, including challenges and successes in implementation (S) 2. Explain IPC, biosafety and biosafety information (S) 3. Administer basic biosafety and biosecurity evaluation tools (S) 	 Intermediate + Evaluate IPC, biosafety and biosecurity procedures (C) Evaluate IPC, biosafety and biosecurity implementation successes and challenges and develop corrective actions (C)
D4		 Describe challenges and successes in implementing biosafety and 	= Frontline + 1. Monitor specific biosafety and	= Intermediate + 1. Lead audits of IPC, biosafety and
D5	(Optional)	 biosecurity procedures (C) 2. Apply basic biosafety and biosecurity evaluation tools (S) 2. Apply specific biosafety and 	biosecurity evaluation required at border points of entry (S)	biosecurity practices (C)2. Develop a biosecurity protocol to visit premises (C)
D6	One Health (3. Apply specific biosafety and biosecurity evaluation required at border points of entry (S)		 Lead evaluation of IPC, biosafety and biosecurity plan using appropriate tools (C) Lead specific biosafety and biosecurity evaluation and adaptations required at border points of entry (C)
D7	Human			
D8		1. Apply evaluation principles provided in FAO's GEMP Essentials	= Frontline + 1. Monitor the application of	= Intermediate + 1. Evaluate the application of
D9	limal	 Guide (S) 2. Apply specific biosafety and biosecurity evaluation tools required for humane culling and disposal and along the value chains for farms, transportation, collection points, markets, abattoirs, retail sales, laboratories, border points of entry (S) 	 principles provided in FAO's GEMP Essentials Guide (S) 2. Monitor specific biosafety and biosecurity evaluation tools required for humane culling and disposal and along the value chains for farms, transportation, collection points, markets, abattoirs, retail sales, laboratories, border points of entry (S) 	 principles provided in FAO's GEMP Essentials Guide (C) 2. Evaluate specific biosafety and biosecurity evaluation tools and adaptations required for
D10	Ar			humane culling and disposal and along the value chains for farms, transportation, collection points, markets, abattoirs, retail sales, laboratories, border points of entry (C)
D11	ronment			
D12	Envii			

D13

Domain 7 Preparedness and response

Introduction

Epidemiologists play an integral role in preparing for and responding to emergency disease threats for both humans and animals. Epidemics of novel zoonotic viruses, including recently emergent viruses, such as SARS CoV-2, Ebola, Nipah virus, avian influenza and HIV, have been linked to human activities such as deforestation, agricultural expansion and intensification, urbanization, hunting, travel and wildlife trade. To minimize the impact of these incidents, epidemiologists trained in the One Health approach require competencies in the following areas: early detection of disease threats; performance of risk assessments; policy development, adaptation and implementation; cross-sectoral coordination and incident command; and emergency risk communication. They must be prepared to coordinate, cooperate, and collaborate with cross-sector partners and organizations when emergencies occur, regardless of the type, scale, or severity. In addition, some countries may choose to include training in specific types of preparedness and response for mass gatherings, humanitarian crises and natural disasters, or chemical, biological, radiological and nuclear threats (CBRN).

At the frontline level, field epidemiologists understand emergency threats and risks, are aware of policies and plans for emergency response, and follow up on reported events, contribute to cross-sectoral coordination at the local level and deliver emergency risk communication messages.

At the intermediate level, field epidemiologists critically appraise information about potential health threats, participate in risk assessments, provide scientific information for policy development, identify preparedness gaps and solutions, lead crosssectoral coordination, understand the workings of an emergency operations center, and help develop emergency risk communication messages. At the advanced level, field epidemiologists determine when and how to initiate a field investigation to assess a potential emergency health threat. In addition, can determine priority health risks by performing risk assessments, identify policy gaps and advocate for measures to address them, understand the structure and role of an emergency operation center, assume a leadership role in emergency simulation exercises, and engage appropriately for emergency risk communication to the media and the general public.

Cross-references

Knowledge, skills and competencies within this domain can be cross-referenced with the following domains:

1. Foundational knowledge and skills; 2. Surveillance systems; 3. Field investigations; 4. Disease management; 5. Laboratory capacity; 6. Infection, prevention and control, biosecurity, and biosafety; 10. Ecosystem health; 11. Leadership and management; 12. Communication and community engagement; 13. Training; and 14. Ethics. **Subdomains** 1. Detection of health threats 2. Risk assessments 3. Policy development, adaptation and implementation 4. Preparedness and response planning 5. Cross-sectoral coordination and incident management 6. Emergency risk communication 7. Mass gatherings 8. Humanitarian crises and natural disasters 9. Chemical, biological, radiological and nuclear emergencies

Subdomain 7.1 Detection of health threats

Domains

D1				
01		Frontline	Intermediate	Advanced
D2		 List priority emerging infectious diseases relevant to the area and their likely modes of transmission (K) List sources of information about potential health threats (S) 	 = Frontline + Apply knowledge of the microbiological and epidemiological characteristics of pathogens of epidemic potential to interpret information on 	 Intermediate + Engage with laboratories to ensure capacities and proficiency for testing for pathogens of epidemic potential (C) Use event-based, indicator-
D3		 Describe the microbiological and epidemiological characteristics of pathogens of epidemic potential (K) 	 emerging threats (S) 2. Describe and critically appraise information from surveillance systems and other sources to identify potential health threats 	based and innovative (novel) surveillance to detect health threats (C)3. Identify when case reports or clusters require further
D5	One Health (Core)		(S)3. Interpret the results and implications of existing environmental monitoring systems (S)	investigation and know how to initiate field investigations (C)4. Evaluate the implications of national or international health alerts (C)
D6				 Identify organism responsible for a disease outbreak and its epidemiological characteristics (C) Describe protocols for notifying WHO or WOAH of a potential
D7				 health threat (K) 7. Advise the delegate responsible for reporting (S) 8. Evaluate whether a potential health threat is notifiable under
D8		1. List sources of international	= Frontline +	= Intermediate +
D9	(Optional)	 health alerts (K) 2. Describe existing environmental monitoring systems (S) 3. Evaluate whether a health threat is notentially deliberate 	 Critically appraise international health alerts to assess their local implications (S) Identify the use and limitations of diagnostic methods and their 	 Design new or adapt existing environmental monitoring systems for emerging concerns about environmental contamination (C)
D10	One Health	 and requires collaboration with security forces (C) 4. Describe how to notify and collaborate with security forces about a potentially deliberate 	interpretation to characterize health risks (S)	 Identify environmental, climate anomalies or thresholds associated with the health threats (C)
D11	Human	nealth threat (K)		
D12	Animal			
D13	onment			 Describe how environmental or climate anomalies are cumulative and their persistence over time (S) Man areas of exceedance for
D14	Envir			environmental or climate anomalies to identify at risk areas (S)

Subdomain 7.2 Risk assessments

1000			
1.1			c
			2

	Frontline	Intermediate	Advanced	D1
alth (Core)	1. Describe how to identify hazards (K)	 = Frontline + 1. Describe the steps for conducting quantitative risk assessments (K) 2. Describe the components of risk analysis (K) 3. Identify gaps in data and 	 Intermediate + Determine priority health risks by performing a risk assessment (C) Prepare a risk assessment report with recommended management approaches for identified risks (C) 	D2 D3
One He		knowledge that could help clarify risk (S)	 Incorporate the results and implications of risk assessments in emergency risk communication (C) Use risk assessment results to inform risk-based surveillance (C) 	D4
al)	 Define risk and describe the risk assessment process (K) Describe the steps for conducting qualitative risk assessments (K) 	 Frontline + Describe risk assessment tools, such as the Tripartite Joint Risk Assessment Operational Tool (K) 	 Intermediate + Develop national all-hazards plan and mitigation plans (C) 	D5
Health (Optional	 Characterize the current and potential risk pathways of population exposure to biological, chemical, radiological and nuclear 	 Participate in a risk assessment (C) Perform joint risk assessments for One Health (C) 		D6
One	threats (S) 4. Contribute to a risk assessment (S)	 Communicate the results and implications of risk assessments to policymakers with different backgrounds (S) 		D7
Human				D8
Animal			 Use risk assessments to establish risk-based surveillance for demonstration of disease freedom or elimination (C) Describe WOAH import risk 	D9
nment			analysis (K)	D10
Enviro				D11

D12

D13

Domains Subdomain 7.3

Policy development, adaptation and implementation

D1				
DI		Frontline	Intermediate	Advanced
D2				 Assess emergency response policies and communicate them to relevant stakeholders (C)
D3	One Health (Core)			
D4	0			
D5	lal)	 Describe the policies, plans, and frameworks relevant to emergency response (K) Describe the different levels and 	 Frontline + Synthesize scientific information and recognize implications for policy frameworks (C) 	 Intermediate + Participate in assessments of legal frameworks and policies and propose/advocate measures to
D6	e Health (Option	 Describe the underent levels and triggers for border restrictions during an emergency (K) Describe how trade and travel restrictions can be used as a tool 	policy nameworks (c)	 address gaps based on current or potential health events (C) Communicate policies/guidelines, weigh benefits and costs, describe
D7	One	for disease control (S		concerns about implementation and adapt policies related to border control, trade and movement restrictions (C)
D8	Human			
D9	Animal			 Use risk assessments to establish risk-based surveillance for demonstration of disease freedom or elimination (C) Describe WOAH import risk analysis (K)
D10	vironment			
D11	Env			
UTT .				

D12

D13

Subdomain 7.4

Preparedness and response planning

_				
		-		

	Frontline	Intermediate	Advanced	D1
One Health (Core)	 Describe the principles of disease prevention, control and treatment (K) Describe the basic principles of responder safety and health, including PPE (K) Describe the roles and responsibilities of rapid response teams and participate in a response activity (S) 	 Frontline + Identify potential control strategies for emerging pathogens (S) Document vaccine distribution channels and plan for vaccination of high risk and other target groups (S) Solicit input from human and animal healthcare workers when developing emergency response plans (S) Educate health professionals about safety measures, medical countermeasures, and vaccines, including how to mitigate personal risk (S) Identify preparedness gaps and propose solutions (C) 	 Intermediate + Develop protocols and test and exercise processes for health emergency operations and their activation (C) Assess implementation of preparedness plans for necessary changes (C) Identify thresholds that trigger each phase of an outbreak response (C) Coordinate vaccination plans and criteria for vaccination of target groups (C) Establish reliable systems for dissemination of case definitions to standardize diagnosis and reporting of case numbers (e.g., confirmed, suspected, probable and possible cases) (C) Play a leadership role in development of an emergency preparedness and response plan consistent with published guidelines (C) 	D2 D3 D4 D5 D6 D7
One Health (Optional)	 Describe published guidelines for emergency preparedness, including WHO's Emergency Response Framework and FAO's Good Emergency Management Practices (K) Describe the main aspects of emergency plans (resources, personnel, material, etc.) and any existing emergency preparedness and response plans relevant to the area (national, regional or local) (K) 	 = Frontline + 1. Share appropriate countermeasure information with decision-makers (S) 2. Describe the plans for medical surge at the national level (K) 3. Describe tools that assess emergency planning and preparedness (e.g., JEE, GEMP) (K) 4. Participate in an emergency response simulation (S) 5. Participate in the development of an emergency preparedness and response plan consistent with published guidelines (S) 6. Describe major cost factors during response activities (K) 	 Intermediate + Demonstrate the ability to make decisions under uncertainty (C) Identify key assumptions behind plans, identify untenable assumptions, and advocate changes as needed (C) Plan for the storage and stockpiling of vaccines and prepare for medical and non-medical countermeasures (C) Play a supervisory role in an emergency response simulation (C) Lead an emergency response simulation (C) Develop a plan for financing an emergency response (C) 	D8
Human			 Work with clinicians to develop medical surge plans for various threats (C) Communicate continuum of care plans to clinical staff to effectively manage surge needs (C) 	D12
Animal				D13
Environment				D14

Subdomain 7.5

Domains

Cross-sectoral coordination and incident management

D1				
DI		Frontline	Intermediate	Advanced
D2	(e	 List the relevant partners and their roles and responsibilities in an emergency response (K) Describe incident command 	 Frontline + Use designated channels for efficiently communicating with relevant decision-makers (S) 	 Intermediate + Communicate with international partners and report emergencies as required by the IHR (C)
D3)ne Health (Core	 structures (K) Communicate with response partners about key roles, responsibilities and risks (C) 	 Implement agreed strategies, policies and procedures (S) Organize meetings and facilitate communication between partners 	 Share information with relevant partners across disciplines according to data sharing policies and restrictions (C)
D4		4. Maintain ongoing relationships with relevant partners (C)	across different disciplines and organizations (C)	3. Share information with response managers and decision-makers to support decisions on appropriate countermeasures (C)
D5			 Describe the legal frameworks related to incident command structures (K) Describe the structure and functions of the superspan. 	 Intermediate + Create and update an incident management plan that adapts existing policies to the situation at head (C)
D6	(Optional)		 operations center and task force, if applicable (K) 3. Describe roles and responsibility 	 Ensure adequate preparations for implementing health screening at borders (C)
D7	One Health		of emergency operations center officers (K)	3. Review, test and update the SOPs for establishing a multiunit task force for coordination and integration of relevant sectors during response operations (C)
D8				 Integrate business continuity into preparedness and response plans for infectious disease pandemics (C)
D9	Human			 Coordinate with clinicians to evaluate evidence on patient treatment and infection control during an outbreak (C)
D10	Animal			 Intermediate + Communicate and collaborate with farmers and the private sector in the detection and
D11				control of animal health threats (C)
D12	nvironment			

D13

Subdomain 7.6 Emergency risk communication

Domains

	Frontline	Intermediate	Advanced	10
	 Describe social mobilization, health promotion and other population engagement mechanisms that could be 	 Frontline + 1. Identify communication mechanisms that are trusted by the public partners and 	 Intermediate + Prevent and counter misinformation (C) 	D2
e Health (Core)	leveraged for emergency risk communication strategy (S)	community influencers (C)	 Assess and address the needs of the news media and the general public (C) Use various data gathering 	D3
One H			methods such as surveys, focus groups, interviews, media and social media monitoring to assess the effectiveness of the emergency risk communication strategy (C)	D4
ptional)	 Describe the principles of risk communication (K) Explain economic, political, 	= Frontline + 1. Explain the placement of emergency risk communication	= Intermediate	D5
One Health (O	social and cultural barriers to emergency risk communication (S)	functions in the organizational leadership function and response cycle of emergency preparedness and response (K)		D6
Human				D7
Animal				D8
onment				
Envir				D9

D11

D12

D13

Domains Subdomain 7.7 Mass gatherings

D1		Frontline	Intermediate	Advanced
D2 D3	One Health (Core)	 Define mass gathering (K) List types of planned and spontaneous mass gatherings that involve people or animals (K) Participate in monitoring and surveillance of mass gatherings involving people or animals (S) 	 = Frontline + 1. Describe the impact of mass gatherings on the health of humans, animals and the environment (K) 2. Participate in health preparedness planning for mass gathering events (S) 	 Intermediate + Use risk assessment and risk management for health threats to guide preparedness planning for mass gatherings (C)
D4			3. Engage with stakeholders, including event organizers, to build relationships and trust (C)	
D5				 Include health promotion and public information when planning for mass gatherings (C) Develop a clear, well tested operational plan for a mass
D6	(1			gathering, including surveillance and laboratory testing, describing the roles and responsibilities of stakeholders (C)
D7	Health (Optiona			 Adapt risk communication to the specific cultural, social, political and economic context of the event (C) Monitor and ensure the safety.
D8	One			 Monitor and ensure the safety of food and water sources at the mass gathering event (C) Evaluate preparedness for disasters at mass gatherings
D9				including crowd management, event access and evacuation points, fire safety measures, environmental risks, medical preparedness and emergency response (C)
D10				1. Train and equip those involved in the health planning for the mass gathering to meet reporting obligations under the IHB (C)
D11	Human			 Develop a strategy to provide and coordinate event specific medical services that can handle minor injuries or illness and have
D12				scalability and triage capacity to handle a large surge in cases (C) 1. Use risk assessment and risk
D13	t Anima			management for animal health threats to guide preparedness planning for animal exhibits (C)
D14	Environmen			

Subdomain 7.8

Humanitarian crises and natural disasters

Domains

	Frontline	Intermediate	Advanced	D.
One Health (Core)	 Participate in the planning and response to humanitarian crises and natural disasters (S) 	 = Frontline + 1. Describe the phases of humanitarian response, including preparedness and contingency, disaster risk reduction, response and recovery (K) 4. Participate in a human or animal health assessment as part of a humanitarian response (S) 	 = Intermediate + 1. Conduct an initial rapid assessment and more detailed follow-up human and animal assessments (C) 2. Contribute to interagency coordination (e.g., through participation in the health, food security and agriculture or other relevant cluster) (C) 	D: D:
		 Contribute to development of the response plan (C) Facilitate the personal safety and security of team members during the response (C) 	 Describe the political and cultural contexts underlying humanitarian crises (S) Determine the scale of a crisis and assess gaps (C) Establish surveillance and a health 	D:
alth (Optional)			 information management system during a crisis or disaster (C) 4. Develop and implement a health sector response and recovery plan (C) 	D
One He			 (C) 5. Identify gaps in health service provision and make recommendations to fill them (C) C. C. Hill the provision of the fill them (C) 	D
			6. Contribute to rebuilding of human and animal health system capacities, One Health coordination and ecosystem sustainability during recovery (C)	D
Human				D
	1. Describe the importance of	= Frontline +	= Intermediate +	
	disasters (K)	 Describe the role of livestock in the nutrition and livelihoods of people affected by humanitarian 	 Explain the special considerations for animals during each phase of a crisis or disaster (K) 	D1
Animal		crises and natural disasters (K)	 Describe the specific considerations for each high priority animal species during a crisis or disaster (K) Develop and implement an animal health recourse and recourse along 	D1
			(C)	D1
Environment	 Describe the environmental impact of disasters (K) 	= Frontline	 Intermediate + Describe the FAO Livestock Emergency Guidelines and Standards (K) 	D1

Domains Subdomain 7.9

Chemical, biological, radiological and nuclear emergencies

D1				
T		Frontline	Intermediate	Advanced
D2	rre)	1. Describe basic characteristics of critical CBRN threats (K)	 Frontline + Coordinate and collaborate with professionals investigating a CBRN threat (S) 	 Intermediate + Identify CBRN priorities, problems and available resources, to include health infrastructure
D3	One Health (Co			medical countermeasures and protective equipment (S) 2. Collaborate with partners, including military or armed
D4				forces, to prepare for CBRN events through desktop or simulation exercises (C)
D5	alth (Optional)		 Detect a CBRN related health event (S) 	 Intermediate + Explain planning, logistics and operational plans as part of the CBRN defense efforts (S)
P.6	One He			 Anticipate CBRN threats and develop new capabilities to counter emerging threats (C)
D6	Human			
D7	Animal			
D8	Environment			
D9				
D10				
D11				
D12				
D13				

Domain 8: Epidemiologic studies

Introduction

Epidemiological studies include cross-sectional, case control and cohort studies as well as field trials and intervention studies. Epidemiological studies can be applied in two ways. They can be conducted as part of normative public health and animal health observational and experimental field epidemiology studies using a traditional linear hypothesis driven approach, respectively. Alternatively, epidemiological studies may be incorporated as a part of more expansive One Health research across the humananimal-environment interface. Application of epidemiological studies under One Health includes the incorporation of multidisciplinary, systems-based, and mixed-methods (qualitative and quantitative) approaches that include epidemiological, social and economic inputs. Related sector specific studies are also included and can be classified as special studies.

Epidemiologists at the frontline level assist in generating high quality descriptive field data to contribute to observational (cross-sectional, case control, cohort) and experimental studies (field trials and other intervention studies). They also contribute to the development and implementation of case studies and case series. The frontline is a key point of contact with communities through local advocacy and communication to support epidemiological field study, planning, implementation, and reporting.

An intermediate level epidemiologist monitors the quality of descriptive field data and provides preliminary analysis for observational and experimental studies. The intermediate level contributes to and facilitates development and implementation of epidemiological studies horizontally along sectoral lines and vertically between frontline and advanced levels under a One Health approach.

An advanced epidemiologist leads the design, planning, and implementation of traditional observational and experimental studies, including secondary data analysis. In addition, they lead the design and planning of transdisciplinary One Health studies that also include the environmental sector, social scientists and economists. This level evaluates and coordinates study design, implementation and reporting across the human-animal-environment interface.

	Domains
Cross-references Knowledge, skills and competencies within this	D1
domain can be cross-referenced with the following domains:	D2
 Foundational knowledge and skills; Surveillance systems; Field investigations; Laboratory capacity; 	D3
 Data management, biostatistics, and informatics; Leadership and management; Communication and community engagement; and Ethics. 	D4
Subdomains	D5
 Types of epidemiological studies Designing and planning epidemiological studies Conducting epidemiological field studies Reporting and publication of study findings 	D6
	D7
	D8
	D9
	D10
	D11
	D12
	D13
	D14

Domains Subdomain 8.1

Types of epidemiological studies

D1		Frontline	Intermediate	Advanced
D2 D3	One Health (Core)	 Describe the types of data (primary and secondary; quantitative and qualitative) (K) Describe a descriptive field study for zoonotic or animal-specific disease events (K) 	 = Frontline + 1. Describe the basic kinds of epidemiological studies: secondary data analysis, observational studies, environmental studies (K) 2. Describe the types, principles and use of epidemiology observational studies: cross-sectional study, cohort study, and case-control study (K) 	= Intermediate
D4		 Describe the basic differences between descriptive and analytical studies (K) Describe the importance of random sampling and how it differs from non-random sampling (K) Describe field studies related to 	 Frontline + Select the most appropriate observational study in a given situation (S) Monitor the critical prerequisites to collaborate, coordinate and communicate servers conternal lines. 	 Intermediate + Describe how to develop a meaningful epidemiological study to address gaps and challenges of health services (C) Describe traditional linear hypothesis driven and systems
D6		 Descriptive case study Survey or knowledge, attitudes and practices study 	(C)	 based approaches for epidemiology observational study design to: Improve data management Refine and update risk
D7	(Optional)	 Secondary data analysis (e.g., existing field or laboratory data) (K) Describe the players, drivers, and interactions among sectors 		 estimates Characterize the epidemiology of the disease agent Generate hypotheses applying observational field studies and
D8	One Health	contributing to disease occurrence (K)		 secondary data analysis Collaborate on environmental health studies Collaborate in mixed methods
D9				research with environment experts using predictive, multidisciplinary, systems- based approaches (S)
D10				development of standards for and monitoring and supervision of basic principles of medical data protection, data anonymization, necessary documentation for and
D11				management of the ethical approval process and informed consent during field investigation (K)
D12	Human	 Describe the common types of descriptive studies, e.g., case reports, case series, cross-sectional studies / surveys, ecologic studies (K) 	= Frontline	= Intermediate
D13	Animal	1. Describe value chain mapping (K)	 = Frontline + Describe value chain analysis including data collection of movement frequency, volume and directionality (K) 	 Intermediate + 1. Collaborate with mapping experts to generate risk maps (S)
D14	Environment	1. Describe the community role in multidisciplinary and systems based research studies related to biodiversity, ecosystems and wildlife (K)	 = Frontline + 1. Implement multidisciplinary and systems based research studies: biodiversity, ecosystems and wildlife (K) 	 Intermediate + Lead the development of surveillance and monitoring research studies related to biodiversity, ecosystems and wildlife (K)

Subdomain 8.2

Designing and planning epidemiological studies

	Frontline	Intermediate	Advanced	
One Health (Core)	 Prepare the list of data, collection tools, PPE, public outreach, communication, and other logistic requirements needed during the epidemiological study (S) Ensure basic principles of medical personal data protection, necessary data anonymization, ethical approval and informed consent for epidemiological studies (S) List local critical players and plan to collect information to understand disease drivers and interactions among players for a given disease situation (S) 	 = Frontline + 1. Contribute to the design and planning of epidemiology observational studies (cross-sectional, case-control, cohort, field trials) (S) 2. Contribute to design and planning of statistics used for data analysis (S) 	 Intermediate + Lead the design and planning of epidemiology observational studies using analytic principles and methods (C) Seek formal approval to conduct the study (C) Define the problem and study objective (C) State the null hypothesis (S) Review existing knowledge and data (C) Conduct a review of relevant literature (C) Identify study population (C) Define the target population(s) and sample frame(s) (C) Calculate sample size requirements (C) Define required epidemiological and statistical analytical methods e.g., sample size, etc. (C) Develop a questionnaire or data entry form to collect the required data (C) Develop an analysis plan (C) Identify and communicate with primary and secondary study stakeholders (C) Review and adhere to ethical guidelines (C) 	D2 D3 D4 D5 D6 D7 D7 D8 D9
	 Contribute to local design and planning of epidemiological studies (S) Apply knowledge of data types (S) Apply knowledge of sampling methods (S) 	 Frontline + Contribute to the design and planning of epidemiology observational studies by suggesting the most suitable design, type of data needed, method of data collection (C) Contribute to the design and 	 Intermediate + Lead the design and planning of both traditional linear hypothesis driven and systems based approaches for epidemiological studies (C) Lead the design and planning of collaboration, coordination 	D10
Health (Optional)	 4. Describe and plan now to collect high quality data to investigators including data collection tools and other field materials (S) 5. Describe the critical prerequisites to collaborate. 	planning of collaboration, coordination and communication among sectoral investigators and the community (S)	and communication with critical stakeholders across sectoral lines (C)	D12
One	across sectoral lines at local level (K)	 Monitor the critical prerequisites to collaborate, coordinate and communicate across sectoral lines (C) 		D13
		 Monitor and supervise basic principles of medical data protection, data anonymization, ethical approval and informed consent during field 		D14

Domains Subdomain 8.2

Designing and planning epidemiological studies

D1				
DI		Frontline	Intermediate	Advanced
D2	Human			
		1. Participate in the design of a brief	= Frontline +	= Intermediate +
D3		 descriptive study for one of the following disease events: Field investigation Survey or knowledge, attitudes 	 Describe tools facilitating field epidemiological studies such as value chain analysis and participatory disease search (K) 	 Incorporate epidemiological tools into field epidemiological studies such as value chain analysis, participatory disease search and application of accommiss for
		and practices study		animal production and health (C)
D4	_	Secondary data analysis (S)		
	Anima	2. Assist in the design and planning of a brief descriptive field study for zoonotic or animal-specific disease events (S)		
D5		3. Provide local livestock value chain maps (C)		
D6		4. Provide feedback on data collection and sampling methods based on local context and feasibility (S)		
		1. Assist with planning	= Frontline +	= Intermediate +
D7	ironment	the community role in multidisciplinary and systems based research studies:	 Contribute to multidisciplinary and systems based research studies: biodiversity, ecosystems 	 Lead the design and planning of surveillance, monitoring and multidisciplinary and
D8	Envi	biodiversity, ecosystems and wildlife (S)	and wildlife (C)	systems based research studies: biodiversity, ecosystems and wildlife (C)

D9

D10

D11

D12

D13

Subdomain 8.3

Conducting epidemiological field studies

Domains

	Frontline	Intermediate	Advanced	D1
	 Conduct data collection based on training related to collection tools, SOP, public outreach, and field logistics (S) Provide data and information on gaps and challenges faced during data collection to intermediate and advanced levels (C) Participate in data analysis and 	 = Frontline + 1. Monitor the critical prerequisites to collaborate, coordinate and communicate across sectoral lines (C) 2. Contribute to data collection and compile data from different sources (S) 2. Clean walidate and analyze data 	 Intermediate + Lead study implementation by following the approved protocol, ensuring unbiased data collection, using appropriate data management, analysis, and interpretation methods (C) Lead the implementation of both linear hypothesis driven and 	D2 D3
th (Core)	provide urgent intervention when needed (C)	 Clean, Validate, and analyse data based on the planning (C) Interpret the analysis result and provide scientifically sound evidence to guide control and prevention measures (C) 	systems based approaches for epidemiological study design to: . Improve data management . Refine and update risk estimates	D4
One Heal			 Characterize the epidemiology of the disease agent Generate hypotheses applying 	D5
			observational field studies Collaborate on environmental health studies Collaborate in mixed methods research using	D6
			multidisciplinary, system based approaches (C) 3. Lead the implementation of collaboration, coordination and communication with critical	D7
	1. Apply sampling methods to collect	= Frontline +	stakeholders across sectoral lines (C) = Intermediate +	D8
th (Optional)	 data based on local context and feasibility (S) 2. Describe the critical prerequisites to collaborate, coordinate and communicate across sectoral lines 	 Conduct analytic epidemiological studies (cross-sectional, case- control, cohort, field trials) (C) Conduct data analysis in collaboration, coordination with 	 Lead the implementation of operational research (C) Evaluate the potential impact from any intervention recommended or made following the epidemiological 	D9
One Heal	 Describe the potential impact from any intervention recommended or made following the epidemiological study across the sectors (S) 	 sectoral investigators and the community (C) 3. Monitor the potential impact from any intervention recommended or made following the epidemiological study across the sectors (S) 	study across the sectors (C)	D10
Human			1. Apply all necessary precautions around informed consent, personal data protection, data security and patient privacy when implementing enidemiological studies (S)	D11
		1. Apply tools facilitating field	= Intermediate +	D12
Animal		as value chain analysis and participatory disease search (S)	 Lead the implementation of epidemiological tools such as value chain study and cost/benefit study to understand risk along the value chain and feasibility of control and prevention measures. (C) 	D13
Environment	 Assist the community with implementation of multidisciplinary and systems based research studies: biodiversity, ecosystems and wildlife (S) 	 Frontline + Contribute to the implementation of multidisciplinary and systems based research studies: biodiversity, ecosystems and wildlife (S) 	 Intermediate + Lead the implementation of multidisciplinary and systems based research studies: biodiversity, ecosystems and wildlife (C) 	D14

Domains Subdomain 8.4

Reporting and publication of study findings

D1				
		Frontline	Intermediate	Advanced
D2		1. Develop a Brief Descriptive Field Study report for zoonotic or animal specific disease events in the local context by using basic	 Frontline + Design and write appropriate audience specific oral and written reports for stakeholders with key 	 Intermediate + Lead the production of oral and written reports and publications of epidemiologic studies using
D3		 Communicate written and oral reports to technical and nontechnical audiences (S) 	findings (C) 2. Monitor reporting and dissemination of relevant study findings at early stage to central	scientific writing skills, analytic principles and methods: • Review and adhere to ethical guidelines
D4	ne Health (Core)		level health care stakeholders and other local stakeholders involved in response, including community leaders (C)	 Plan for reporting the study results to stakeholders (C) Lead the implementation of collaboration, coordination and communication with sectoral
D5	0			stakeholders including decision- makers (C)3. Lead the reporting and dissemination of relevant study
D6				findings at early stage to local level health care stakeholders and other local stakeholders involved in response, including community leaders (C)
D7	ıe Health Optional)	1. Share data in collaboration, coordination and communication among sectoral investigators and the community to initiate urgent	= Frontline	 Intermediate + Lead the writing of reports and publications of both reductionistic and systems based approaches
D8	ōS	intervention at local level when needed (S)		for epidemiological study design (C)
D9	Human			1. Apply all necessary precautions around informed consent, personal data protection, data security and patient privacy when implementing epidemiological studies (S)
D10	mal		 Contribute to reports and publications including value chain analysis (C) 	 Intermediate + Lead the writing of reports and publications of zoonotic and
D11	Anii			animal specific disease events and value chain studies and collaborate with risk mapping expert to generate risk maps (C)
D12	Environment	 Assist with reporting results to the community related to multidisciplinary and systems based research studies: biodiversity, ecosystems and 	 Frontline + Contribute to the reports and publications of multidisciplinary and systems based research studies: biodiversity. ecosystems 	 Intermediate + Lead the writing of reports and publications of multidisciplinary and systems based research studies: biodiversity. ecosystems
D13		wildlife (S)	and wildlife (S)	and wildlife (C)
Domain 9:

Data management, biostatistics, and informatics

Introduction

Field epidemiologists at all three levels are expected to handle data in a professional way through the data life cycle: from collection to analysis, presentation, and interpretation for action. Each level also has a role in ensuring that high quality data collected in the field are reported to the higher administration levels. Data standardization and application of internationally accepted standards is required to facilitate better data analysis and exchange at national or international levels. To be competent at performing analysis, biostatistics skills and the use of statistical methods and tests are also needed at each level. Health information systems and new digital tools support better data collection and automated analysis. These tools are a persistent need for early detection and rapid response in both public health and animal health. Coordination is critical among all levels to collect, analyse and interpret data in a standardized way through the data management cycle. Trainees need to know how to successfully implement health informatics interventions and how to choose the best digital tool as a solution for informatics problems to support decision-making through data retrieval and analysis. This will support countries to generate and use high-quality data to improve their surveillance systems and health information systems to achieve better outcomes.

At the frontline level, field epidemiologists collect and report quality data using paper forms and electronic tools without bias. Knowledge of data standards helps achieve interoperability between systems (e.g., human and animal surveillance systems). Frontline workers also summarize data using simple statistical methods like mean and median. They understand principles of stratification, such as by age or gender.

At the intermediate level, epidemiologists evaluate data coming from lower administration levels and conduct more advanced data analysis. They also use statistical software and create basic maps. The intermediate level understands informatics in order to advocate for better data collection and the acceptance and use of electronic tools. At the advanced level, epidemiologists perform more complicated biostatistical tasks such as multivariate and time series analysis. They are comfortable using statistical and geospatial analysis software to perform required statistical tests and create graphs, tables and maps. Advanced level epidemiologists also calculate a sample size for epidemiologic studies according to study design. They also understand internationally available standards for One Health sectors to ensure the local systems adapt these standards to achieve easy and smooth interoperability and information exchange inside the country and with neighboring countries.

Cross-references

Knowledge, skills and competencies within this domain can be cross-referenced with the following domains:

Surveillance systems;
 Field investigations;
 Laboratory capacity;
 Epidemiological studies; and
 Ethics.

Subdomains

- 1. Planning for data collection and analysis
- 2. Data collection
- 3. Data analysis
- 4. Data interpretation and presentation
- 5. Digital tools

Domain

.....

Domains Subdomain 9.1

Planning for data collection and analysis

D1		Frontline	Intermediate	Advanced
D2	(Core)	 Review data collection plans (questionnaires, forms, sampling strategies) before beginning data collection (S) 	 Frontline + Develop a data analysis plan (variables, coding, dummy tables, etc.) (C) 	 Intermediate + Develop presentation plans and templates for regular reports and infographics (C)
D3	One Health	 Differentiate between quantitative and qualitative data, explain mixed-method approaches (K) Describe the uses and limitations of aggregated data (K) 	2. Explain when a map can be useful for descriptive analysis (S)	 Develop and evaluate sampling strategies for surveys and epidemiologic studies (C) Calculate sample size for surveys and epidemiological studies (C)
D4	e Health ptional)	 Use basic principles of file versioning (C) 	= Frontline	= Intermediate
	ы O			
D5	Human			
D6	nimal			1. Calculate within-herd and between-herd sample sizes according to study objective (define prevalence, determine
D7	4			presence of or freedom from disease or infection) (S)
	nent			
D8	Environn			

D9

D10

D11

D12

Subdomain 9.2 Data collection

Domains

	Frontline	Intermediate	Advanced	
e Health (Core)	 Collect data in a consistent and standardized way (S) Describe minimum variables for a line list (S) Use appropriate data quality standards for data collection for surveillance, laboratory, epidemiological studies, etc. (S) 	 = Frontline + 1. Review, monitor and evaluate data quality according to attributes such as consistency, completeness, timeliness, etc. (C) 2. Apply basic data checking procedures within at least one data collection application: data consistency data cleaning, duplicate entry 	 Intermediate + Develop questionnaires for field investigations (e.g., outbreak investigations and epidemiological studies (C) Create a data dictionary to explain coding, types of variables (C) Develop and review SOPs for data checks and data quality assurance (C) 	D2 D3
Ő		• coding (C)	4. Advocate for implementation of standards for data collection using	D4
		3. Train and supervise frontline data collectors (C)	electronic tools (C)	
		 Explain basic principles of data exchange between applications, such as data export/import of .csv files (S) 	protection requirements are met (C)	D5
	1. Describe how health data can	= Frontline	= Intermediate +	De
	be collected, assessed, coded, and reported through paper and		1. Describe the data standards life	20
~	electronic system (S) 2. Use a data dictionary to explain		are created, implemented, and updated) (K)	D7
ptional	coding, types of variables (S) 3. Use electronic tools for data		2. Apply governance policies and guidelines needed to support data	DI
e Health (O	collection (S)		collection, (e.g., data exchange, data protection standards and policies) (S)	D8
One			3. Assess adherence to existing policies for data sharing and data	
			exchange (C)	
			4. Describe ethical considerations related to data protection, data ownership and data storage (S)	D9
Human				D1(
al				
Anim				D11
nent				511
nvironr				

D13

Domains Subdomain 9.3 Data analysis

D1				
DI		Frontline	Intermediate	Advanced
D2		 Apply basic principles of data consistency and data cleaning (S) Calculate rates to quantify incidence, prevalence, attack rates, mortality rates, etc. (S) Describe the epidemiological 	 = Frontline + 1. Develop regular data quality reports/feedback to frontline level (C) 2. Implement a data analysis plan (S) 3. Stratify data and assess for 	 Intermediate + Use geographic information systems to display geographic distribution of cases and produce maps (C) Conduct a comprehensive
D4	One Health (Core)	 principles of unit (person/animal), place and time (K) 4. Create simple tables, graphs, and maps from surveillance and epidemiologic data (S) 5. Calculate summary statistics including measures of central 	 effect measure modification and confounding, controlling for confounding as needed (C) 4. Use statistical tests (parametric and non-parametric) for analysis of epidemiological data (C) 	evaluation of surveillance systems focusing on data quality attributes, overseeing all administrative levels and interaction patterns, and proposing improvement steps based on needs and gaps analysis
D5		tendency and dispersion (mean and standard deviation, median and mode), and percentiles and quartiles (S) 6. Use software to manage and summarize date ⁵ (C)		(C)
D6		summarize data ² (5)		
D7	alth (Optional)		1. Calculate standard errors and confidence intervals (S)	 Intermediate + Calculate a regression coefficient and perform regression modeling (C) Perform multivariate analysis
D8	One He			epidemiological studies (C)3. Perform a time series analysis of surveillance data (C)
D9	Human			
	Animal	 Conduct basic value chain mapping (C) 		
D10	Environment			
D11				

5 The software is the choice of the training programme as multiple software are available either free or paid

D12

D13

Subdomain 9.4

Data interpretation and presentation

Domains

	Frontline	Intermediate	Advanced	D1
	 Present data in basic tables, graphs, and maps (S) Develop simple routine reports (C) Interpret descriptive data (e.g.) 	 = Frontline + 1. Describe bias, its effects, and ways to minimize bias (K) 2. Develop regular reports/feedback 	 Intermediate + Interpret results from regression, multivariable, and time-series analyses (C) 	D2
ле Health (Core)	surveillance data) (C)	 beccep regular reports/recubeck to frontline level (C) Use modern methods of data visualization to display statistical results (C) 	2. Interpret findings from surveillance, laboratory and epidemiological studies for decision-makers and the public	D3
ō		 Interpret data analysis results like measures of association, measures of impact, statistical test results and confidence intervals (C) 	(C)	D4
One Health (Optional)			 Develop a data visualization plan, including use of infographics if appropriate (C) 	D5
Human				D6
Animal				D7
Environment				D8

D11

D12

D13

omains	Subdomain 9.5
	Digital tools

D1		Frontline	Intermediate	Advanced
D2	One Health (Core)	 Use available software and digital tools for data collection and reporting whenever possible (S) Use word processing, spread sheets, and presentation software⁶ (S) 	 = Frontline + 1. Advocate for and support the implementation and training of digital tools and software (C) 	 Intermediate + Oversee the different digital tools for surveillance and selection process based on needs assessment (C)
D3			1. Assess challenges and needs for	= Intermediate +
D4	(jr		electronic data collection tools (C)	 Describe internationally agreed standards for disease coding and data exchange (e.g., International Classification of Diseases-11, Health Level Seven (K)
D5	alth (Optiona			2. Describe digital surveillance tools integration with health information systems (K)
	One He			3. Evaluate the selection of digital tools suitable for the national surveillance system (C)
D6				4. Develop a plan for implementing selected digital tool(s) (C)
D7				5. Incorporate relevant digital surveillance data for analysis and situation reporting (C)
	Human			
D8	mal			
	Ani			
D9	Environment			

D10

D11 D12

D13

D14

6 Free or paid software (e.g., Microsoft Word, Excel and PowerPoint)

Domain 10 Ecosystem health

Introduction

Ecosystem health is an integral part of the One Health approach that has been developing rapidly along with the growing awareness of the impact that anthropogenic drivers have on global environmental change, ecosystem integrity and ecosystem function. Epidemiologists at all levels need to be aware of the impact that these drivers have on human, animal and ecosystem health and disease emergence. Barriers to understanding and management of environmentally driven disease events include the lack of awareness by other sectors and gaps in collaboration, communication and data sharing among human, animal and ecosystem health experts at all levels of governance. Field epidemiologists should have an interoperable set of competencies including a good understanding of the links among sectors and disciplines. The overall aim is to protect the environment and prevent the emergence and spillover of disease pathogens across the human-animalenvironment interface by understanding the overall ecosystem's health.

At the frontline level, field epidemiologists have basic knowledge on the importance of biodiversity and ecosystem functions. They provide a description of local ecosystem services and describe the local agencies that oversee plant, animal, and ecosystem health, including those that manage natural resources, monitor air, soil, and water quality. Frontline level epidemiologists are aware of local environmental health threats and their mandate to detect and respond across sectors. They are aware of the impacts of local environmental degradation and the need to collaborate with all environmental stakeholders to monitor and predict threats to ecosystem health that have the potential to drive disease emergence in humans and in animals.

At the intermediate level, field epidemiologists have a more developed understanding of the drivers of biodiversity loss and environmental degradation. They have open and collaborative relationships with the agencies that manage plant, animal, and ecosystem health at the regional level and awareness of the policies and regulations that are in effect. They recognize the role of the environment on disease emergence and transmission, and food security. At the advanced level, field epidemiologists are familiar with biodiversity indices and the international regulations and policies, including those related to endangered species protections, wildlife trade, and the environment. They regularly collaborate and exchange data with agencies that manage plant, animal and ecosystem health and promote data sharing and compatibility. While global climate modelling is beyond the scope of a field epidemiology training programme, graduates are familiar with and able to interpret existing models. They assess how environmental degradation impacts the social and environmental determinants of health for human and animal populations and individuals. Finally, they make recommendations on preventive and responsive policies and regulations that mitigate the risk of disease emergence and support overall sustainability of ecosystems and local societies.

Many of the knowledge, skills and competencies that make up this domain were written based on a curriculum framework from the Field Training Programme for Wildlife, Ecosystems, Biodiversity, and the Environment,⁷ a training programme targeting environment sector professionals from natural resources management, forestry and wildlife ecology.

Cross-references

Knowledge, skills and competencies within this domain can be cross-referenced with the following domains:

Foundational knowledge and skills;
 Surveillance systems;
 Preparedness and response;
 Data management, biostatistics, and informatics; and
 Leadership and management.

Subdomains

(Rome, Italy)

 Biodiversity and ecosystems
 Plant, animal and ecosystem health
 Air, water and soil quality
 Impacts of environmental degradation on health
 Anthropogenic, environmental and socioeconomic drivers of emerging health threats
 FAO. 2021. Summary Report: Field Training Programme for Wildlife, Ecosystems, Biodiversity, and the Environment (FTP-WEBE) Curriculum Framework Under a One Health Approach; Edited by David Castellan and Scott Newman, FAO Regional Office for Asia and the Pacific (Bangkok, Thailand),

FAO Regional Office for Africa (Accra, Ghana) and the FAO Investment Centre

Domains Subdomain 10.1

Biodiversity and ecosystems

D1		Frontline	Intermediate	Advanced
D2		 Describe the importance of biodiversity and healthy ecosystems (K) Identify local ecosystems and describe their interactions (S) 	 Frontline + Explain how biodiversity and healthy ecosystems promote health across the environment- human-animal interface (S) 	 Intermediate + Identify drivers of temporal and spatial distribution of populations and how this leads to changes in biodiversity at the community and
D3	lth (Core)			 ecosystem level (i.e., changes in biodiversity in time and space) (C) 2. Explain interactions among proximate and ultimate causes
D4	One Hea			of biodiversity loss, such as land cover change, poverty, landscape fragmentation, climate change and others that are impacting biodiversity at local and regional scales (S)
D5				3. Advocate and raise awareness about positive health impacts of ecosystem based approaches (C)
D6		1. Explain the role of biodiversity in sustaining economically and culturally important resources such as clean air frach water	 = Frontline + 1. Differentiate examples of biodiversity at multiple levels: 	 Intermediate + Describe general levels of structural and functional
D7		pollination, soil fertility, pest and disease control, and wildlife recreation opportunities using local case studies (S)	 genes, populations, species, ecological communities, landscapes, ecosystems (K) 2. Explain the major drivers of species extinction and biodiversity 	 biodiversity (K) 2. Describe the causes and consequences of changes in biodiversity at relevant temporal and spatial scales (S)
D8		 Describe the two main types of ecosystem services: provisioning and regulating (K) Define and explain the relationship between biodiversity. 	 loss (S) Explain how biodiversity is linked to ecosystem functions (K) Identify links within ecosystems 	3. Explain the importance of ecosystem functions and ecosystem services to society including families, communities
D9	al)	ecological function and ecosystem services to community members (S)4. Explain how diversity is a	 that can indicate a cause of threat or the diagnosis of a health risk (K) 5. Identify and collaborate with local institutions and experts that possess knowledge of natural 	 4. Identify unsustainable practices and policies leading to loss of biodiversity at multiple scales and levels (S)
D10	e Health (Option	 key pillar of pest and disease resistance, in natural and managed ecosystems using local examples (S) 5. Describe risks that may threaten 	 history and biodiversity in the country and region (S) 6. List and explain drivers of diversification (S) 7. Evaluate the importance of the second sec	 Design a systems based diagram showing the connections between deforestation, ecosystems degradation or loss of access to natural resources and the wider
D11	ō	ecosystem sustainability and describe how they impact biodiversity, e.g. understand the impact of invasive alien species to occeve health and	 microbial and invertebrate diversity (K) 8. Develop conceptual map of ecosystem services in community 	felt impacts (S)6. Collaborate effectively with other professions and sectors to align with intergovernmental
D12		 epidemiology (S) 6. Identify, measure and assess indicators of ecosystem function (early warning signals intelligence) (C) 	context (workshop or focus group format), focusing on those that contribute to individual or population health of animals, human and the environment (C)	 agreements related to biodiversity and ecosystem management (C) 7. Utilize community-based participatory methods to identify and engage local and indigenous
D13		 Explain structural and functional complexity of ecological systems and their relationship with zoonoses (S) 	 Design a map of connections between agricultural diversity, food systems and human health (S) 	knowledge for integrative management of biodiversity and ecosystem structure and functions related to One Health (C)
D14			10.Describe and apply best management practices for natural ecosystems and biodiversity that benefit domestic animal health (S)	

Subdomain 10.1 (cont.) Biod

_			
		-	20
ν			13

	Frontline	Intermediate	Advanced
onal)		11.Describe the impact of local food production systems on the health of the ecosystem and propose sustainable practices to mitigate such impact (C)	 Consider international regulations and policies related to endangered species protection when implementing activities to tackle health threats in an
e Health (Opti		12.Describe how to collect and analyse data related to biodiversity loss and ecosystem degradation (K)	 9. Describe biodiversity indices, both structural and functional, and how they are measured (K)
One			10.Describe the relationship between microbial diversity and health (S)
			11.Describe agroecological approaches to sustain biodiversity and ecosystem health (K)
Human			
Animal			
	 List value, benefits and services of wildlife in the local jurisdiction. 	 Develop a map showing the relationship among: loss of 	 Apply systems thinking to characterize and manage adverse
	including provisioning and regulating functions (K)	biodiversity, decline of ecosystem functions and services, and resilience (S)	changes to biodiversity and ecosystems (C) 2. Apply knowledge regarding
		 Provide examples of provisioning services (i.e., food, fiber and biofuel) in local jurisdictions and how these can reduce wildlife composition and functioning (K) Assess the impact of provisioning 	of populations of species and communities to identify spatial and temporal patterns of biodiversity within and across landscapes (C)
Environment		 services on regulating services in a jurisdiction (C) 4. Provide examples of regulating services (e.g., infection dampening evolutionary pressure) 	 Apply methodological approaches to the measurement of ecological communities and interactions within them within the local contact (C)
		towards low pathogenicity in complex, high diversity systems) (K)	 4. Define and assess biotic integrity (C)
			5. Valuate ecosystem services in relation to human and animal health and economics (C)
			6. Explain why genetic diversity is important, the basics of

D13

D12

Subdomain 10.2

Domains

Plant, animal and ecosystem health

D1				
DI		Frontline	Intermediate	Advanced
D2	One Health (Core)	 Describe the concept of ecosystem services (K) Explain the roles and responsibilities of agencies that manage plant, animal and ecosystem health (K) 	 = Frontline + 1. Contribute to the integration of plant, animal and ecosystem health data with other ongoing surveillance strategies in humans and animals (S) 	 Intermediate + Exchange and analyse data across the public health, animal health and environment health sectors (C)
D3 D4 D5 D6	One Health (Optional)	 Describe different wildlife populations within a jurisdiction, including those with significant human and livestock interaction or under human care, including farmed wildlife (K) Describe and apply the principles of species conservation during the practice of field epidemiology (S) 	 Frontline + Support the review of disease case data in people, livestock, and wildlife to identify trends (presence or absence or prevalence) (C) 	 Intermediate + Describe and evaluate the cultural, social and economic context of wildlife and ecosystem services (C) Communicate value of wildlife and ecosystem services to stakeholders (S) Explain the purpose and characteristics of wildlife and ecosystem health assessment (S) Perform wildlife and ecosystem health assessments (S) Integrate wildlife and ecosystem health data with other data streams (C) Communicate wildlife and ecosystem health risks to diverse audiences using various formats (S)
D8	Human			
	Animal			
D9 D10 D11		 Describe wildlife trade management and sustainable use principles (K) Characterize, identify, assess and prioritize underlying factors that give rise to human-livestock- wildlife interactions, including the risks of conflict, and devise appropriate intervention strategies (C) Define and develop solutions for 	 Apply knowledge of case studies, best practices, and toolkits on human-livestock- wildlife interactions and conflict (S) Characterize how threats to wildlife species may hamper ecosystem services and benefits (K) Develop methods and data sources that signal and forecast 	 Conduct a systematic approach to wildlife health surveillance (S) Identify, assess, and report on wildlife disease and ecosystem health risks (C) Forecast wildlife and ecosystem health threats (C) Conduct wildlife and ecosystem health investigations (C) Develop wildlife disease
D12	Environment	 human-livestock-wildlife conflicts through participatory approaches and local community involvement (C) Facilitate community-level discussions among stakeholders 	 wildlife and ecosystem health threats (C) Implement environmental and social impact assessments (C) Explain and apply epidemiological and health 	 management and response plans (C) Apply and adapt the Addis Ababa Principles to frame decision- making on sustainable use of wildlife (C) Describe CITES regulations
D13 D14		regarding human-livestock- wildlife interactions (S) 5. Follow existing biosafety/ security measures concerning handling of wildlife and suggest and implement measures for improvement (C)	 promotion principles for wildlife and ecosystem health programmes, to prevent zoonoses and pathogen spillover (S) 6. Use participatory approaches with local communities to manage human-livestock- wildlife conflicts (C) 	 governing international trade of wildlife and other wildlife use principles from other fora and intergovernmental frameworks, e.g., IUCN, UNEP, etc. (K) 8. Apply policy and regulatory instruments to differentiate between legal and illegal wildlife harvest and trade (S)

Subdomain 10.2 (cont.) Plant, animal and ecosystem health

	Frontline	Intermediate	Advanced	D1
			 Interpret biological characteristics and wildlife population data, together with other contextual factors, to calculate sustainability thresholds for harvest and trade, and ensure sustainable and healthy wildlife populations (C) 	D2
			 10. Apply and adapt identification tools for wildlife species, parts and products in trade and understand application of forensic techniques in this context (C) 	D3
			 11. Apply and adapt good practice standards that minimize health risks in wildlife trade value chains, covering both wild and captive production systems in a jurisdiction (C) 	D5
			12. Identify impediments and the resources necessary (financial, knowledge, sociological, etc.) to generate feasible solutions to	D6
			for lost crops, personnel for education campaigns) (C)	D7
Environment			 Use appropriate methods to estimate population size, abundance and demography of wildlife and population trends (S) 	D8
			 14. Utilize maps, geospatial layers and online tools to estimate land cover or habitat change in the local area (S) 	D9
			 Use appropriate methods to assess and manage habitat quality and suitability to sustain healthy ecosystems and wildlife populations (C) 	D10
			16. Provide examples of wildlife population and habitat management techniques that have been effective in a jurisdiction (S)	D11
			17. Apply wildlife population and habitat management techniques (S)18. Communicate the value of	D12
			sustainable use, regulated and safe wildlife trade and sustainable wildlife management (C) 19. Facilitate local community	D13
			capacity building and empower communities to manage the health of the local ecosystems and wildlife populations (S)	D14

Subdomain 10.3 Air, water and soil quality

Domains

D1					
		Frontline	Intermediate	Advanced	
D2	Health (Core)	 Describe the health impacts of local environmental contaminants on human, animal and ecosystem health (K) List the agencies involved in monitoring air, water and soil 	 Frontline + Propose mitigation measures to address the impacts of contaminants in the air, soil and water on human, animal and ecosystem health (C) 	 Intermediate + Evaluate how data related to key environmental indicators and health are comparable and compatible (C) Evaluate potential integrated 	
D3	One	quality (K)		2. Evaluate potential integrated environmental and health data collection schemes for compliance with existing standards (C)	
D4		1. Describe air, water and soil cycles and mechanisms for accumulation of contaminants (K)	 Frontline + Develop open and collaborative relationships with the agencies 	 Intermediate + Describe how air, water and soil guality data can be used 	
D5	-	 Describe standards and policies related to maximum contaminant levels (K) Describe health impacts of level 	involved in monitoring air, water and soil quality (C)2. Describe policies and regulations related to natural resource	as an early warning system for environment-related health events and which signals to monitor (C)	
D6	alth (Optional	 air, soil and water contaminants in humans and animals (K) 4. Describe the major drivers of 	management, land use and pollution (K)	2. Contribute to the development of data sharing agreements and early warning systems amongst	
D7	One Healt	One Hea	 environmental contamination (agricultural, manufacturing, etc.) (K) 5. Correlate environmental risk indicators with health indicators 		 (C) 3. Collaborate with agencies involved in collecting and monitoring data on air, water and lead resource and environmental.
D8		 (human and animal) (S) Describe factors that influence whether pathogens survive in certain conditions (K) 		pollutants (C)	
D9	Human				
	Animal				
D1 0	Environment				

Competencies for One Health field epidemiology (COHFE) framework

D11

D12

D13

Subdomain 10.4

Impacts of environmental degradation on health

_				
		2	5	

	Frontline	Intermediate	Advanced	D1
One Health (Core)	 Illustrate the impact of environmental degradation on local ecosystem health (S) Contribute data to environmental impact assessments (S) 	 = Frontline + 1. Describe how local weather extremes and natural disasters impact human, animal and ecosystem health (K) 1. Assess the impact of environmental degradation on human, animal and ecosystem health by participating in an environmental impact assessment (C) 	 Intermediate + Discuss the impact of global climate change on health and the emergence of novel diseases (S) Assess the national or subnational impacts of climate change on health by contributing to vulnerability and adaptation assessments (C) 	D2 D3 D4
One Health (Optional)	 Implement practices that reduce or mitigate the environmental impact of provided human or animal health services (C) Explain the interrelationship between climate change and the frequency and severity of storms, floods, fires and drought (S) Describe the basic concepts of global warming and greenhouse gases (K) Describe how climate change impacts disease transmission and species migration (S) Describe the carbon cycle (K) 	 = Frontline + 1. Describe local climate conditions and recognize extremes in variability and how they can impact local ecosystems (S) 2. Describe models of global environmental change (K) 3. Describe the major drivers of global warming and explain its impact on food security and changes in livelihoods (S) 	 Intermediate + Apply systems thinking to relate how climate and weather variables interact with health to result in disease emergence (C) Describe the concept and practice of Planetary Health (K) Explain models of global environmental change (S) Describe the primary and secondary health impacts of climate change (S) Assess how climate change impacts the social and environmental determinants of health (C) Provide sustainable policy recommendations to promote ecosystem health (C) 	D5 D6 D7 D8
Human				D9
Animal			 Discuss the impact of climate change on animal productivity and health and links to food security (K) 	D10
Environment				D11

D12

Subdomain 10.5

Domains

Anthropogenic, environmental and socioeconomic drivers of emerging health threats

D1		Frontline	Intermediate	Advanced									
D2		 Discuss local examples illustrating the concept of human- environment interface and interactions (S) 	 Frontline + Describe how travel and transportation increase the risk for disease emergence and 	 Intermediate + 1. List and describe the anthropogenically induced environmental and 									
D3	One Health (Core)	 Describe how habitat incursion, deforestation and changes in land use and land cover impact disease emergence and ecosystem health 	 transmission (K) List and describe zoonoses with environmental components, including vector berge disease (K) 	 socioeconomic drivers that impact health of the system (K) Identify and prioritize health determinants wing appropriate 									
D4		 (S) 3. Describe how local legal and illegal trade in wildlife impact health and facilitate transmission of disease (S) 	including vector-borne disease (K)	 3. Conduct a SWOT analysis, identifying strengths, weaknesses, gaps and needs in ability, to assess and manage health threats in the context of a location (C) 									
D5				 Identify underlying determinants of health (the range of individual, social, economic and environmental factors that influence health status), and 									
D6				understand interactions among them (C)									
D7		 Identify and assess the environmental and socioeconomic drivers of disease and their signals within the local context (S) 	 = Frontline + 1. Define the political, historical and technical meanings of the term Anthropocene (K) 2. Describe heavier means a heavier of the term in the second second	 Intermediate + Gather data to define baseline metrics on disease drivers (climate and land use change, etc.) (S) 									
D8	One Health (Optional)	tealth (Optional)			2. Describe how human activities drive environmental change leading to the emergence of disease (S)	 Describe now increased numan demand for resources, including animal protein, is driving disease emergence (K) Describe anthropogenic drivers of 	 Define wildlife and ecosystem health determinants and disease drivers, and their interrelationships (S) 						
D9			 Describe the role of wildlife trade and wet markets in disease transmission and emergence (S) Describe and monitor the impact 	 endemic and noncommunicable diseases (K) 4. Describe how travel and transportation increase the second second	 Synthesize existing local knowledge or scientific literature to assess health determinants and threats operating in a system (C) 								
D10			Health (Optional	Health (Optional	Health (Optional	Health (Optional	Health (Optiona	Health (Optiona	Health (Optiona	Health (Optiona	Health (Optiona	of local food production systems on the health of the ecosystem (C) 5. Explain reasons for the emergence or re-emergence of some diseases	risk for disease emergence and transmission (K) 5. Analyse and graphically display contribution of drivers to health
D11		in response to environmental change (S)	threats (C)6. Describe approaches for and benefits of agroecological farming or production (K)	 term threat to human, wildlife and ecosystem health (S) 5. Conduct root cause analysis of disease drivers and health threats in a jurisdiction (C) 									
D12				6. Relate socioeconomic and environmental determinants of health and local knowledge to devise appropriate intervention strategies (C)									
D13				7. Describe the role of the environment on AMR and the impact of AMR on biodiversity and ecosystem health (S)									

Subdomain 10.5 (cont.) Anthropogenic, environmental and socioeconomic drivers of emerging health threats

Domains

D8

D9

D11

D12

D13

	Frontline	Intermediate	Advanced
Human			
Animal			
			 Identify and apply appropriate methods to measure health of, stress on or disturbance to wildlife populations or ecosystems (S)
vironment			2. Define the spatial, temporal and demographic characteristics of health threats to wildlife (S)
Env			 Identify trends in disease drivers for all diseases with a wildlife nexus (C)
			 Develop nature based solutions (C)

Section II Functional domains

Domain 11. I Dunuational knowledge and skills of	Domain	11 : Foundational	knowledge and skills	80
---	--------	--------------------------	----------------------	----

- Domain 12: Surveillance systems 87 92
- Domain 13: Field investigations
- Domain 14: Disease management 98



Domain 11 Leadership and management

Introduction

Individuals with leadership and management capabilities help organizations meet their goals and inspire team members to perform to their greatest potential. Field epidemiologists at all levels require basic leadership and management skills in order to effectively perform their work functions. This domain describes competencies needed to support One Health policies and their implementation, organizational and project management, finance and budgeting and security in the field.

At the frontline level, field epidemiologists demonstrate an ability to work across sectors and advocate for One Health policies at the local level, demonstrate professionalism, fulfill project requirements and ensure personal security when conducting field work.

At the intermediate level, field epidemiologists contribute to the development of One Health policies, serve in a leadership role within an organization at the regional level, and ensure the security of the fieldwork team. They participate in the design and implementation of One Health projects including the formulation, management and advocacy for financing and budgets.

At the advanced level, field epidemiologists advocate for One Health policies at the national and international levels, manage cross disciplinary teams, lead the design, implementation and management of One Health projects, including financing, and mitigate security risks.

Cross-references

Knowledge, skills and competencies within this domain can be cross-referenced with the following domains:

- 1. Foundational knowledge and skills;
- 2. Surveillance systems;
- 3. Field investigations;
- 4. Disease management;
 - 7. Preparedness and response;
- 8. Epidemiological studies;
- 10. Ecosystem health;
- 12. Communication and community engagement;
- 13. Training; and
- 14. Ethics.

Subdomains

- 1. Leadership and One Health
- 2. Policy development and implementation
- 3. Organizational management
- 4. Project management
- 5. Finance and budgeting
- 6. Security in the field

Subdomain 11.1 Leadership and One Health

_		•	

	Frontline	Intermediate	Advanced	
One Health (Core)	 Apply ethical principles and professional code of conduct (C) Develop and maintain interprofessional, multidisciplinary and multisectoral collaboration and communication (C) 	 = Frontline + 1. Perform stakeholder mapping (C) 2. Develop community-based approaches for field investigation and health interventions to ensure community engagement (C) 	 Intermediate + Regularly communicate ideas and expectations with team members (C) Adapt leadership style according to the context, recognizing when different approaches are most effective (C) 	
	 Communicate a common understanding of the One Health concept (C) Use listening skills to understand different perspectives and priorities (C) Use communication skills to 	 = Frontline + 1. Make decisions in consultation with experts across disciplines (C) 2. Manage a multidisciplinary team in contexts of volatility, uncertainty, complexity and ambiguity (C) 	 Intermediate + Model the use of communication skills to express thoughts and ideas across sectors (C) Develop and implement strategies to encourage innovative solutions (C) 	
One Health (Optional)	 Ose communication skills to clearly and regularly express thoughts and ideas (C) Collaborate and work within and across networks (C) Act responsibly in contexts of 	 Make and justify decisions in the context of conflicting priorities (C) 	(C)	
	 Act responsibly in contexts of volatility, uncertainty, complexity and ambiguity (S) Practice flexibility and openness to different ideas and approaches 			
	(C)7. Describe the importance of engaging with formal and informal community leaders (K)			
	 8. Define strategies for community engagement and motivation (K) 9. Practice self-awareness, self- regulation, and prioritize group success (C) 			
Human				[
Animal				
Environment				ſ

D13

Subdomain 11.2

Domains

Policy development and implementation

D1		Frontline	Intermediate	Advanced
D2 D3	One Health (Core)	 Implement One Health policies at the local level (S) 	 Frontline + Propose, support and implement One Health policies at the local and regional levels (C) 	 Intermediate + Facilitate the development and implementation of One Health policies at the local, regional, national and global levels (C) Produce policy briefs based on current One Health research along with action plans for implementation (C)
D4		1. Apply the principles of good leadership in policy development	= Frontline + 1. Articulate the policy cycle and	= Intermediate + 1. Advocate for policy making in
D5		 Implementation (3) Implement, monitor and test new methodologies and work practices (C) Collaborate with stakeholders 	 how to engage stakeholders in intersectional collaborations for effective policy making (C) 2. Develop, support and implement omergency response policies to 	 relation to One Health, taking into account political and multiagency interests (C) 2. Demonstrate proficiency with the policy cycle to cocure political
D6	ו (Optional)	 4. Work within the existing governance structure (S) 	 energency response polices to response polices to response outbreaks, conflict, etc.) (C) 3. Make recommendations from 	 commitment, trust building and community participation (C) 3. Monitor and assess the success of implemented strategies
D7	One Health (5. Communicate and notify higher levels on the needs, gaps and opportunities for improvements in field implementation (C)	 studies, surveys and field investigations to inform policy making (C) Assess regional community leader engagement and awareness of 	by utilizing the methods of development, planning, implementation and evaluation for One Health policies, strategies, programmes and institutions (C)
D8			One Health policies (C)	4. Design One Health strategies to facilitate synergies across sectors and promote multidisciplinary collaboration (C)
D9				5. Apply the principles of implementation science and science diplomacy (C)
	Human			
D10	imal			= Intermediate + 1. Ensure One Health approaches
D11	Ani			are included in veterinary service policies (C)
D12	Environment			 Intermediate + Maintain a list of government and nongovernment stakeholders, at the local, regional, and national levels, related to environmental health, conservation and biodiversity (S)

D14

Subdomain 11.3 **Organizational management**

	Frontline	Intermediate	Advanced	51
		 Document roles and responsibilities of team members to ensure accountability (S) Establish effective teamwork and 	= Intermediate + 1. Manage a cross disciplinary team (C)	D2
One Health (Core)		collaboration across disciplines (S)	2. Utilize collaborative methods and negotiation and conflict management skills across sectors and disciplines to facilitate cooperation and achieve One Health goals (C)	D3
J			 Develop a shared mission, set of core values, and vision to achieve One Health goals to design actions for implementation (C) 	D4
	1. Provide and support an environment of trust and learning within an organization and across	 Frontline + Articulate a shared mission, set of core values and vision of the 	 Intermediate + Manage in accordance with published quality management 	D5
ne Health (Optional)	networks (C) 2. Describe the formal and informal organizational structures of the local community and identify local facilitators (C)	 or core values and vision of the organization to achieve One Health goals (C) 2. Delegate responsibilities and tasks based on skills and expertise of team members (C) 3. Motivate, mentor and mobilize a network of team members (C) 4. Describe published quality management guidelines 	 guidelines. (e.g., International Organization for Standardization 9001:2015 Quality Management Systems) (C) Promote multidisciplinary policies by identifying misalignments between organizational structures or visions and the structure of external policy and 	D6
				D7
0		(e.g., International Organization for Standardization 9001:2015 Quality Management Systems) (K)	implementation characteristics (C)	D8
		ethics and ethical codes of conducts (C)		D9
Human				
Animal				D10
Environment				D11

D12

D13

D14

Domains

Subdomain 11.4 Project management

Domains

D1 -				
DI		Frontline	Intermediate	Advanced
D2		 Fulfill project requirements according to operational plan (S) 	 Frontline + Establish clear and objective project goals and outcomes with input from a multidisciplinary 	 Intermediate + Incorporate One Health principles in all aspects of planning (C) Plan project activities based on
D3	ealth (Core)		team (C) 2. Create an implementation timeline (S)	 analyzing and responding to risks that arise over the life cycle of
D4	One He			 project (C) 4. Establish a monitoring and evaluation plan to critically evaluate project outputs at
D5				all stages of implementation using appropriate and validated indicators (C)
D6	h (Optional)	 Describe the principles of project management and monitoring (K) Describe and manage formal and informal organizational structures (C) 	 = Frontline + 1. Create a formal project management structure (S) 2. Document progress and produce project reports for upper 	 Intermediate + Conduct a risk assessment during the project planning period (C)
D7	One Healt		 anagement and donors (C) Adapt project management process and tools to the mission of the organization (S) 	
D8	Human			
	Animal			
D9	onment			
D10	Envir			

D12

D13

Subdomain 11.5 Finance and budgeting

Domains

	Frontline	Intermediate	Advanced	D
e Health (Core)		 Formulate and implement budget plans for programmes and projects (S) 	 Intermediate + Advocate for national financing for One Health planning and projects both within and across sectors (C) Check and validate the finer side 	D
ő			sustainability of proposals (C)	D
	 Explain how cross-sectoral collaboration allows for shared use of limited resources to improve health outcomes (K) Project and recommend changes 	 = Frontline + 1. Seek additional resources and prepare funding proposals (C) 2. Describe donor reporting requirements (K) 	 Intermediate + Advocate for international funding for One Health planning and projects, especially in developing and poor countries (C) 	D
ional)	 to activities within a budget and financial plan (S) 3. Describe how financing for One Health activities is shared across sectors but allocated in individual sector budgets (K) 	3. Describe the fundamentals of a cost-effectiveness evaluation (K)	2. Produce donor reports (S)	D
e Health (Opti	 Advocate for local government budgetary support for One Health planning and activities (S) 			[
чО	5. Engage local support through securing funding or involving stakeholders (NGOs, private sector, etc.) in specific actions (C)			C
	 Participate in strategic planning and the development of budgets for One Health projects (C) Perform basic accounting and follow financial management principles (S) 			ſ
Human				[
Animal			1. Analyse and recommend resource allocation within veterinary services dedicated to One Health field activities (C)	D
Environment				D

D12

D13

Domains Subdomain 11.6 Security in the field

D1		Frontline	Intermediate	Advanced
D2	l (Core)	 Identify personal security risks and practice security awareness (S) Prepare risk mitigation action 	 Frontline + Ensure team members are practice security awareness and take precautionary measures (C) 	= Intermediate
D3	One Health	plans prior to engaging in fieldwork (S)3. Practice situational awareness to keep yourself and your colleagues safe (C)		
D4		1. Effectively engage with security organizations (C)	= Frontline + 1. Develop and implement security	= Intermediate + 1. Analyse the security risk
D5	al)	 Apply practical techniques to manage risks and deal with difficult circumstances including conflicts (C) React appropriately in the event of 	 policies and procedures based on organizational requirements (C) 2. Train professionals, paraprofessionals and multidisciplinary to apply. 	 Implications associated with conducting field work (C) Implement risk mitigation strategies and controls (C)
D6	ie Health (Option	 actual danger, threat or injury (C) Explain personal psychological reactions to security incidents and know where to obtain help (C) 	 security guidelines properly (C) Support good mental health and wellbeing in the working environment (C) 	 Create an environment that promotes good mental health, wellness and security of the group (C)
D7	ō	5. Explain the cultural characteristics of the local population, particularly offensive language and unacceptable practices (S)		
D8		6. Demonstrate awareness of mental health and wellbeing in the working environment (S)		
	Human			
D9	Animal			 Ensure that veterinary services have internal policies for occupational diseases and security incidents (C)
D10	Environment	 Identify seasonal climate patterns, and areas vulnerable to flood, drought and extreme events (S) 	= Frontline	= Intermediate
D11				

D12

D13

Domain 12 Communication and community engagement

Introduction

Communication includes the competencies necessary for conducting exchange of information at the local, regional and national level. Field epidemiologists should have effective oral and written communication between various audiences. They should also be well versed in risk communication strategies related to human, animal and ecosystem health. For field epidemiologists, there are differences in routine communication of field findings compared to emergency communication during outbreaks or pandemics. This distinction for routine communication applies to frontline One Health field epidemiologists со w ac

С

compared to emergency communication activities which are handled at the intermediate and	D5
advanced levels. At the frontline level, field epidemiologists demonstrate basic skills in preparing oral	D6
presentations and written communication and understand the needs of the audience.	D7
At the intermediate level, field epidemiologists define communication needs for different target audiences and manage messaging related to risk communication.	D8
At the advanced level, field epidemiologists use advanced communication methods for working with individual and stakeholder audiences.	D9
Cross-references Knowledge, skills and competencies within this domain can be cross-referenced with the following domains:	D10
 Foundational knowledge and skills; Surveillance systems; 	D11
 3. Field investigations; 4. Disease management; 7. Preparedness and response; 8. Enidemiologic studies; 	D12
10. Ecosystem health; 11. Leadership and management; and 13. Training.	D13

Subdomains

audiences

1. Oral communication to technical and nontechnical

2. Written communication to technical and

nontechnical audiences

4. Communication for events

3. Risk communication

D14

Subdomain 12.1

Domains

Oral communication to technical and nontechnical audiences

D1		Frontline	Intermediate	Advanced
D2 D3	: Health (Core)	 Explain the goal of a communication initiative to the intended target audience (K) Communicate clearly, calmly and respectfully (C) Understand the importance of team communications and practice active listening (C) 	 = Frontline + 1. Define the communication needs of different target audiences and contexts (C) 2. Describe the goal of a communication initiative to the intended target (C) 3. Deliver a presentation for 	 Intermediate + Define and anticipate the communication needs of different target audiences and contexts (C) Apply advanced communication methods appropriate to the different target audiences and contexts (C)
D4	One	 Prepare a presentation for oral communication, using the appropriate support and technological tools and adapting the language to the target audience and context (C) 	oral communication, using the appropriate support and technological tools and adapting the language to the target audience and context (C)	 Enable team communications and support active listening practices (C)
D5		1. Apply the main rules for public speaking (e.g., style, posture, verbal, paraverbal, and nonverbal language, eye contact, dressing code, etc.) and emotional control	 Frontline + Provide feedback to the audience, facilitate dialogue and manage conflicts during oral presentations 	 Intermediate + Define and explain the goal of a communication initiative to the intended target, engaging the
D6		 (C) 2. Take account of audience feedback, responding in a timely manner (C) 	 (C) 2. Manage differences to ensure respectful exchanges among the audience (C) 3. Practice active listening in team 	 beneficiaries in active response (C) Prepare a comprehensive presentation for oral communication, using the most appropriate supports and
D8	(Optional)	 Acknowledge differences among the target audiences (C) Recognize gender issues relevant for communication in different sattings (K) 	communications (C) 4. Consider gender issues in different communication settings (K)	 technological tools, adapting the language to the target audience and context (C) Review and provide indications for oral presentations (C)
D9	One Health	settings (n)		 Demonstrate public speaking rules (e.g., style, posture, verbal, paraverbal, and nonverbal language, eye contact, dressing code, etc.) confidently in different contexts, use active listening and control emotions (C)
D10				 Facilitate consensus through dialogue and respectful acknowledgement of differences among the audience (C) Ensure that gender issues are
D11				addressed in communication settings (C)
D12	Human	 Use the basic participatory epidemiology communication methods in public health (C) 	 = Frontline + 1. Adopt participatory epidemiology communication methods in public health (C) 	 Intermediate + Enable adoption of participatory epidemiology communication methods in public health (C)
D13	Animal	 Use the basic participatory epidemiology communication methods in animal health (C) 	 Frontline + Adopt participatory epidemiology communication methods in animal health (C) 	 Intermediate + Enable adoption of participatory epidemiology communication methods in animal health (C)
D14	Environment			

Subdomain 12.2 Written communication to technical and nontechnical audiences

	Frontline	Intermediate	Advanced	D:
One Health (Core)		 Define key messages for an effective written communication (C) 	 Intermediate + Write key messages and assess their effectiveness in relation to the communication goal (C) 	D
One Health (Optional)	 Identify key messages for an effective written communication (C) Draft key messages providing a basic logical structure, adapting the language, format and style to the target audience and context (C) Contribute to preparation of written documents for different target audiences (e.g., press releases, briefing notes; concept notes, fact sheets, etc.) (C) 	 Frontline + Write key messages providing a logical structure and adapting the language, format and style to the target audience and context (C) Write documents for different target audiences (e.g., press releases; briefing notes; concept notes; fact sheets; etc.) (C) Co-author a paper for publication in a peer-reviewed scientific journal, according to journal's guidelines (C) 	 Intermediate + Assess key messages for logical structure and adaptation to the language, format and style of the target audience and context and disseminate for publication (C) Lead on writing a scientific paper intended for publication in a peerreviewed scientific journal (C) Peer-review a scientific paper intended for publication in a peerreviewed scientific journal (C) 	D3
Human				
Animal				D7
Environment				D

D9

D10

D11

D12

D13

D14

Domains

Domains Subdomain 12.3 Risk communication

D1								
DI		Frontline	Intermediate	Advanced				
D2	he Health (Core)	1. Describe the role of risk communication in the risk analysis process (K)	= Frontline	 Intermediate + Use the most appropriate methods and tools to build trustful relationships with stakeholders, acknowledge uncertainty and care to address 				
D3	0			risk perception and protect beneficiaries from fake news (C)				
D4			 Frontline + Define expected and desired changes in the target population's behaviors, (i.e., the objectives of a 	 Intermediate + Work with partners and stakeholders to manage risk communication in times of 				
D5	otional)		risk communication campaign) (C)2. Distinguish the most appropriate methods and tools to build trustful relationships with	peace and during emergency situations (C)2. Evaluate needs and expectations of the target audiences				
D6	One Health (Op		stakenolders, acknowledge uncertainty and care to address risk perception (C)	 and stakeholders on risk communication (C) 3. Engage stakeholders to achieve the desired changes following risk communication (C) 				
D7				4. Work confidently with media, including social media, to establish a positive relationship for risk communication (C)				
D8				5. Develop criteria to assess communication bias (C)				
	Human							
D9	Animal							
D10	Environment							

D11

D12

D13

Subdomain 12.4
Communication for events

	Frontline	Intermediate	Advanced	
(1		 Organize events for technical and nontechnical audiences (C) 	 Intermediate + Promote and participate in the communication process to organize events for technical and 	D2
One Health (Core			nontechnical audiences (C) 2. Participate in defining an event agenda, identifying target audiences, goals, contents, speakers and considering	D3
			organizational aspects (C) 3. Lead the event assessment analysis, including review of lessons learned (C)	D4
	1. Apply the components of effective communication to organize events for technical and nontechnical audiences (S)	= Frontline + 1. Participate in defining an event agenda, identifying target	= Intermediate	D5
lth (Optional)	 Contribute to design an event agenda, identifying target audiences, goals, contents, speakers and considering 	 audiences, goals, contents, speakers and considering organizational aspects (C) Participate in the event assessment analysis (C) 		D6
One Hea	 organizational aspects (C) 3. Support the event organization team by providing technical contributions, disseminating information through different 			D7
	media and serving as a contact point for participants (C)			D8
Human				
Animal				D9
lvironment				D1(
ц				

D11

D13

D14

Domains

Domain 13 Training

Introduction

D4

Training is a fundamental component of the capacity building process that occurs in both formal and informal settings. Field epidemiologists are called to interact and manage teams at various levels, and knowledge and competency transfer has to be considered as a core responsibility to facilitate the organizational human resources growth and improvement.

This domain defines the competences that field epidemiologists should demonstrate to manage individual and group learning processes, design, deliver and evaluate learning needs' assessment studies, and develop and evaluate residential, virtual or blended training programmes. Competencies are also described for delivering user driven training initiatives, applying residential and blended learning methods for both classroom and virtual training and mentor based training at three levels: trainee, trainer and mentor. One subdomain describes the necessary competencies to develop accurate, relevant and engaging contents for eLearning, while one is dedicated to continuous quality improvement and risk management principles in the training context.

At the frontline level, field epidemiologists demonstrate engagement and support in learning processes and dynamics, understanding of learning needs' assessments, participation in training delivery and eLearning development and capacity to apply quality standards and risk management measures.

At the intermediate level, field epidemiologists facilitate learning processes to develop safe learning environments, develop and use learning needs' assessments, design, develop, carry out and assess training programmes, design and develop educational contents for eLearning and adopt quality standards and risk management measures.

At the advanced level, field epidemiologists lead learning processes to enable safe learning environments, lead learning needs' assessments, training design, delivery and assessment, support research and innovation in the field, provide scientific coordination to eLearning initiatives, and promote and transfer competencies on quality standards and risk management.

Cross-references

Knowledge, skills and competencies within this domain can be cross-referenced with the following domains:

- 2. Surveillance systems;
- 3. Field investigations;
- 4. Disease management;
- 5. Laboratory capacity;
- 6. Infection prevention and control, biosafety and biosecurity;
- 7. Preparedness and response;
- 8. Epidemiological studies;
- 10. Ecosystem Health,
- 11. Leadership and management;
- 12. Communication and community engagement; and
- 14. Ethics.

Subdomains

- 1. Learning processes
- 2. Learning needs assessment, training programme design, development and assessment
- 3. Training delivery
- 4. eLearning
- 5. Quality and risk management in training

Subdomain 13.1 Learning processes

One Health (Core

One Health (Optional)

Human

Animal

Environment

Frontline

(S)

1. Engage in individual and group

learning processes, ensuring

learning environment that meets

learning needs of beneficiaries (C)

achieving their learning outcomes

3. Contribute to support learners in

interactive approaches (C)

2. Contribute to facilitate a safe

4. Engage in One Health learner

5. Describe multidisciplinary and

6. Describe the different learning

multisectoral group dynamics (K)

communities (C)

styles (K)

Intermediate

= Frontline +

(C)

1. Implement individual and group

interactive learning processes

environment that meets learning

2. Apply adult learning principles (S)

multisectoral group dynamics,

managing emotions and conflicts

to develop a safe learning

needs of beneficiaries (C)

3. Support learners in achieving

4. Describe and facilitate

multidisciplinary and

5. Create One Health learner

participation (C)

learning (S)

communities and motivate

methodologies to facilitate

7. Describe age specific learning patterns and adapt learning contents to them (S)

6. Understand the different learning

styles and adopt the main training

their learning outcomes (C)

Advanced

1. Describe, implement and lead

beneficiaries (C)

= Intermediate +

(C)

individual and group interactive learning processes to develop a safe learning environment that meets learning needs of

1. Apply adult learning principles (C)

achieving their learning outcomes

2. Support and inspire learners in

3. Create One Health learner

communities, motivate

cascade processes (C)

4. Evaluate the different

learning (C)

participation, and establish

learning styles to adopt the

most appropriate training

methodologies to facilitate

the different learners (C)

6. Design and deliver age

One Health issues (C)

5. Customize learning pathways for

appropriate learning content on

511

D12

013

Domains

D1

Subdomain 13.2 Learning needs assessment, training programme design, development and assessment

		Frontline	Intermediate	Advanced
D2 D3	One Health (Core)	1. Participate in the learning evaluation process (S)	= Frontline	 Intermediate + Lead development of learning needs assessment studies and the design, development and assessment of training plans and programmes, including training of trainers, assuring the necessar resources (C)
D4		 Contribute to the assessment of learning needs (S) Describe a learning needs' 	= Frontline + 1. Design learning needs assessment studies develop and assess	= Intermediate + 1. Lead and develop basic and advanced residential virtual and
D5		 assessment report and identify relevant information to design training programmes (S) Interpret training programmes and contribute to their 	 training plans and programmes, including training for trainers (C) Identify the most advanced methodologies to strengthen and assess learning progress (C) 	blended training programmes (learning outcomes, learning methodologies, technical contents, choice of facilitators, delivery, duration of training, rati
D6		 development (C) 4. Understand the basic methodologies to strengthen and 	 Develop basic and advanced residential, virtual and blended training programmes (i.e., 	of theory to applied training, and training modalities, etc.) (C) 2. Lead, design, and apply an evaluation process cohoront with
D7	alth (Optional)	assess learning progress (S) 5. Identify learning resources to be included in training programmes (C)	learning outcomes, learning methodologies, technical contents, choice of facilitators, delivery, duration of training, ratio of theory to applied training, and training modalities, etc.) (C)	 the expected learning outcome and an impact assessment (C) Lead and liaise with a network subject matter and pedagogica experts and institutions to
D8	One He		4. Design and apply an evaluation process coherent with the expected learning outcomes and an impact assessment (C)	provide adequate resources for the training programmes to be implemented (C)4. Facilitate the appropriate use
D9			5. Liaise with a network of subject matter and pedagogical experts and institutions to provide adequate resources for the training programmes to be	of virtual learning solutions and tools to develop eLearning modules (C)
D10			 implemented (C) 6. Utilize virtual learning solutions and tools to produce eLearning modules and liaise with technical 	
D11			providers to choose appropriate options (C)	- Interne dista
D12	Human		trainees to appropriate learning opportunities (C)	- Intermediate
D12	Animal			
013	rironment			
D14	Env			

Subdomain 13.3 Training delivery

_			
n.			

	Frontline	Intermediate	Advanced	D
)ne Health (Core)				[
0	1. Identify and use the basic training	= Frontline +	= Intermediate +	D
	 methodologies for virtual, residential and blended training to carry out specific training activities (S) 2. Use the basic methodologies to 	1. Use a wide variety of training methodologies, for virtual, residential, and blended training and programmes, to manage and assess them appropriately (C)	1. Use a wide variety of training methodologies for virtual, residential, and blended training programmes and adopt the most advanced methodologies to	D
nal)	strengthen and analyselearning progress (C)Tutor residential or virtual class activities and conduct evaluations	 Apply the most advanced methodologies to strengthen and assess learning progress (C) Innovate in the use of learning 	 strengthen and assess learning progress, to lead and assess such programmes appropriately (C) Support research and 	D
ie Health (Optio	 (C) 5. Facilitate on the job individual training, providing the necessary guidance to the trainee and monitoring the 	 methodologies, exploiting management and technological resources (C) 4. Act as hands on tutor and mentor for individuals and groups (C) 	methodologies, exploiting management and technological resources and assuring availability of necessary financial resources	D
ō	 ongoing improvements through appropriate tools (C) 6. Implement joint field training initiatives, including: surveillance, 	 Strengthen joint field training initiatives, including surveillance, outbreak investigation and field research (C) 	(C)3. Link ad hoc field in outbreaks with existing initiatives for community engagement (C)	[
	outbreak investigation, field research, etc. (C) 7. Transfer basic knowledge, skills and abilities through on the job montorchip, using both didactic	 Design tools for and facilitate hands on individual training and monitor the ongoing improvements (C) 	 Supervise tool design and facilitation of hands-on individual training (C) Enhance use of training of trainers programmes (C) 	C
	and hands on approaches (C)		P 0	
Human				D
Animal				D
Environment				D

Domains	Subdomain 13.4
	eLearning

D1				
		Frontline	Intermediate	Advanced
D2	Health (Core)			
D3	One			
00		 Participate as subject matter expert in development and 	= Frontline +	= Intermediate +
D4	lth (Optional)	delivery of eLearning modules and courses (S)2. Identify the main resources to be included in development of	 Develop elearning modules, combining educational content and methodological expertise (C) Assess and incorporate the most appropriate resources to develop 	modules in the role of scientific coordinator leading the team of subject matter experts in collaboration with the
D5	One Hea	eLearning modules (S)	contents for eLearning (C)	 methodological coordinator (C) Plan for necessary maintenance, anticipated updates and associated budgeting for eLearning modules (C)
D6	Human			
D7	Animal			
	nent			
D8	Environ			

- D10
- D11
- D12

- D14

Subdomain 13.5 Quality and risk management in training

Domains

	Frontline	Intermediate	Advanced	DI
One Health (Core)				D2
	 Identify processes that rely on an effective management of training 	= Frontline +	= Intermediate +	D3
	actions (K)2. Recognize the risks arising from undesired events and implement the defined appropriate	 Define and map the processes that rely on effective and efficient management of training actions (S) Identify the risks arising from 	mapping of the processes that rely on effective and efficient management of training actions (C)	D4
One Health (Optional)	 mitigation measures (S) 3. Describe customer orientation concepts and contribute to address customer satisfaction (S) 4. Apply continuous quality improvement principles for trainees, training of trainers and trainer of mentors including orientation workshops for trainers and mentors to maintain minimum quality standards (C) 5. Include qualitative and quantitative evaluation of training curricula, training methods, training logistics, trainee outputs and outcomes including measuring short, medium and long term impacts (C) 	 undesired events, design and put in place the appropriate mitigation measures (C) 3. Define specificities of the customer orientation approach as applied to training (C) 4. Design and apply customer satisfaction measures (C) 	 Validate, monitor and control the application of the measures to identify the risks arising from undesired events, design and put in place the appropriate mitigation measures (C) Implement target audience feedback measures (C) Promote a quality approach to 	D5
				D6
			 Fromote a quality approach to the management of training. (e.g., International Organization for Standardization 9001:2015 norms; Analyse, Design, Develop, Implement Evaluate cycle. etc.) 	D7
			 (C) 5. Transfer competences on quality and risk management in training (C) 	D8
			6. Assure the necessary resources for quality and risk management (S)	D9
Human				
Animal				D10
Environment				D11

D12

Domain 14 Ethics

Introduction

Professional ethics are based on human moral, cultural and religious values which guide human behaviour governance systems. The field epidemiologist is responsible for maintaining professional ethical standards and norms in order to engender societal trust. This trust is prerequisite to enable field epidemiologists to perform their field duties and protect communities and populations. Ethics applies to the manner in which field activities, including investigation and surveillance, research, data management and reporting are conducted. In addition, ethical codes of practice include gender and discrimination issues.

Sector specific differences exist at all three levels, specifically related to use of human subjects, animal welfare and ethical field challenges including potential conflicts of interest. One Welfare includes the interconnections between social, human and animal welfare and the integrity of the environment. This includes environmental ethics related to environmental stewardship, biodiversity, air, water, and soil resources sustainability and pollution prevention. At all levels, the ethical code of practice includes gender and discrimination issues.

At the frontline and intermediate level, field epidemiologists avoid conflicts of interest and apply ethical principles and practices daily to gain and maintain public trust, in the performance of duties including investigation and surveillance, research, data management and reporting.

At the advanced level, field epidemiologists lead and support the resolution of ethical conflicts and apply ethical principles and practices daily to gain and maintain public trust, in the performance of duties including investigation and surveillance, research, data management and reporting. The advanced level will collaborate in situations dealing with conflict resolution at the local and national levels.

Cross-references

Knowledge, skills and competencies within this domain can be cross-referenced with the following domains:

2. Surveillance systems;

- 3. Field investigations;
- 4. Disease management;
- 5. Laboratory capacity;

6. Infection prevention and control, biosafety and biosecurity;

- 7. Preparedness and response;
- 8. Epidemiologic studies;
- 9. Data management, biostatistics, and informatics;
- 10. Ecosystem health;
- 11. Leadership and management;
- 12: Communication and community engagement; and
- 13. Training.

Subdomains

- 1. Ethics and its role related to health
- 2. Ethical issues related to field epidemiology
- 3. Moral challenges related to ethical decision-making
- 4. Legal and regulatory ethical frameworks
- 5. The five step process for ethical decision-making

D6

D8
Subdomain 14.1 Ethics and its role related to health

	Frontline	Intermediate	Advanced	DI
	 Apply principles of professional ethics (C) Define professional ethics and the level former successional ethics and 	= Frontline	= Intermediate	D2
ore)	the legal frameworks related to humans, animals and the environment (S) 3 Define ethics in relation to human			D3
One Health (C	animal and environmental health management, welfare and biosafety and biosecurity procedures (S)			D4
	4. Define ethics in relation to teaching, mentoring and research including confidentiality, data integrity and protection, data and information sharing and conflicts of interest (C)			D5
One Health (Optional)	 Define the four principles of biomedical ethics: beneficence, non-maleficence, autonomy and justice (C) 	= Frontline	= Intermediate	D6
Human	 Identify ethical concepts related to an individual's physical, emotional and mental integrity (C) 	= Frontline	= Intermediate	D7
Animal	1. Apply basic WOAH guidelines governing animal welfare (C)	 = Frontline + 1. List the components of "Practical" Ethic for Animals⁸ (K) 	= Intermediate	D8
	 Explain basic principles of environmental justice and the local historical context and policies that have led to current environmental justice disparities 	 Frontline + Apply basic principles of environmental justice and the local historical context and policies that have led to current 	 Intermediate + Develop and lead training on basic principles of environmental justice and the local historical context and policies that have led 	D9
ronment	 (S) Describe environmental ethics relevant to environmental stewardship, biodiversity, 	environmental justice disparities (S) 2. Explain environmental ethics to promote environmental	 to current environmental justice disparities (C) 2. Develop and lead training on environmental ethics to promote 	D10
Envi	air, water and soil resources sustainability and pollution prevention (K)3. Describe sociocultural and	stewardship, biodiversity, air, water and soil resources sustainability and pollution prevention (S)	environmental stewardship, biodiversity, air, water and soil resources sustainability and pollution prevention (C)	D11
	economic considerations in payment for ecosystem services (S)	3. Explain sociocultural and economic considerations in payment for ecosystem services (C)	3. Develop and lead training on sociocultural and economic considerations in payment for ecosystem services (C)	D12

D13

D14

8 Fraser, D. (2012). A 'practical' ethic for animals. Journal of agricultural and environmental ethics, 25(5), 721-746.

99

Domains

Domains

D1		Frontline	Intermediate	Advanced	
D2	One Health (Core)				
D3		 Describe the scope of ethics related to: Care Safety 	 = Frontline + 1. Describe the concept of One Welfare including interconnections between social, 	 Intermediate + Develop and lead training on the concept of One Welfare including interconnections among social, 	
D4	ptional)	 Informed consent Duty to care (compensation) (C) Describe the importance of ethics in teaching, research and the 	 human and animal welfare and the integrity of the environment (C) 2. Explain the role of human mental health in animal welfare (C) 	 human and animal welfare and the integrity of the environment (C) 2. Utilize ethical guidelines and legal policies to propose strategies and 	
D5	One Health (O	 performance of field duties (C) 3. Describe ethical issues arising from community and population, consultation, interviews and focus groups; gender and cultural 	 Explain the link between behavioural rehabilitation of animals and people (C) Explain the need for coordinated action between animal wolfare 	responses for emergency clinical crisis in any sector (C)	
D6		 context of field epidemiology projects (C) 4. Describe the ethical and health impacts of transhumance on human, animal and 	action between animat wenare and conservation of nature (C)		
D7		environmental health (C)		1 Appraise risks and benefits of	
D8	Human			 Appraise this and benchs of including a placebo arm in clinical field studies (e.g., during an outbreak) (C) Explain so-called therapeutic misconception and how it could affect duties of health care workers in emergencies (K) 	
D9		 Apply animal welfare guidelines when dealing with the following 	= Frontline	= Intermediate	
D10	imal	nimal	 Animal transportation Animal rescue Animal husbandry and production 		
D11	A	 Humane depopulation Animal cruelty and neglect Animal hoarding Natural and anthropogenic disaster relief 			
D12	vironment	Veterinary care (S)1. Describe ethical concerns related	= Frontline	= Intermediate	
D13		vironment	 to: Introduction to invasive species Pollution Climate change Damage to biodiversity and 		
D14	8	 ecosystem health of flora and fauna Human-wildlife conflict Land use (C) 			

Subdomain 14.2 Ethical issues related to field epidemiology

Subdomain 14.3

Moral challenges related to ethical decision-making

Domains

	Frontline	Intermediate	Advanced	D1
One Health (Core)	 List the stakeholders involved in making ethical decisions: Patients (human and animals) Clients (human) Civil society (S) Describe conflict resolution methods at the community level (S) 	= Frontline + 1. Perform ethical decision-making (C)	 Intermediate + Collaborate in conflict resolution at the national and community levels (C) 	D2 D3
One Health (Optional)	 Explain the moral challenges stakeholders face related to: Moral distress Divided loyalties Conflict of interest (C) Apply ethically relevant criteria for triage, resource allocation and 	 Frontline + Monitor ethically relevant criteria for triage, resource allocation and standard of care in emergency response (C) 	 Intermediate + Develop ethically relevant criteria for triage, resource allocation and standard of care in emergency response (C) Advise on conflicts between individual rights and decision- making versus community and 	D4
luman	standard of care in emergency response (C)		 population health protection (C) Evaluate ethical issues when defining priorities within a limited budget situation (C) 	D6
				D7
Animal	 Explain the challenges and decisions public and private veterinarians face in balancing: Human health Animal health Animal welfare Farmer livelihoods Food security Economic development 	= Frontline	= Intermediate	D8 D9
	Wildlife-livestock conflictsDisease spillover (C)			D10
ť	 Explain the challenges and decisions public and private environment professionals face in balancing: Human-wildlife conflict 	= Frontline	= Intermediate	D11
Environmer	 Wildlife-livestock conflict Disease spillover Land use Community development Conflicts between 			D12
	agroecosystems and natural biodiversity and ecosystems (C)			D13

D14

Subdomain 14.4

Domains	_			
Domanis				C .
				Э.

Legal and regulatory ethical frameworks

D1				
DI		Frontline	Intermediate	Advanced
D2	lth (Core)	 Adhere to prevailing ethics by- laws, standards and best practices (C) Report ethics incidents up the 	 Frontline + Advocate for ethical policy making by describing ethical and moral provisions in guidelines, legal and 	= Intermediate
D3	One Hea	 chain of command (C) 3. Adhere to by-laws and regulations governing professional behavior (C) 	regulatory frameworks (C)	
D4	One Health (Optional)	 Apply enforcement action when appropriate (C) 	= Frontline	= Intermediate
D5		 Adhere to ethical considerations and legal standards related to reporting and sharing of data and research studies involving human 	 = Frontline + 1. Apply anonymization and pseudonymization (C) 2. D. for the tife of the second second	= Intermediate
D6	Human	subjects (C)2. Adhere to data protection requirements related to collection of personal information in	 Define, identify and manage conflicts of interest (C) Evaluate online survey services relative to data security, handling and storage (C) 	
D7		surveillance and during outbreak investigation (C) 3. Describe and apply concepts related to informed consent (C)		
D8	Animal	 Describe WOAH Animal Welfare Guiding Principles (S) Describe the implementation of good animal welfare practices (C) 	= Frontline	= Intermediate
D9	t	 Describe the principles of Green Circular Bioeconomy (S) List international legal 	= Frontline	= Intermediate
D10	Environmen	frameworks to protect natural resources (UN Convention on Biological Diversity, CITES, etc.) (K)		
D11		 List the WHO 10 Chemicals of Concern and their current thresholds of exposure risk (K) 		

D12

D13

D1

Subdomain 14.5

The five step process for ethical decision-making

	Frontline	Intermediate	Advanced
	 Explain the five step process for ethical decision-making: Assess the situation 	= Frontline	= Intermediate
Health (Core	 Assess your values and potential conflicts List options and the pros and cons of each 		
One	 Assess options in relation to autonomy (respect) and justice (fairness) Review options and select one (C) 		
One Health (Optional)			
Human			
Animal			
onment			
Envire			

D9

D10

D11

D12

D13

D14

Domains

Bibliography



- Africa CDC (2020). Framework for One Health Practice in National Public Health Institutes. (https://africacdc.org/download/framework-forone-health-practice-in-national-public-healthinstitutes/, accessed 23 March 2023).
- 2. Al Nsour M et al. (2021). Evaluation of Advanced Field Epidemiology Training Programs in the Eastern Mediterranean Region: A Multi-Country Study. Frontiers in Public Health, 9:684174.
- Bronzwaer S, Le Gourierec N, Koulouris S (2016). Editorial: The European Food Risk Assessment Fellowship Programme (EU-FORA). EFSA Journal, 14(11). (https://data.europa.eu/doi/10.2903/j. efsa.2016.e14111, accessed 7 July 2022).
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (2006). Field Epidemiology Training Program Standard Core Curriculum. (https://www.tephinet.org/sites/default/ files/content/resource/files/fetp_development_ handbook_0.pdf, accessed 9 May 2023).
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (2016). Recommended Competencies, Activities, and Deliverables for Residents in FETP-Advanced Programs. (https://www.cdc.gov/globalhealth/ healthprotection/fetp/pdf/FETP-A_Competencies_ Activities_and_Deliverables_2016_Final-508.pdf, accessed 9 May 2023).
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (2018). Public Health Emergency Preparedness and Response Capabilities: National Standards for State, Local, Tribal, and Territorial Public Health. (https://www.cdc.gov/orr/readiness/capabilities/ index.htm, accessed 9 May 2023).
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (2020). FETP-Frontline Planning Guide. (https://www. cdc.gov/globalhealth/healthprotection/fetp/pdf/ FETPF_Planning_Guide_10-2020_Final-508.pdf, accessed 9 May 2023).
- CHS Alliance (2017). Core humanitarian competency framework. (https://www.chsalliance. org/get-support/resource/core-humanitariancompetency-framework/, accessed 9 May 2023).
- Council on Education for Public Health (2016). Accreditation Criteria - Schools of Public Health & Public Health Programs. (https://media.ceph.org/ documents/2021.Criteria.pdf, accessed 9 May 2023).

- Council on Linkages Between Academia and Public Health Practice (2021). Core Competencies for Public Health Professionals 2021. (http:// www.phf.org/resourcestools/pages/core_public_ health_competencies.aspx, accessed 9 May 2023).
- 11. Czabanowska K, Kuhlmann E (2021). Public health competences through the lens of the COVID-19 pandemic: what matters for health workforce preparedness for global health emergencies. The International Journal of Health Planning and Management, 36(S1):14–19.
- 12. EcoHealth Alliance (2018). One Health: Operational Framework for Strengthening Human, Animal and Environmental Public Health Systems at their Interface. (https://documents1.worldbank.org/ curated/en/961101524657708673/pdf/122980-REVISED-PUBLIC-World-Bank-One-Health-Framework-2018.pdf, accessed 9 May 2023).
- Emergency Management Institute (1998). Animals in disasters. (https://training.fema.gov/emiweb/ downloads/is10_a-2.pdf, accessed 9 May 2023).
- 14. European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control. (2010). Core competencies for EU public health epidemiologists in communicable disease surveillance and response. LU, Publications Office (https://data.europa.eu/doi/10.2900/26825, accessed 7 July 2022).
- European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control (2013). Core competencies for infection control and hospital hygiene professionals in the European Union. (https://data.europa.eu/ doi/10.2900/7778, accessed 7 July 2022).
- European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control. (2017). Public health emergency preparedness: core competencies for EU Member States. LU, Publications Office (https://data.europa. eu/doi/10.2900/049462, accessed 7 July 2022).
- European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control (2017). Vaccine-preventable diseases and immunisation – core competencies. Stockholm, ECDC (https://www.ecdc.europa.eu/sites/default/ files/documents/VPD%20Competencies%20 Training_Short_Technical%20report_final_0.pdf, accessed 10 May 2023).

- 18. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nationsed (2011a). A value chain approach to animal diseases risk management: technical foundations and practical framework for field application. Rome, Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO animal production and health guidelines, No. 4; https:// www.fao.org/sustainable-food-value-chains/ library/details/en/c/266072/, accessed 10 May 2023).
- Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (2011b). Good emergency management practice: the essentials a guide to preparing for animal health emergencies. Rome, FAO (FAO animal production and health, No. 11; https:// www.fao.org/publications/card/fr/c/68b14f27-5234-51f3-b46e-8ecea0029d9b/, accessed 10 May 2023).
- 20. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (2021a). Summary Report: Field Training Programme for Wildlife, Ecosystems, Biodiversity, and the Environment (FTP-WEBE) Curriculum Framework Under a One Health Approach; Edited by David Castellan and Scott Newman, FAO Regional Office for Asia and the Pacific (Bangkok, Thailand), FAO Regional Office for Africa (Accra, Ghana) and the FAO Investment Centre. Rome.
- Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (2021b). Developing field epidemiology training for veterinarians. FAO (http://www.fao. org/documents/card/en/c/cb7545en, accessed 23 March 2023).
- Frankson R et al. (2016). One Health Core Competency Domains. Frontiers in Public Health,
 4. (http://journal.frontiersin.org/Article/10.3389/ fpubh.2016.00192/abstract, accessed 7 July 2022).
- 23. Fraser D (2012). A "Practical" Ethic for Animals. Journal of Agricultural and Environmental Ethics, 25(5):721–746.
- 24. Johnson K et al. (2013). Competency-Based Standardized Training for Humanitarian Providers: Making Humanitarian Assistance a Professional Discipline. Disaster Medicine and Public Health Preparedness, 7(4):369–372.

- Johnston LM et al. (2014). Identification of Core Competencies for an Undergraduate Food Safety Curriculum Using a Modified Delphi Approach: Competencies for food safety curriculum. Journal of Food Science Education, 13(1):12–21.
- M. D. Heymann DLed (2022). Control of Communicable Diseases Manual: An Official Report of the American Public Health Association, 21st edition. Amer Public Health Assn.
- 27. Machalaba CC et al. (2018). Institutionalizing One Health: From Assessment to Action. Health Security, 16(S1):S-37-S-43.
- OIE (2012). OIE recommendations on the Competencies of graduating veterinarians ('Day 1 graduates') to assure National Veterinary Services of quality. (https://www.woah.org/app/ uploads/2021/03/dayone-b-ang-vc.pdf, accessed 10 May 2023).
- 29. OIE (2013). Veterinary education core curriculum. (https://www.woah.org/app/uploads/2021/03/afcore-ang.pdf, accessed 10 May 2023).
- OIE (2018). OIE Competency Guidelines for Veterinary Paraprofessionals. OIE World Organisation for Animal Health (https://doc.oie.int/ dyn/portal/index.xhtml?page=alo&aloId=35496, accessed 7 July 2022).
- One Health High-Level Expert Panel (OHHLEP) et al. (2022). One Health: A new definition for a sustainable and healthy futureDvorin JD, ed. PLOS Pathogens, 18(6):e1010537.
- One Health High-Level Expert Panel (OHHLEP) (2023). Prevention of zoonotic spillover: from relying on response to reducing the risk at source. (https://www.who.int/publications/m/item/ prevention-of-zoonotic-spillover, accessed 10 May 2023).
- Parker CL et al. (2005). The Road Map to Preparedness : A Competency-Based Approach to All-Hazards Emergency Readiness Training for the Public Health Workforce. Public Health Reports, 120(5):504–514.

- Pinto J et al. (2023). Development of core competencies for field veterinary epidemiology training programs. Frontiers in Veterinary Science, 10:1143375.
- 35. Secretariat of the Convention on Biological Diversity (2004). Addis Ababa principles and guidelines for the sustainable use of biodiversity. Montreal, Secretariat of the Convention on Biological Diversity.
- Southeast Asia One Health University Network (2014). SEAHUN's 14 One Health modules: learning better responses to complex health problems. (https://www.seaohun.org/one-health-modules, accessed 10 May 2023).
- 37. The Task Force for Global Health (2018). The global field epidemiology roadmap: a report of the meeting held at the Rockefeller Foundation Bellagio Center. (https://www.tephinet.org/sites/default/files/content/attachment/2018-11-26/The%20Global%20 Field%20Epidemiology%20Roadmap_11.26.18. FINAL_.pdf, accessed 10 May 2023).
- 38. United States Agency for International Development (2020). One Health Workforce Resource Library, Competency Framework, and Evaluation Toolkit. (https://s3.us-east-1.wasabisys. com/owha-sample-bucket/2022/01/One-Health-Competency-Framework-Toolkit-Manual_Version-II-_-August-2022.pdf, accessed 10 May 2023).
- University of California, Davis et al. (2018). Core Competencies in One Health Education: What Are We Missing? NAM Perspectives, 8(6). (https://nam. edu/core-competencies-in-one-health-educationwhat-are-we-missing/, accessed 7 July 2022).
- Walker P, Russ C (2010). Professionalising the Humanitarian Sector A scoping study. Tufts University,:100 (http://fic.tufts.edu/publicationitem/professionalising-the-humanitarian-sector/, accessed 10 May 2023).
- World Bank, Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (2022). Reducing pandemic risks at source: Wildlife, environment and One Health foundations in East and South Asia. Washington, D.C. (https://openknowledge. worldbank.org/entities/publication/e983b56c-0a87-523d-94aa-e5917f110635, accessed 10 May 2023).

- World Health Organization (2008). Managing WHO Humanitarian Response in the Field. (https:// www.who.int/publications/i/item/managing-whohumanitarian-response-in-the-field, accessed 10 May 2023).
- 43. World Health Organization (2015). Public health for mass gatherings: key considerations. Geneva, World Health Organization,:178 (https://apps.who.int/iris/ handle/10665/162109, accessed 7 July 2022).
- 44. World Health Organization (2017). Emergency response framework (ERF), 2nd ed. Geneva, World Health Organization (https://apps.who.int/iris/ handle/10665/258604, accessed 24 March 2023).
- World Health Organization (2018). Standard Competencies Framework for the Immunization Workforce. (https://www.who.int/publications/m/ item/full-competency-framework-document, accessed 10 May 2023).
- World Health Organization (2020a). Core competencies for infection prevention and control professionals. Geneva, World Health Organization (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/335821, accessed 7 July 2022).
- 47. World Health Organization (2020b). WHO-ASPHER Competency Framework for the Public Health Workforce in the European Region. Copenhagen (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/347866, accessed 10 May 2023).
- World Health Organization (2022a). Early Warning Alert and Response in Emergencies: an operational guide. Geneva (https://iris.who.int/ handle/10665/365730, accessed 10 May 2023).
- World Health Organization (2022b). Joint external evaluation tool: International Health Regulations (2005), third edition. Geneva (https://iris.who.int/ handle/10665/357087, accessed 10 May 2023).
- 50. World Health Organization, Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, World Organisation for Animal Health (2019). Taking a multisectoral, one health approach: a tripartite guide to addressing zoonotic diseases in countries. Geneva, World Health Organization (https://apps. who.int/iris/handle/10665/325620, accessed 14 March 2023).

Annexes

Annex 1 COHFE framework technical advisory	
group and reviewers	110
Annex 2	
Competencies template	113
Annov 2	
Allitex 5	
One Health glossary	114
Annex 3 One Health glossary Annex 4	114



COHFE framework technical advisory group and reviewers

The core technical team from FAO, WHO and WOAH would like to thank the following individuals for contributing their time and expertise for reviewing the *COHFE framework* and the associated guidance documents.

Working Group Chairs (name and affiliation)	
Arnold Bosman	Transmissible.eu
Karoon Chanachai	USAID Regional Development Mission for Asia
Oladele Ogunseitan	University of California, Irvine
Carl Reddy	TEPHINET
Patricia Turner	World Veterinary Association

TAG Members (name and affiliation)

Alex Riolexus Ario	Uganda National Institute of Public Health
Katharina Alpers	Robert Koch Institute, Berlin, Germany
Mirwas Amiri	GHD EMPHNET
Assaf Anyamba	Oak Ridge National Laboratory (ORNL)
Haitham Bashier	GHD EMPHNET
Mohammed Bouslikhane	Institut Agronomique et Vétérinaire Hassan II, Rabat, Morocco (IAV Hassan II)
Jonas Brant	University of Brasilia
Stef Bronzwaer	European Food Safety Authority (EFSA)
Maud Carron	Canadian Food Inspection Agency
Jessica Chee	US Centers for Disease Control and Prevention
Louise Coole	UK Health Security Agency
Katherine Franc	US Centers for Disease Control and Prevention
Andreas Gilsdorf	Deutsche Gesellschaft für Internationale Zusammenarbeit (GIZ)
Marta Guerra	US Centers for Disease Control and Prevention
Ekhlas Hailat	GHD EMPHNET
Alden Henderson	US Centers for Disease Control and Prevention
Angela Hilmers	-
Tambri Housen	University of Newcastle
Despoina latridou	Federation of Veterinarians of Europe (FVE)
Claire Jennings	ТЕРНІЛЕТ
Lisa Jensen	Public Health Agency of Canada
Ernest Kenu	Ghana Field Epidemiology and Laboratory Training Programme, School of Public Health, University of Ghana
Rogath Kishimba	Field Epidemiology and Laboratory Training Program (FELTP), Tanzania Ministry of Health

TAG Members (name and affi	liation)
Moritz Klemm	European Commission
Esther Kukielka Zunzunegui	European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control (ECDC)
Lazarus Kuonza	South Africa Field Epidemiology Training Program, National Institute for Communicable Diseases of South Africa
Laura Macfarlane-Berry	University of Newcastle
Kohei Makito	Rakuno Gakuen University
Nikoletta Mavroeidi	_
Sihle Mdluli	SADC Epidemiology and Informatics Subcommittee
Onofre Edwin Merilles Jr.	Pacific Community (SPC)
Manoj Murhekar	ICMR-National Institute of Epidemiology, Chennai, India
Steven Ooi	National Centre for Infectious Diseases, Singapore
Wilfried Oyetola	Ecole Inter-Etats des Sciences et Médecine Vétérinaires (EISMV) de Dakar
Adela Paez Jimenez	-
William Pan	Duke University
Lorna Perez	Executive Secretariat of the Council of Health Ministers in Central America (SE-COMISCA)
Setshego Phokoje	-
Jeanine Pommier	European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control (ECDC)
Harena Rasamoelina	Indian Ocean Commission / SEGA-One Health network
Johannes Refisch	United Nations Environment Programme
Maria Concepcion Roces	-
David Rodriguez	Executive Secretariat of the Council of Health Ministers in Central America (SE-COMISCA)
John Rossow	US Centers for Disease Control and Prevention
Sean Shadomy	_
Joanne Taylor	University of Newcastle
Fehminaz Temel	General Directorate of Public Health, Ministry of Health, Türkiye
M. Salim Uzzaman	Institute of Epidemiology, Disease Control and Research, Dhaka, Bangladesh
James Wabacha	AU-IBAR
Daniel Zayden	Executive Secretariat of the Council of Health Ministers in Central America (SE-COMISCA)

Food and Agriculture Organization

frey Gilbert	
ela Gioia	
ghouba Kane	
m Okuthe	
rla Baker	
ott Newman	
ba Soumare	

World Health Organization

Brett Archer
Guillaume Belot
Stephane de la Rocque
Kaylee Errecaborde
Siobhan Fitzpatrick
Sara Hollis
Masaya Kato
Okot Charles Lukoya
Bernadette Mirembe
Tran Minh Nhu Nguyen
Ong-orn 'Aim' Prasarnphanich
Mohammad Nadir Sahak
Reuben Samuel

World Organisation for Animal Health

François Diaz
Sonia Fèvre
Jennifer N. Lasley
Sophie Muset
Ashish Sutar
aure Weber-Vintzel

Competencies template

Domain: Select one domain from the list of agreed upon domains

Subdomain: A topic under the domain (no action verbs)

	Frontline	Intermediate	Advanced
One Health	Add all items here (Knowledge/ Skill/Competency) with the following rules for each item:		
	 Start with an action verb from Bloom's taxonomy 		
	 Indicate the type (Knowledge/Skill/ Competency) 		
	e.g.: perform regular analysis of surveillance data (S)		
Human			
Animal			
Environment			

One Health glossary

Term	Definition
active listening	The practice of engaging closely with what a speaker is saying and indicating understanding, typically by asking relevant questions, using gestures, and summarizing (1)
aggregated data	Data that are summarized to express information related to a group of people, animals, plants, or objects classified under the same category (e.g. age, sex, species, substance) for a disease or health-related event
agricultural ecosystem	Artificial ecosystems created in the process of developing land and coastal/aquatic areas for farming, animal husbandry, and fishing (2)
agroecological	Pertaining to agroecology, a holistic and integrated approach that simultaneously applies ecological and social concepts and principles to the design and management of sustainable agriculture and food systems. It seeks to optimize the interactions between plants, animals, humans and the environment while also addressing the need for socially equitable food systems within which people can exercise choice over what they eat and how and where it is produced (3)
alien species	A species introduced outside its natural past or present distribution; if the species is problematic, it is termed an invasive alien species (4)
all-hazards approach	An approach to the management of the entire spectrum of emergency risks and events based on the recognition that there are common elements (and common capacities required) in the management of these risks, including in the responses to virtually all emergencies (5)
animal production	The production, rearing or growing of animal products including harvesting, milking and farmed animal production prior to slaughter. It also includes hunting and fishing and the harvesting of wild products (6)
anonymization	Anonymization is the process of turning data into a form that does not identify entities or individuals (7)
Anthropocene	The most recent period in the earth's history, when human activities have a very important effect on the earth's environment and climate (8)
anthropogenic drivers	Human-induced factors that directly or indirectly cause a change (in an ecosystem). The categories of anthropogenic driving forces are demographic, economic, sociopolitical, cultural and religious, scientific and technological <i>(9)</i>
anthroponosis (anthroponotic)	An infection or disease that is transmissible from humans to animals under natural conditions (10)
antimicrobial resistance (AMR)	Antimicrobial resistance is the ability of microorganisms to persist or grow in the presence of drugs designed to inhibit or kill them. These drugs, called antimicrobials, are used to treat infectious diseases caused by microorganisms such as bacteria, fungi, viruses and protozoan parasites (11)

Term	Definition
antimicrobial stewardship	A coherent set of actions which promote the responsible use of antimicrobials. This definition can be applied to actions at the individual level as well as the national and global level, and across human health, animal health and the environment <i>(12)</i>
basic priority rating system	A system used to rate health priorities, which incorporates various data sources and can be used to quantify disease problems or risk factors, or both. The health priority might be rated according to size, urgency, severity of the problem, economic loss, impact on others, effectiveness, propriety, economics, acceptability, legality of solutions, and availability of resources, among others (13)
bias	Any systematic error in the design, conduct or analysis of a study which results in estimates that depart systematically from the true value (14)
biodiversity (biological diversity)	The variability among living organisms from all sources including, inter alia, terrestrial, marine and other aquatic ecosystems and the ecological complexes of which they are part; this includes diversity within species, between species and of ecosystems (Article 2 of the Convention on Biodiversity) <i>(15)</i>
biodiversity indices (structural and functional)	Structural biodiversity (in terms of numbers, biomass, the composition of species and the population structure of communities) and functional biodiversity (presented as series of interactions between the various trophic levels) <i>(16)</i>
biosafety	The maintenance of safe conditions in storing, transport, handling, and disposing of biological substances to prevent inadvertent exposure of personnel (17)
biosecurity	The set of measures taken to limit or counter release of biological substances to the community or environment (17)
biotic integrity (biological integrity)	The ability to support and maintain a balanced, integrated adaptive assemblage of organisms having species composition, diversity, and functional organization comparable to that of natural habitat of the region (18,19)especially as they relate to the goal of attaining ecological integrity. The declining biotic integrity of our water resources over the past two decades is not exclusively due to water quality (physical/chemical
burden of disease	The burden of a particular disease or condition is estimated by adding together: the number of years of life a person loses as a consequence of dying early because of the disease (Years of Life Lost, YLL) and the number of years of life a person lives with disability caused by the disease (Years of Life lived with Disability, YLD). Recent efforts have also been made to quantify the burden of animal diseases. <i>(6,20,21)</i> along the One Health (OH
carbon cycle	The series of processes by which carbon compounds are interconverted in the environment, involving the incorporation of carbon dioxide into living tissue by photosynthesis and its return to the atmosphere through respiration, the decay of dead organisms, and the burning of fossil fuels <i>(22)</i>
case definition	A set of standard criteria for deciding whether an individual unit of has a particular disease or other outcome of interest (14)
Convention on International Trade in Endangered Species of Wild Fauna and Flora (CITES)	International agreement between governments that aims to ensure international trade in specimens of wild animals and plants does not threaten the survival of the species (23)

Term	Definition
climate change	A change of climate that is attributed directly or indirectly to human activity that alters the composition of the global atmosphere and that is in addition to natural climate variability observed over comparable time periods (24)
cold chain	A low temperature-controlled supply chain; an uninterrupted series of refrigerated production, storage and distribution activities, along with associated equipment and logistics, which maintain quality via a desired low-temperature range. It is used to preserve, extend and ensure the shelf life of products, such as fresh agricultural produce, seafood, frozen food, photographic film, chemicals, and pharmaceutical products, particularly vaccines (25)
communication	A process by which information is exchanged between individuals through a common system of symbols, signs, or behavior (26)
community animal health worker	A worker who provides basic services and gives husbandry advice to livestock keepers. They disseminate information on farming techniques and methods to optimize animal production and play an important role in epidemiological surveillance <i>(27)</i>
community health worker	A frontline public health worker who is a trusted member of or has an unusually close understanding of the community served. The trust relationship enables the worker to serve as a link between health and social services and the community to facilitate access to services and improve the quality and cultural competence of service delivery (28)
confounding	Confounding occurs when part of an apparent association between an exposure and an outcome is in fact due to a third factor that is associated with the outcome and with the exposure (14)
continuous quality improvement	A quality management approach based on the idea that most processes can be improved and made more efficient through incremental regular changes that become a part of an organization's day-to-day activities
disease cluster	Aggregations of a disease in space or time in amounts believed to be greater than could be expected by chance (6)
disease intervention model	Can be divided into two broad areas, the preventive and the therapeutic disease intervention models. The preventive disease intervention model includes interventions that prevent disease from occurring and thus reduce the incidence (new cases) of disease. The therapeutic intervention model includes interventions that treat, mitigate, or postpone the effects of disease, once it is under way, and thus reduce the case fatality rate or reduce the disability or morbidity associated with a disease. Some interventions may have both effects (29)
doffing	To take off personal protective equipment
donning	To put on personal protective equipment
dummy table	An empty table constructed before data are collected and into which data are entered once they are collected (30)
early warning system	Systems which predict or forecast the formation or movement of a potentially disastrous phenomenon which may develop into or cause a disaster, natural or otherwise <i>(31)</i>

Term	Definition
ecosystem	Mutually interrelated communities of species and abiotic components, existing as a system with specific interactions and exchange of matter, energy, and information <i>(6)</i>
ecosystem function	The capacity of natural processes and components to provide goods and services that satisfy human needs directly or indirectly (32)
ecosystem health	The state of an ecosystem in which its dynamic attributes are expressed within the normal ranges of activity relative to its ecological state of development (33)
ecosystem integrity	The state of an ecosystem that displays the biodiversity characteristic of the reference, such as species composition and community structure, and is fully capable of sustaining normal ecosystem functioning <i>(33)</i>
ecosystem services	Benefits people derive from ecosystems: goods, like food, wood, raw materials, plants, animals, fungi and micro-organisms; or provisioning, from essential regulating services such as pollination of crops, prevention of soil erosion and water purification, and cultural services, like recreation and a sense of place <i>(34)</i>
ecosystem-based approach	A strategy for integrated management of land, water and living resources that promotes conservation and sustainable use in an equitable way (35)
effect modification	Variation in the effect of a defined factor across the levels of another factor; interaction (14)
electronic medical records	Systematized collection of patient and population electronically stored health information in digital format (36)
environmental stewardship	Responsible use and protection of the natural environment through conservation and sustainable practices to enhance ecosystem resilience and human wellbeing <i>(37)</i>
epidemiologic triad	A traditional model of infectious disease causation, consisting of an external agent, a host, and an environment in which host and agent are brought together, causing the disease to occur in the host (38)
event-based surveillance	The rapid collection of ad hoc information about acute public health events. Event- based surveillance uses a variety of official and unofficial information sources to detect clusters of cases with similar clinical signs and symptoms that may not match the presentation of readily identifiable diseases. Official sources include national authorities and other agencies, such as the United Nations system. Unofficial sources include media reports, other unofficial public information (e.g. internet sites), and reports from the public (<i>39</i>)
field (applied) epidemiology	The application of epidemiological principles and methods in response to urgent health problems. Applied epidemiology includes field epidemiology but also refers to epidemiology conducted in academic and research settings (40)
field investigation	an epidemiologic investigation conducted in response to urgent health problems when an on-site investigation is necessary for timely intervention (41)
food security	A situation that exists when all people, at all times, have physical, social and economic access to sufficient, safe and nutritious food that meets their dietary needs and food preferences for an active and healthy life. Based on the definition, four food security dimensions can be identified: food availability, economic and physical access to food, food utilization and stability over time (<i>31</i>)

Term	Definition
food system	All actors and interactions along the food value chain—from input supply and production of crops, livestock, fish, and other agricultural commodities to transportation, processing, retail, wholesale, and preparation of foods to consumption and disposal. Food systems also include the enabling policy environments and cultural norms around food (42)
freedom from disease (pest- or disease-free area)	An area identified by the competent authorities in which a specific pest or disease does not occur. A pest- or disease-free area may surround, be surrounded by, or be adjacent to an area in which the specific pest or disease is known to occur but is subject to control measures such as the establishment of protection, surveillance and buffer zones which confine or eradicate the pest or disease (43)
global environmental change	Addresses large-scale chemical, biological, geological, and physical perturbations of the Earth's ocean, land surface, and hydrologic cycle with special attention to time scales of decades to centuries, to human-caused perturbations and their impacts on society (44)
global warming	A gradual increase in the overall temperature of the Earth's atmosphere generally attributed to the greenhouse effect caused by increased levels of carbon dioxide, chlorofluorocarbons, and other pollutants <i>(22)</i>
greenhouse gas	A gas that contributes to the greenhouse effect by absorbing infrared radiation; carbon dioxide and chlorofluorocarbons are examples (22)
group dynamics	The processes involved when people in a group interact with each other (22)
hazard	Anything with the potential to cause adverse health effects (e.g. virus, bacteria, chemical, flood, earthquake, snake); a threat (17)
humanitarian response	Material or logistical assistance provided for humanitarian purposes, typically in response to humanitarian crises (45)
husbandry	Care, cultivation, and breeding of crops and animals; management and conservation of resources (22)
field training	A probationary training and evaluation programme that gives trainees first-hand experience in a field of work (46)
indicator-based surveillance	The systematic collection, monitoring, analysis, and interpretation of structured data, i.e. indicators, produced by a number of well-identified, predominantly health-based formal sources (47)
infection prevention and control (IPC)	A practical, evidence-based approach that prevents patients and health workers from being harmed by avoidable and preventable infections (48)
International Health Regulations (IHR)	International legal instrument issued by the World Health Organization, binding since August 2012 on all WHO Member States (194 countries), with the aim to help the international community prevent and respond to acute public health risks that have potential to cross borders and threaten people worldwide (45)
Joint External Evaluation (JEE)	A voluntary, collaborative, multisectoral process to assess country capacities to prevent, detect and rapidly respond to public health risks whether occurring naturally or due to deliberate or accidental events. The JEE helps countries identify the most critical gaps within their human and animal health systems in order to prioritize opportunities for enhanced preparedness and response (49)

Term	Definition
learning	The complex and long term psychosocial process of individual acquisition or modification of information, knowledge, understanding, attitudes, values, skills, competencies or behaviours through experience or study
learning environment	A learner's immediate physical surroundings, resources available to support the learning process, and the social interaction or type of relationship functioning within this context which influences learning
learning styles	A set of behaviours and attitudes that influence how students learn and interact with teachers and peers; cognitive, affective, and physiological behaviours that indicate how learners perceive, interact with, and respond to the learning environment (50)
learning needs	The essential learning tools (literacy, oral expression, numeracy, problem solving) and basic learning content (knowledge, skills, values, attitudes) required by humans to survive, develop their full capacity, live and work in dignity, participate fully in development, improve their quality of life, make informed decisions, and continue learning; the scope of learning needs and how they should be met varies with country context and culture and changes over time (51)
learning processes	The process people pass through to acquire new knowledge and skills, which influences attitudes, decisions and actions (52)
mass gathering	Event attended by a sufficient number of people or animals to strain the planning and response resources of the host community, state or province, nation, or region where it is held
maximum contaminant level	The highest level of a contaminant that is allowed in drinking water (53)
microbial diversity	The range of different kinds of unicellular organisms, bacteria, archaea, protists, and fungi (54)
movement restriction	A restriction temporarily placed on traffic into and/or out of areas
multidisciplinary	Combining or involving several disciplines or professional specializations in an approach to a topic or problem (22)
multisectoral	Involving participation of more than one sector working together on a joint programme or response to an event. Saying multisectoral does not always mean that the human, animal, and environmental health sectors are engaged as is the case when saying a One Health approach <i>(17)</i>
Nagoya Protocol	The Nagoya Protocol on Access to Genetic Resources and the Fair and Equitable Sharing of Benefits Arising from their Utilization to the Convention on Biological Diversity is an international agreement which aims at sharing the benefits arising from the utilization of genetic resources in a fair and equitable way (55)
natural ecosystem	An ecosystem where human impact has been of no greater influence than that of any other native species, and has not affected the ecosystem's structure since the industrial revolution. Human impact excludes changes of global proportions, such as climate change due to global warming (56)
natural resources	Materials or substances occurring in nature which can be exploited for economic gain (22)

Term	Definition
nature-based solutions	Actions to protect, sustainably manage, and restore natural or modified ecosystems, that address societal challenges effectively and adaptively, simultaneously providing human well-being and biodiversity benefits <i>(57)</i>
negative predictive value	Probability that an individual found negative to a test is truly free of the disease or outcome of interest for which the test was performed (58)
nosocomial infections	Health care associated infection (HCAI), also referred to as nosocomial or hospital infection, is infection occurring in a patient during the process of care in a hospital or other health care facility which was not present or incubating at the time of admission (6)
One Health	One Health is an integrated, unifying approach that aims to sustainably balance and optimize the health of people, animals and ecosystems. It recognizes the health of humans, domestic and wild animals, plants, and the wider environment (including ecosystems) are closely linked and inter-dependent. The approach mobilizes multiple sectors, disciplines and communities at varying levels of society to work together to foster well-being and tackle threats to health and ecosystems, while addressing the collective need for clean water, energy and air, safe and nutritious food, taking action on climate change, and contributing to sustainable development. (59)
one welfare	The One Welfare concept emphasizes the link between animal welfare, human wellbeing, biodiversity and the environment. It builds upon and complements the development of the One World, One Health concept to fully achieve comprehensive approaches in support of global sustainable development (60)
parallel testing	Two or more diagnostic tests are applied to an individual, animal or herd at the same time
paraprofessional	A title given to individuals in various occupational fields, such as education, healthcare, engineering, and law. Historically, paraprofessionals assisted the master professional of their field. In more recent times, paraprofessionals have become a professional in their own right, providing services which meet the needs of a particular recipient or community (61)
participatory epidemiology	The use of participatory approaches and methods to improve our understanding of the patterns of diseases in populations (62)
participatory methods	Participatory methods include a range of activities with a common thread: enabling ordinary people to play an active and influential part in decisions which affect their lives <i>(63)</i>
personal protective equipment	All equipment and clothing designed to provide protection, which is intended to be worn or held by an employee at work and which protects against one or more risks to safety or health. In the context of exposure to pathogens, it includes gloves, eyewear, goggles, faceshield, apron or procedure gown, shoe covers. <i>(45)</i>
planetary health	A solutions oriented, transdisciplinary field and social movement focused on analyzing and addressing the impacts of human disruptions to Earth's natural systems on human health and all life on Earth (64)
positive predictive value	Probability that an individual found positive to a test is truly affected by the disease or outcome of interest for which the test is performed <i>(58)</i>

Term	Definition
primary health care	Health care provided at the first point of contact between a patient (human or animal) and the health care system. Primary health care providers offer preventive care and first-line medical care services. They refer patients, when appropriate, to specialist health care providers.
pseudonymization	A deidentification procedure by which personally identifiable information is replaced by one or more artificial identifiers. Pseudonymized data can be restored to its original state with the addition of information that allows individuals to be reidentified <i>(65)</i>
quarantine	Restriction of the activities of well persons or animals who have been exposed to a case of communicable disease during its period of communicability (i.e., contacts) to prevent disease transmission during the incubation period if infection should occur (66)
receiver operating curve system	Graphical representation of the curve constituted by points corresponding to the sensitivity and specificity of a test according to a chosen cutoff value (58)
risk	The likelihood of the occurrence and the likely magnitude of the consequences of an adverse event during a specified period (67)
risk assessment	Risk assessment is defined as the systematic process of gathering, assessing and documenting information to estimate the level of risk and associated uncertainty related to an event or contaminant, during a specified period of time and in a specified location (17)
risk communication	The real time exchange of information, advice and opinions among experts, community leaders or officials and the people who are at risk or who have a direct influence on risk mitigation due to their practices or behavior. Risk communication ensures that people and communities are aware of current threats and can be used to promote behaviors to reduce ongoing risks (17)
risk management	The identification and implementation of policies and activities to avoid or minimize the likelihood and/or impact of ongoing or potential zoonotic disease events. In practice, risk management typically refers to responding to current disease events (e.g., quarantine, culling, movement control) (17)
risk-based surveillance	Use of information about the probability of occurrence and the magnitude of the biological and/or economic consequence of health hazards to plan, design and/or interpret the results obtained from surveillance systems. Risk-based surveillance can include one or several of the following four approaches: risk-based prioritization, risk-based requirement, risk-based sampling, risk-based analysis (6)
sampling strategy	Describes how the sample was selected from the population being monitored or surveyed (e.g., objective sampling, selective sampling, suspect sampling, convenient sampling, census) <i>(68)</i>
Sanitary and Phytosanitary (SPS) agreement	Agreement on the Application of Sanitary and Phytosanitary Measures: The Agreement on the Application of Sanitary and Phytosanitary Measures sets out the basic rules for food safety and animal and plant health standards. It allows countries to set their own standards. But it also says regulations must be based on science. They should be applied only to the extent necessary to protect human, animal or plant life or health. And they should not arbitrarily or unjustifiably discriminate between countries where identical or similar conditions prevail <i>(69)</i>
sensitivity	Ability of a test to correctly detect individuals with the disease or infection of interest (58)

Term	Definition
sentinel surveillance	The repeated collection of information from the same prearranged sample of sources to identify changes in the health status of a specified population over time. These sentinels should act as a proxy for the larger population of interest; they may be selected on the basis of risk but can also be selected randomly or on the basis of convenience or compliance. Sentinel surveillance may include the use of animal sentinels to detect circulation of arboviruses and other pathogens of concern (70)
serial testing	Running multiple tests on an individual, animal or herd one at a time, instead of concurrently
slaughterhouse	A place where animals are slaughtered for food (22)
specificity	Ability of a test to correctly detect individuals free of the disease or infection of interest (58)
spillover	An infection that is normally limited to one species or group but sporadic cases in other groups may be seen. For example, spill over infection of bat-rabies can cause sporadic cases in cats and dogs. It is frequently used in food-borne infections also in the sense of spill over (through one or several steps in the food-chain) to humans <i>(6)</i>
stakeholders	Denoting a type of organization or system in which all the members or participants are seen as having an interest in its success (71)
standard operating procedures (SOP)	A set of step by step instructions compiled by an organization to help workers carry out complex routine operations. SOPs aim to achieve efficiency, quality output and uniformity of performance, while reducing miscommunication and failure to comply with industry regulations <i>(6)</i>
strengths, weaknesses, opportunities and threats (SWOT) analysis	A strategic planning and strategic management technique used to help a person or organization identify strengths, weaknesses, opportunities, and threats related to business competition or project planning; sometimes called situational assessment or situational analysis <i>(72)</i>
surveillance	The systematic ongoing collection, collation, and analysis of data for health purposes and the timely dissemination of health information for assessment and response as necessary (73)
syndromic surveillance	Surveillance that uses health-related information (clinical signs or other data) that might precede or substitute for formal diagnosis. This information may be used to indicate a sufficient probability of a change in the health of the population to deserve further investigation or to enable a timely assessment of the impact of health threats which may require action. This type of surveillance is not usually focused on a particular hazard so can be used to detect a variety of diseases or pathogens including new (emerging) diseases. Syndromic surveillance has been used for early detection and also for case detection during outbreaks (70)

Term	Definition
systems thinking	The process of understanding how things interact within a whole to produce its characteristics or properties. It is carried out many different ways using different techniques, yet always focuses on the context and the interrelationships of the parts rather than on them in isolation (as with scientific reductionism). It is concerned more with cyclic behavior, feedback mechanisms, critical thresholds, cross: scale interactions (than linear cause and effect dynamics of mechanistic systems). Systems thinking techniques may be used to study any kind of system, natural, scientific, engineered, human, or conceptual. It is argued as the only way to fully understand how a problem or element occurs or persists (e.g., an emerging pathogen) and to avoid unintended consequences of targeting a single element or variable <i>(6)</i>
target audience	A specific group of people identified as the intended recipient of a message (74)
Terrestrial Animal Health Code (WOAH)	The aim of WOAH Terrestrial Animal Health Code is to assure the sanitary safety of international trade in terrestrial animals (mammals, birds and bees) and their products. This is achieved through the detailing of health measures to be used by the veterinary authorities of importing and exporting countries to avoid the transfer of agents pathogenic to animals or humans, while avoiding unjustified sanitary barriers (45)
therapeutic misconception	A subject's inaccurate information or belief about a treatment, impacting the individual's autonomy and choice to consent to the procedure or participate in a research trial (75)
training of trainers	A model that is intended to engage master trainers in coaching new trainers that are less experienced with a particular topic or skill, or with training overall (76)
transboundary animal disease	Epidemic diseases which are highly contagious or transmissible and have the potential for very rapid spread, irrespective of national borders, causing serious socioeconomic and public health consequences <i>(6)</i>
transhumance	The action or practice of moving livestock from one grazing ground to another in a seasonal cycle (22)
universal health coverage (UHC)	Universal health coverage means that all individuals and communities receive the health services they need without suffering financial hardship. It includes the full spectrum of essential, quality health services, from health promotion to prevention, treatment, rehabilitation, and palliative care across the life course (77)
vaccine immunology	Vaccine immunology includes the components of the immune system, passive vs. active immunization, the mechanism(s) by which immunizations stimulate(s) immunity, and the types of vaccines available <i>(78)</i>
value chain	Value chains are the input, production and marketing chains that supply livestock products to the consumer. The chains are operated by people as an economic activity. Therefore, we can say that: Value chains are groups of people linked by an activity to supply a specific commodity. Value chains describe the processes through which inputs, animals and products pass during the production process (79)
vector-borne disease	A vector-borne disease can be defined as a disease transmitted by a living being, usually an arthropod vector, to a vertebrate host (80)

Term	Definition							
verbal autopsy	Verbal autopsy (VA) is a method of determining individuals' causes of death and cause-specific mortality fractions in populations without a complete vital registration system. Verbal autopsies consist of a trained interviewer using a questionnaire to collect information about the signs, symptoms, and demographic characteristics of a recently deceased person from an individual familiar with the deceased. A standard VA instrument paired with easy-to-implement and effective analytic methods can help bridge significant gaps in information about causes of death, particularly in resource-poor settings (<i>81</i>)							
verbal, nonverbal, and paraverbal language	Verbal communication refers to our use of words while nonverbal communication refers to communication that occurs through means other than words, such as body language, gestures, and silence. Both verbal and nonverbal communication can be spoken and written <i>(82)</i>							
wet market	A marketplace selling fresh meat, fish, produce, and other consumption-oriented perishable goods in a non-supermarket setting, as distinguished from "dry markets" that sell durable goods such as fabrics and electronics. These include a wide variety of markets, such as farmers' markets, fish markets, and wildlife markets. Not all wet markets sell live animals, but the term wet market is sometimes used to signify a live animal market in which vendors slaughter animals upon customer purchase <i>(83)</i>							
wildlife	Animals considered to be wild or feral or otherwise not adapted to domestic situations; may be mammals, birds, fishes, reptiles, amphibians, etc. (17)							
zoonosis (zoonotic)	An infectious disease that can be spread between animals and humans; can be spread by food, water, fomites, or vectors (17)							

Glossary references

- Active Listening: Definition, Skills, Techniques & Exercises [website]. (https://www. berkeleywellbeing.com/active-listening.html, accessed 14 March 2023).
- Agricultural Ecosystem | ASEAN Clearing House Mechanism [website]. (https://asean.chm-cbd.net/ ecosystems/agricultural-ecosystem, accessed 14 March 2023).
- Overview | Agroecology Knowledge Hub | Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations [website]. (http://www.fao.org/agroecology/ overview/en/, accessed 14 March 2023).
- Invasive Alien Species [website]. (https://www. iucn.org/our-work/topic/invasive-alien-species, accessed 14 March 2023).
- World Health Organization. Glossary of health emergency and disaster risk management terminology. Geneva, World Health Organization, 2020 (https://apps.who.int/iris/ handle/10665/331716, accessed 15 March 2023).
- Catalogue ORIONKnowledgeHub [website]. (https://aginfra.d4science.org:443/web/ orionknowledgehub/catalogue?p_p_ auth=YBISiOC0&p_p_id=49&p_p_lifecycle=1&p_p_ state=normal&p_p_mode=view&_49_ struts_action=%2Fmy_sites%2Fview&_49_ groupId=92976941&_49_privateLayout=false, accessed 14 March 2023).
- Anonymization an overview | ScienceDirect Topics [website]. (https://www.sciencedirect.com/topics/ biochemistry-genetics-and-molecular-biology/ anonymization, accessed 14 March 2023).
- Anthropocene [website]., 2023 (https://dictionary. cambridge.org/dictionary/english/anthropocene, accessed 14 March 2023).

- Ecology and Society: Anthropogenic Drivers of Ecosystem Change: an Overview [website]. (https:// www.ecologyandsociety.org/vol11/iss2/art29/, accessed 14 March 2023).
- Definition of ANTHROPONOSIS [website]. (https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/ anthroponosis, accessed 14 March 2023).
- What is it? | Antimicrobial Resistance | Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations [website]. (https://www.fao.org/antimicrobialresistance/background/what-is-it/en/, accessed 14 March 2023).
- Antimicrobial stewardship programmes in healthcare facilities in low- and middle-income countries: a WHO practical toolkit. *JAC-Antimicrobial Resistance*, 2019, 1(3):dlz072.
- 13. Vilnius D, Dandoy S. A priority rating system for public health programs. *Public Health Reports*, 1990, 105(5):463–470.
- 14. *Epidemiology for field veterinarians: an introduction.* Wallingford, Oxfordshire ; Boston, MA, CABI, 2015.
- Unit B. The Convention on Biological Diversity [website]., 2022 (https://www.cbd.int/convention/, accessed 14 March 2023).
- Structural and functional biodiversity of North Sea ecosystems: species and their habitats as indicator for the sustainable management of the BCS | Marine Biology Research Group [website]. (https://www. marinebiology.ugent.be/node/65831, accessed 14 March 2023).
- World Health Organization, Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, World Organisation for Animal Health. *Taking a multisectoral, one health approach: a tripartite guide to addressing zoonotic diseases in countries*. Geneva, World Health Organization, 2019 (https:// apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/325620, accessed 14 March 2023).
- Karr JR, Dudley DR. Ecological perspective on water quality goals. *Environmental Management*, 1981, 5(1):55–68.

- 19. Karr J et al. Assessing biological integrity in running waters. A method and its rationale. *III Nat Hist Surv Spec Publ*, 1986, 5.
- 20. Teng KT-Y et al. Welfare-Adjusted Life Years (WALY): A novel metric of animal welfare that combines the impacts of impaired welfare and abbreviated lifespan. *PLOS ONE*, 2018, 13(9):e0202580.
- 21. Huntington B et al. Global Burden of Animal Diseases: a novel approach to understanding and managing disease in livestock and aquaculture. *Revue Scientifique Et Technique (International Office of Epizootics)*, 2021, 40(2):567–584.
- The Oxford English Dictionary | Oxford Languages [website]. (https://languages.oup.com/research/ oxford-english-dictionary/, accessed 14 March 2023).
- 23. Convention on International Trade in Endangered Species of Wild Fauna and Flora | CITES [website]. (https://cites.org/eng/disc/text.php, accessed 14 March 2023).
- United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change. Fact Sheet: Climate change science. , 2011. (https://www.uncclearn.org/wp-content/uploads/ library/unfccc01.pdf, accessed 10 May 2023).
- Cold chain. Wikipedia, 2023. (https:// en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=Cold_ chain&oldid=1140473450, accessed 14 March 2023).
- Definition of COMMUNICATION [website]., 2023 (https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/ communication, accessed 14 March 2023).
- Community-Based Animal Health Workers (CAHWs): Guardians for quality, localised animal health services in the global South | VSF International. (https://vsf-international.org/project/communitybased-animal-health-workers-policy-brief/, accessed 14 March 2023).
- Community Health Workers [website]. (https://www. apha.org/apha-communities/member-sections/ community-health-workers, accessed 14 March 2023).

- 29. Field trials of health interventions: a toolbox, 3rd edition. (Smith PG et al., eds.). Oxford, Oxford University Press, 2015.
- Vogt W. Dictionary of Statistics & Methodology. 2455 Teller Road, Thousand Oaks California 91320 United States of America, SAGE Publications, Inc., 2005 (https://methods.sagepub.com/reference/ dictionary-of-statistics-methodology, accessed 14 March 2023).
- Glossary | FAOLEX Database | Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations [website]. (https://www.fao.org/faolex/glossary/en/, accessed 14 March 2023).
- 32. Groot R, Wilson M, Boumans R. A Typology for the Classification Description and Valuation of Ecosystem Functions, Goods and Services. *Ecol Econ*, 2002, 41.
- Ecosystem Health an overview | ScienceDirect Topics [website]. (https://www.sciencedirect.com/ topics/earth-and-planetary-sciences/ecosystemhealth, accessed 14 March 2023).
- IUCN CEM Ecosystem Services Thematic Group [website]. (https://www.iucn.org/our-union/ commissions/group/iucn-cem-ecosystem-servicesthematic-group, accessed 14 March 2023).
- Unit B. Ecosystem Approach [website]., 2023 (https://www.cbd.int/ecosystem/, accessed 14 March 2023).
- Electronic health record. Wikipedia, 2023. (https:// en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=Electronic_ health_record&oldid=1143283796, accessed 14 March 2023).
- Clark W et al. Ecosystem Stewardship: Sustainability Strategies for a Rapidly Changing Planet. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 2010. (https://dash.harvard. edu/handle/1/9774650, accessed 14 March 2023).
- Infectious Disease Model | STAT 507 [website]. (https://online.stat.psu.edu/stat507/lesson/ infectious-disease-model, accessed 14 March 2023).

- 39. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, World Health Organization, OIE. GLEWS+ The Joint FAO–OIE–WHO Global Early Warning System for health threats and emerging risks at the human–animal–ecosystems interface A concept paper. (http://www.glews.net/wp-content/ uploads/2013/12/04_GLEWSConcept-20-11.pdf).
- Bensyl DM, King ME, Greiner A. Applied Epidemiology Training Needs for the Modern Epidemiologist. *American journal of epidemiology*, 2019, 188(5):830–835.
- 41. Schneider D et al. Training the Global Public Health Workforce Through Applied Epidemiology Training Programs: CDC's Experience, 1951–2011. *Public Health Reviews*, 2011, 33(1):190–203.
- 42. Food Systems | IFPRI : International Food Policy Research Institute [website]. (https://www.ifpri. org/topic/food-systems, accessed 14 March 2023).
- 43. 43. Wolfrum R, Stoll P-T, Seibert-Fohr Aeds. Agreement on the Application of Sanitary and Phytosanitary Measures. In: WTO -Technical Barriers and SPS Measures. Brill
 Nijhoff, 2007:365–549. (https://brill. com/view/book/edcoll/9789047427346/ Bej.9789004145641.i-565_004.xml, accessed 14 March 2023).
- Home Global Environmental Change [website]. (https://connect.agu.org/gec/home, accessed 14 March 2023).
- UNTERM Portal [website]. (https://unterm.un.org/ unterm2/en/, accessed 10 May 2023).
- Field training program. Wikipedia, 2022. (https:// en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=Field_training_ program&oldid=1090859117, accessed 14 March 2023).
- 47. World Health Organization. Early detection, assessment and response to acute public health events: Implementation of Early Warning and Response with a focus on Event-Based Surveillance, 2014. (https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/ WHO-HSE-GCR-LYO-2014.4, accessed 10 May 2023).

- World Health Organization. Core competencies for infection prevention and control professionals. Geneva, World Health Organization, 2020 (https:// apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/335821, accessed 7 July 2022).
- Joint External Evaluations [website]. (https://www. who.int/emergencies/operations/internationalhealth-regulations-monitoring-evaluationframework/joint-external-evaluations, accessed 14 March 2023).
- Yi. Learning styles [website]., 2016 (http://www.ibe. unesco.org/en/glossary-curriculum-terminology/l/ learning-styles, accessed 14 March 2023).
- Yi. Basic learning needs [website]., 2016 (http:// www.ibe.unesco.org/en/glossary-curriculumterminology/b/basic-learning-needs, accessed 14 March 2023).
- 52. Thomas KD, Muga HEeds. Handbook of Research on Pedagogical Innovations for Sustainable Development: IGI Global, 2014 (Practice, Progress, and Proficiency in Sustainability; http:// services.igi-global.com/resolvedoi/resolve. aspx?doi=10.4018/978-1-4666-5856-1, accessed 14 March 2023).
- US Environmental Protection Agency. National Primary Drinking Water Regulations [website]., 2015 (https://www.epa.gov/ground-water-and-drinkingwater/national-primary-drinking-water-regulations, accessed 14 March 2023).
- Dunlap PV. Microbial Diversity. In: Levin SA, ed. Encyclopedia of Biodiversity (Second Edition).
 Waltham, Academic Press, 2001:280–291. (https:// www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ B9780123847195004354, accessed 14 March 2023).
- Unit B. The Nagoya Protocol on Access and Benefitsharing [website]., 2023 (https://www.cbd.int/abs/, accessed 14 March 2023).
- European Environment Agency. Natural ecosystem [website]. (https://www.eea.europa.eu/help/ glossary/eea-glossary/natural-ecosystem, accessed 14 March 2023).

- Nature-based Solutions [website]. (https://www. iucn.org/our-work/nature-based-solutions, accessed 14 March 2023).
- 58. Dictionary of veterinary epidemiology, 1st English language ed. (Toma B, Iowa State University Press, eds.). Ames, Iowa State University Press, 1999.
- 59. One Health High-Level Expert Panel (OHHLEP) et al. One Health: A new definition for a sustainable and healthy future. Dvorin JD, ed. *PLOS Pathogens*, 2022, 18(6):e1010537.
- 60. Garcia Pinillos R. 'One Welfare': a framework to support the implementation of OIE animal welfare standards. *OIE Animal Welfare Bulletin*, 2017, 2017:3–7.
- Paraprofessional. Wikipedia, 2022. (https:// en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=Para professional&oldid=1112861589, accessed 14 March 2023).
- 62. PENAPH. Participatory epidemiology: A toolkit for trainers. , 2010.
- About Participatory Methods | Participatory Methods [website]. (https://www. participatorymethods.org/page/aboutparticipatory-methods, accessed 14 March 2023).
- 64. Castañeda RR de et al. One Health and planetary health research: leveraging differences to grow together. *The Lancet Planetary Health*, 2023, 7(2):e109–e111.
- Pseudonymization. Wikipedia, 2023. (https:// en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title =Pseudonymization&oldid=1144366858, accessed 14 March 2023).
- 66. *A dictionary of epidemiology*, Six edition. (Porta MS et al., eds.). Oxford, Oxford University Press, 2014.
- 67. World Health Organization. Rapid risk assessment of acute public health events. , 2012. (https://www. who.int/publications/i/item/rapid-risk-assessmentof-acute-public-health-events, accessed 10 May 2023).

- Standard Sample Description ver. 2.0 | EFSA [website]., 2013 (https://www.efsa.europa.eu/en/ efsajournal/pub/3424, accessed 14 March 2023).
- 69. WTO | Understanding the Sanitary and Phytosanitary Measures Agreement [website]. (https://www. wto.org/english/tratop_e/sps_e/spsund_e.htm, accessed 14 March 2023).
- Risksur. Risk-based animal health surveillance systems glossary [website]. (https://www.fp7risksur.eu/terminology/glossary, accessed 14 March 2023).
- Stakeholder Definition & Meaning Merriam-Webster [website]. (https://www.merriam-webster. com/dictionary/stakeholder, accessed 14 March 2023).
- 72. SWOT analysis. Wikipedia, 2023. (https:// en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=SWOT_ analysis&oldid=1138237844, accessed 14 March 2023).
- 73. World Health Organization. *International Health Regulations (2005)*, 3rd ed. Geneva, World Health Organization, 2016 (https://apps.who.int/iris/ handle/10665/246107, accessed 15 March 2023).
- 74. What is Target Audience: Easy Ways to Define It [website]. (https://www.renderforest.com/blog/ define-target-audience, accessed 14 March 2023).
- 75. Therapeutic Misconception an overview | ScienceDirect Topics [website]. (https://www. sciencedirect.com/topics/medicine-and-dentistry/ therapeutic-misconception, accessed 15 March 2023).
- 76. Understanding the Training of Trainers Model. (https://www.cdc.gov/healthyschools/professional_ development/documents/17_279600_ TrainersModel-FactSheet_v3_508Final.pdf, accessed 10 May 2023).
- World Health Organization. Global competency and outcomes framework for universal health coverage. Geneva, World Health Organization, 2022 (https:// apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/352711, accessed 7 July 2022).

- Clem AS. Fundamentals of Vaccine Immunology. Journal of Global Infectious Diseases, 2011, 3(1):73– 78.
- 79. Designing and implementing livestock value chain studies: a practical aid for Highly Pathogenic and Emerging Disease (HPED) control. Rome, Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, 2012 (FAO animal production and health guidelines, No. 10).
- Verwoerd DW. Definition of a vector and a vectorborne disease: -EN- -FR- Définition d'un vecteur et d'une maladie à transmission vectorielle -ES-Definición de «vector» y «enfermedad transmitida por vectores». *Revue Scientifique et Technique de l'OIE*, 2015, 34(1):29–39.

- Verbal autopsy tool [website]., 2014 (https:// www.healthdata.org/data-tools-practices/verbalautopsy, accessed 15 March 2023).
- Course Hero. Defining verbal communication [website]. (http://mono.ssi.svc.cluster.local/studyguides/introductiontocommunication/definingverbal-communication/, accessed 15 March 2023).
- Wet market. Wikipedia, 2023. (https:// en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=Wet_ market&oldid=1139812352, accessed 15 March 2023).

Competency prioritization tool

Background

Competencies for One Health field epidemiology (COHFE) framework is the first global initiative to develop field epidemiology competency guidelines under a One Health approach. Fourteen domains have been identified under the guidance, as follows:

Frontline domains		Domain 1	Foundational knowledge and skills
	Technical	Domain 2	Surveillance systems
		Domain 3	Field investigations
		Domain 4	Disease management
		Domain 5	Laboratory capacity
		Domain 6	Infection prevention and control, biosecurity and biosafety
		Domain 7	Preparedness and response
		Domain 8	Epidemiological studies
		Domain 9	Data management, biostatistics, and informatics
		Domain 10	Ecosystem health
	Functional	Domain 11	Leadership and management
		Domain 12	Communication and community engagement
		Domain 13	Training
		Domain 14	Ethics

One Health field epidemiology competencies, knowledge, and skills were defined by a core technical team from FAO, WHO and WOAH and extensively reviewed and edited by a global Technical Advisory Group (TAG). These members provided external validation of the One Health field epidemiology competencies through a series of facilitated virtual meetings.

Goal of the tool

The TAG acknowledge that the framework contains a large number of knowledge, skills and competencies and that countries have limited time and resources

to deliver One Health field epidemiology training programmes. Therefore, the TAG conducted an exercise to distinguish between core competencies, which are non-negotiable for curriculum implementation, and optional competencies, which should be included based on a country's needs and training gaps. The tool can be downloaded at https:// www.who.int/initiatives/COHFE-framework.

The goal of this Competency Prioritization Tool is to help identify the relative importance of the optional competencies of the One Health field epidemiology curriculum within the context of the country's specific needs and strategic objectives, which may include:

Regional context

 Geography, climate, and multilateral cooperation/ partnerships

• Country context:

- Human technical and governmental financial resources
- Current state of field epidemiology capacity
- Academic resources

• Enabling institutional factors

- Laboratory capacity
- Field capacity

Development of the tool

This tool allows for a pairwise comparison of each optional competency within each domain to determine the relative importance and ranked order in which optional competencies can be considered for inclusion in the curriculum.

This tool owes much of its design and function to the Competency Prioritization Tool⁹ developed by the Public Health Foundation, which utilizes the pairwise comparison methodology to allow organizations to prioritize competencies in the Core Competencies for Public Health Professionals.

After determining whether competencies in the framework should be core or optional, the prioritization tool was developed in spreadsheet format, with optional competencies listed by domain. Core competencies are listed for reference but are not included in the ranking matrix. Descriptions of the optional competencies appear along the Y-axis, and the identification numbers of these same competencies appear along the X-axis. Within the white cells of the lower left portion of the matrix are dropdown menus which allow users of the tool to rank the relative importance of each competency against all other optional competencies. This is done by comparing the competency listed in the first row and column of the matrix where the given cell intersects.

9 Public Health Foundation. Competency Prioritization Tool. Accessed 10/11/2021. http://www.phf.org/resourcestools/Documents/3-Step_ Competency_Prioritization_Sequence.pdf Once all comparisons are made for a given domain, hidden formulas in the matrix sum the scores of all ratings to provide a score and rank for each competency.

Instructions for use of the tool

Steps:

- 1. For each optional competency, the numbered competencies are listed in column E (along the y-axis), and in row 5 (along the x-axis).
- 2. To make each pairwise comparison, the expert will assign a rating from the dropdown menu in the white cells in which the competency on the y-axis (in column E) is compared to the competency along the x-axis (in Row 5). The Likert-type scale options are Much more important, More important, Equally important, Less important, and Much less important.
- 3. Once all comparisons are made, the tool automatically assigns a score and ranking for each competency, which appears in the columns to the right of the matrix.

Example:

In the following example, a pairwise comparison ranking was made for each of the optional competencies in **Domain 2: Surveillance Systems**, **Competency 2.1.1** was rated as *Much more important* to **Competency 2.1.2**. In the next row, **Competency 2.1.3** was rated as *Equally important* to **Competency 2.1.2**, *Much less important* than **Competency 2.1.1**, and so on.

The pairwise ratings were used to calculate a score for each competency, along with a ranking. Therefore, programme planners may choose to include **Competencies 2.1.3** and **2.1.5** (which were rated the highest) and may decide not to include **Competencies 2.4.2** and **2.1.6** (which were rated the lowest).

Note that this tool is meant to assist in decisionmaking rather than being prescriptive. Cutoffs for inclusion or exclusion of competencies should be made on a case by case basis depending on country needs and priorities.

Frontline Technical Domain 2 Surveillance Systems

Core competencies

Competency

Subdomain 2.1: Characteristics of a functional surveillance system

• 2.1.1 Describe the role and objective of surveillance systems in public health, animal health and environmental health

Subdomain 2.2: Detection and reporting of cases, clusters, and health threats

- 2.2.1 Identify health threats (signals) from community and media sources
- 2.2.2 Apply case definitions for priority diseases
- 2.2.3 Differentiate between types of surveillance (e.g., indicator-based, event-based, etc.) and types of surveillance systems (e.g., sentinel, hospital, lab, risk-based, etc.)
- 2.2.4 Perform signal detection from both indicator-based surveillance and event-based surveillance
- 2.2.5 Verify signals using signal-alert-event logic

Subdomain 2.3: Surveillance data collection, analysis and interpretation

- 2.3.1 Notify authorities of priority diseases that exceeds thresholds
- 2.3.2 Analyse surveillance data using descriptive epidemiological and simple statistical methods

Subdomain 2.4: Surveillance reporting

• 2.4.1 Prepare basic situation reports for potential health threats

Subdomain 2.5: Monitor and assess the quality of surveillance data

• 2.5.1 Ensure the timeliness, completeness and quality of reported data

Subdomain 2.6: Surveillance systems design and evaluation

• None

Optional competence	ies: P	riorit	izatio	on To	ol												
Competency	2.1.1	2.1.2	2.1.3	2.1.4	2.1.5	2.1.6	2.1.7	2.2.1	2.2.2	2.3.1	2.3.2	2.4.1	2.4.2	2.4.3	2.6.1	Score	Rank
2.1.1 Define what a surveillance surveillance structural and functional components interactions																30,2	=
2.1.2 Describe 2.1.2 Describe aspects of surveillance Systems (coordination and integration of surveillance between multiple sectors)	More important															39,7	2
2.1.3 Describe surveillance (e.g., indicator- based, event-based), and types of systems (e.g., sentinel hospital, lab, risk-based, etc.)	Equally important	Less important														20,6	15
2.1.4 Describe the Cear of the characteristics (e.g. comprehensive vs sentinel surveillance, syndromic vs lab confirmed, vs aggregate vs aggregate surveillance)	More important	Much less important	More important													23,3	14
2.1.5 Define attributes (e.g., timeliness, sensitivity of a functional surveillance system	More important	Equally important	Less important	More important												44,6	m
2.1.6 Describe the roles and of a surveillance system	More important	Less important	Much less important	Less important	Equally important											33,1	10
2.1.7Describe the surveillance vector including administration levels and reporting flows	Equally important	More important	Equally important	Much more important	More important	Less im portant										39,8	ъ
2.2.1 Follow reporting report case and signals to and signals to administration levels	Equally important	Less important	Equally important	More important	Less important	Less important	Equally important									25,9	12
2.2.2.Use diverse sources of information for event- based surveilance	Much less important	Much more important	More important	Equally important	More important	More important	Equally important	More important								42,9	4
2.3.1 Describe the priciples of data of data survellance and apply them in multiple sectors	More important	Equally important	Equally important	More important	Less important	Less important	More important	Equally important	More important							49,4	-
2.3.2 Describe and identify trends, patterns and thresholds diseases	More important	Less important	More important	Equally important	Equally important	More important	Less important	Equally important	More important	Equally important						39,8	ъ
2.4.1 Produce surmeillance surmary bulletins and reports	Less important	Equally important	More important	Less important	Equally important	Less important	More important	Much more important	More important	Less important	More important					47,9	2
2.4.2 Report to next administration level	Equally important	Equally important	More important	Much more important	Less important	More important	More important	Less important	Less important	Much less important	Less important	Much less important				38,2	œ
2.4.3 Apply recommendations of the frigher administration levels	Less important	More important	More important	More important	Less important	Equally important	Less important	Less important	More im portant	Less important	Much less important	Less important	Much less important			23,4	13
2.6.1 Support the design of surveillance surveillance surveillance knowledge context, key stakeholders, human resource availability and field logistics	Less important	More important	More important	More important	Much less important	Less important	Less important	Less important	Less important	Less important	More important	Much more important	More important	Equally important		37,3	б

